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KINGSWAY FINANCIAL SERVICES INC.

Corporate Profile

Kingsway Financial Services Inc. is one of the fastest growing property

and casualty insurance companies in North America.

Kingsway has a proven track record of profitability. Kingsway's primary business is trucking insurance
and the insuring of automobile risks for drivers who do not meet the criteria for coverage by standard
automobile insurers. The Company also operates in commercial automobile, property, motorcycle,
standard automobile and other niche markets, where limited competition and an emphasis on
underwriting profit provide the opportunity for above-average returns,

Kingsway is focused on building operating excellence through ten wholly-owned subsidjaries:
Canada

* Kingsway General Insurance Company

* York Fire & Casualty Insurance Company

e Jeveo Insurance Company

United States
e Universal Casualty Company .

* American Service Insurance Company, Inc.

Hamilton Risk Management Company

¢ Southern United Fire Insurance Company

°

Lincoin General Insurance Company

American Country Insurance Company

Avalon Risk Management, Inc.

Kingsway Financial Services Inc.’s shares are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange and the New York
Stock Exchange, under the trading symbol “KFS”, Kingsway employs approximately 2,027 people in
Canada and the United States and is headquartered in Mississauga, Ontario.
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The Kingsway Difference

Corporate Strategy

o Apply a specialty focus to regional markets

o Adhere to strict underwriting discipline

s Maintain a strong relationship with our brokers,

agents and managing general agents (MGAs)

e Rigorously manage claims at a local level

e Expand in the United States and Canada

This strategy has enabled the Company to build book value
per s_hare at a_compound annual growth rate_ of 27% since 1995 which

we believe is a key indicator of building shareholder value.




KINGSWAY FINANCIAL SERVICES [NC.

Operating Highlights

« Record gross premiums written of $2.64 hillion, an increase of 24% over 2002

e Record net income of $85.3 million and diluted earnings per share of $1.62

e Return on equity of 12.9%

. Com‘pleted public offering of 6.71 million shares raising gross proceeds of $112.1 million’

e Completed five private placemenis totalling USS75.5 million in‘subordinatedv indebtedness in the year
¢ Completed US$125 million senior note offering in January and March 2004

o Refinanced $150 million unsecured credit facility in March 2004
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KINGSWAY FINANCIAL SERVICES INGC.

Financial Highlights

l
t

Years ended December 31 Percentage
(in thousands of doliars, except per share amounts) ' 2003 2002 change .
i Earnings Per Share
(diluted)
Gross Premiums Written S 2,636,822 $ 2,124,691 24 % ©
Net Premiums Earned 2,381,984 1,737,754 37 %
20 - -
Revenue 2,515,385 1,818,868 38 %
Net Income 85,283 79,532 7%
16
Earnings Per Share oy
Basic $ 163 $ 163 0% BT S
Diluted S 1.62 $ 1.61 1% -
‘ 119
Book Value Per Share $ 12.63 $ 12.56 1% 0 3
Return on Equity - Consolidated 128 % 13.8 % e 4 I {
b &
Canadian Operations (6.6 %) (6.6 %) Doy b
Industry - Canada’ 1.3 % 16 % F} r X f
% P %
U.S. Operations 19.2 % 223 % 05 R I %
ndustry - U.S.H 9.8 % 31 % t i
: ST B 3
Combined Ratio - Consolidated 1014 % 99.8 % L e ')
! : L
Canadian Operations 118 % 108.4 % 60 — Yo (G
Industry - Canada™ 98.7 % 105.8 % oowoomeom e
U.S. Operations 98.3 % 97.2 %
industry - U.S1 1011 % 1074 %
] Combired Ratio
Total Assets § 3,630,436 $ 2984434 -
Underwriting Profit (Loss) ) (33,922) $ 2,612
Shares Outstanding - year end 55,829,794 48,794,212 2
1 e 991_
00 " o
Return on Equity ) o (f
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*Sources: 2003 - IBC, Perspective. March, 2004
2002 - 1AQ, The Quarterly Report, 2
*Source: 2003 estimate & 2002, AM. Best, R




KINGSWAY FINANCIAL SERVICES INC.

Operating Strategy

Kingsway’s significant growth since going public in December 1995 is a direct result of a disciplined

operating strategy. This strategy incorporates the following principles:

» Focus on good risks within specialty markets where limited competition allows

for a good spread of risk and above-average returns.

* Emphasize positive underwriting margins, conservative investment policies and

low combined ratios to achieve ahove-average earnings.
o Refuse to sacrifice underwriting profitability to increase volumes.
» Terminate or re-price unprofitable business quickly.

¢ Selectively pursue acquisitions.

Ohjecti\ies and Accomp!ishments

Return on Equity

Return on equity (ROE) averaging 11.2% over the past five years compared to the Canadian industry

ROE* of 5.6% over the past five years

Combined Ratio
Average combined ratio of 100.8% for the last five years compared to the Canadian industry ratio*

or 106.1% over the past five years

Net Premiums Earned

Net premiums earned have grown by compound annual growth rate of 50% over the last five years

compared to the Canadian industry’s growth of 7.5%, over the same period

" Source: Canadian Industry: 2003 - 13C, Perspective, March, 2004
1899-2002-140, The Quarterly Report, 2nd Quarter, 2003




KINGSWAY FINANCIAL SERVICES INC.

A Message to Our Shareholders

- Kingsway enjoyed another record year in 2003 for both revenue and profit. Investment income, particularly

gains on the sale of securities, was especially good. However, we did not meet our gbal of having an

underwriting profit in each of our companies. Several had outstanding years but the continual development

of prior year losses offset the excellent underwriting results we could have attained from business

currently in force.

Since we did not reach our goal of underwriting profit at each company,
we insisted that companies reserve for both case reserves and Incurred
But Not Reported (IBNR) to at least the point estimate recommended
by our independent actuary. It was important to increase the IBNR
reserve so that it would fully provide for late reported losses. We believe
that the IBNR reserve we set at each of our companigs is higher than

most companies in the insurance industry. We believe the majority of

companies set reserves at the point estimate recommended by their )

in;house actuaries which we believe may be lower than the point estimate
that an independent actuary would recommend. In the case of Kingsway,
gach and every subsidiary company has set their reserves at or above
the point estimate recommended by an independent actuary. This gives
me a great deal of confidence going into 2004, believing that the results
during this year should not be materially affected by claims that occurred

in prior years.

Our investment portfolio is extremely healthy and has grown to $2.7 billion

at year end 2003. Although our investment managers realized some gains

during the year we still have in excess.of $52 million in unrealized gains | -

as of year-end. HavinQ buiﬁ such a significant investment portfolio, even.
at current modest return rates, investment income including gains, should
produce a very attractive profit during 2004. In the last 2 years we have
generated positive cash flow from operations in excess of $1.2 biftion and
have raised in excess of $350 million in equity capital and debt. These
new funds have been invested primarily in a relatively short-term fixed
income portfalio. This means that our interest income will increase should
rates rise as anticipated in 2004. In addition, with earned premiums in
the range of $2.5 billion, each 1% decrease in the combined ratio below

100% will produce an additional $25 million of underwriting profit.

* William G. Star
E President and C.E.O.
+ Kingsway Financial Services Inc.

In the case of Kingsway, each and
every subsidiary company has set
their reserves at or above the point
gstimate recommended by an
independent actuary.
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KINGSWAY FINANCIAL SERVICES INC.

2003 was a disappointment since the combined ratio was 101.4% for the
year. This is in contrast to the two prior years that were each under 100%.
Since the provision for claims occurring prior to December 31, 2002 was
increased by $196.8 million ‘during the year, we have every reason o
believe that 2004 will be a year of underwriting profit and the overall profit

should be substantially higher.

Although | am critical of Kingsway’s underwriting results being over 100%

in 2003, the insurance industry generally has not achieved a combined

ratio of less than 105% for a number of years. We have aiso started a

program of internal audits which will assist in identification of variations .

from expected results. This should make it easier to identify trends and

take corrective actions early in the year.

One of the many challenges we had during 2003 was to maintain an
adequate level of capital to fund the growth of the Company. Although
we have réduced growth from prior years, we still grew premiums at
the rate of 24%. Although return on equity during 2003 was 12.9% it
still meant we needed additional capital to support the growth and keep
the ratio of capital to premiums written at an appropriate level. We were
refuctant to issue additioﬁa( shares in the Company at prices we felt
were inadequate and as a result used alternative methods of financing
in farge part, for instance, several issues of subordinated indebtedness.
We did find an opportunity to issue $112 million of equity in early July at
$16.70. In early 2004, we also successfully completed a US$125 million
10 year senior note offering which was used to repay short-term dank
debt and strengthen the capital of our subsidiaries. We will continue to
look for oppoftunities to strengthen our balance sheet and refrain from
issuing equity unless we are satisfied with the price at which shares can

be issued.

During the year’ there was a substantial amount of trading activity in
Kingsway shares, both in Canada and the U.S. The number of shares
traded exceeded the number of issued shares during the year Which

indicates that there are many active traders in our stock. We consider this

healthy in that it shows the stock is now very liquid and givés institutional

investors more flexibility in owning Kingsway.

Much of Kingsway's growth during 2003 came from Managing General
Agent (MGA) arrangements made in prior years. This is primarily program

business which has been administered by the MGAs for a number of years.

" This business produced a better experience for us than the remainder of

our business with the exception of American Service, Universal Casuaity
and Jeveo Insurance Company which all produced excellent resufts.
The constant oversight by our audit teams of MGAs, with visits on site
normally every four to six weeks, has paid dividends. Only one of the
MGA operations had a combined ratio in excess of 100% and in that
case we have imtiated.changes to make sure it will_be profitable in the

coming year.

The hard insurance market continued throughout 2003 and there are
no indications of a change in 2004. The insurance industry is stil
undercapitalized which normally means that insurers and reinsurers are
not going to be able to move ahead actively into the markets which we
serve, Kingsway continues to concentrate on non-standard automabile,
trucking and other commercial lines that the majority of companies
traditionally avoid. This allows us to obtain better pricing without as much

risk of losing business to competitors at lower rates. |

{ look forward to 2004 with a great deal of conﬁdenée for two reasons.
First, we have increased reserves for prior year losses to a record level
and, second we do not expect currency fo fluctuate at the same magnitude
as in the past year. The strengthening of the Canadian dollar reduced
reported income by 11% in 2003 and our year end book_ value by 13%
when compared to 2002 exchange rates. 2004 should be a great year
for Kingsway, and | and my colleagues look forward to this year with both

excitement and enthusiasm.

[ look forward to 2004 with a great deal
of confidence for two reasons. First, we
have increased reserves for prior year
losses to a record level and, second we
do not expect currency to fluctuate at the
same magnitude as in the past year.

1



KINGSWAY FINANCIAL SERVICES INC.

Review of Operations

Canada

Kingsway Financial, Mississauga, Ontario

Canadian operations produced overall underwriting losses in 2003. Three product lines required adjustment to

prior year losses: non-standard automobile in Ontario and Alberta, trucking and commercial automobile. In all

of these areas we had increased premiums sufficiently during 2002 and 2003, and 2003 accident year business

is indicating an underwriting profit. With the corrections we made and the changes being contemplated by both .

the governments of Ontario and Alberta for non-standard automobile, we believe the three companies we have

in Canada will produce overall underwriting profits during 2004.

Kingsway General Insurance Company Mississauga, Ontario

During the latter part of 2003, we made several changes to management
in.Kingsway General. The most important was the appointment of John
McGlynn as President of the Company. John is a very experienced
financial and insurance executive who very quickly made changes in
management and reorganized the corporate structure. His appointment
late in the year did not afford him the opportunity to improve the operations
during 2003 but we believe the new management structure will produce
substantial improvements in 2004.

Kingsway General had another disappointing year primarily because
of the reserve increases necessary to bring its reserves to above the
independent actuary's point estimate. However, the current book of
business is producing substantial underwriting profits and if the increases
made during 2003 to the case reserves and IBNR are adequate, and
we believe they are, the results from Kingsway should be substantially
improved in 2004.

The work we started in late 2002 dealing with-fraud from certain clinics

and paralegals has definitely paid off. We:have seen accident benefit

claims in Ontario decrease to about 50% of the number.we experienced
during 2002. Also, needed changes to Ontario legislation took effect in
October and November 2003, but were too late to significantly help the
insurance industry in 2003. We will see the benefit during 2004.

The Alberta government has made some changes that will affect the
market in 2004. It is too early to determine what effect it will have on
Kingsway’s business in that province, however, we have taken steps to
slow business growth until we have a better understanding of the product
going forward.

Property and liability has performed very well and we expect to see a
continued improvement in results as well as volume due to an ongoing
market shortage.
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Québec is continuing to grow and has also remained very profitable for
both non-standard automobile and trucking. The automobile product
in Québec still remains as our most profitable automobile product in
Canada.

Numerous changes have been introduced in both Nova Scotia and New
Brunswick. Both provinces have ordered the roll back of insurance

_premiums and rebates to policyholders. We are satisfied the actions we

took in prior years to stop writing business in both of those provinces

has certainly been the right mave for our Company. We will continue to
watch the markets and see if either province merits re-entering in the
future, however, we will do so with caution. The important thing in each

province is to ascertain there is political stability so we will not be faced

with unreasonable requests from government.

York Fire & Casualty Insurance Company Mississauga, Ontario

York Fire & Casualty also had major management changes during the latter
part of 2003. Stuart Kistruck was appointed as President in September
and is making strategic changes to the Company.

Similar to Kingsway, York Fire made a number of changes in claims
reserving practices to strengthen reserves for prior year losses. The
IBNR reserve was also increased in an effort to avoid future claim cost
development. The rate level for the current business appears to be
satisfactory since it is producing an underwriting profit. However, York
Fire did have an underwriting loss during 2003 because of the additiona!
reserving for prior year claims.

The Company expanded its operations during 2003 into Alberta by
appointing Morgex Insurance Agencies to provide a market in Alberta.
A good portion of the business that Morgex currently writes will be

transferred to York Fire during 2003 and 2004 including a major program
with the Alberta Teachers' Association, We believe this business will
produce substantial profits for York Fire,

Also during 2003 Atto Insurance agreed to move their major account of
seniors’ automobile and property business to York Fire, This portfolio of
seniors' business should substantially improve the experience of York Fire
since it is a portfalio that is generally profitable.

During 2003 York Fire appointed numerous new brokers since the market
in Ontario was severely fimited by existing insurers. This afforded York Fire
a great opportunity to expand into new areas and appoint brokers with
proven books of business which they are prepared to move to York Fire.

We expect York Fire & Casualty to perform extremely well during 2004 and
show substantial increases in both premiums and profit.

Jevco Insurance Company Montreal, Québec

We are pleased that Jevco Insurance Company has continued its
outstanding performance in its specialized field of motorcycle insurance.
Due 1o its high percentage of the market, premium growth is somewhat
limited, however profit is more important.

Under the direction of Jacques Muir, Jevco is continuing with its

cautious approach to expansion and continues in its major product

JEVCO
lines of motorcycle, surety and some property business in Queébec.
It has expanded into the snowmobile market in Ontario through some club
operations and will continue to explore the market in Québec.

Jevco is profitable and well-positioned to grow when attractive
opportunities arige.

13




"KINGSWAY FINANCIAL SERVICES INC.

Kingsway America, Chicago, ilfinois

Review of Operations

United States

Our insurance companies and agency division in the United States have continued to perform
very well. Although each company did not succeed in producing an underwritihg profit in 2003,
operations in the United States did produce an underwriting profit on an overall basis. This profit
helped offset the losses sustained in Canada, thus reinforcing the decision made several years ago
to expand into the United States. We are also pleased with the success of the MGA program business
which we developed over the last few years. It has proven to be the right approach to grow business
in the United States. Although certain of our subsidiary companies have performed very well, it is
very gratifying to see the refatively strong contribution of underwriting profit from MGA business.

With firm rates in hard markets, we are looking forward to another excellent year of managed growth with

- incréased profitability.

Universal Gasualty Company Ek Grove, lilinois

Universal Casualty improved its underwriting profit during 2003 and The motorcycle product introduced two years ago has continued to perform
has produced an underwriting profit every year since we purchased the well although it has not grown dramatically in size. The intention is to offer
Company. it is one of the leading writers of non-standard automabile motorcycle insurance in several other states during the coming year.

business in Chicago and continues to retain its market-share. The Company continues under the guidance of Marshall Romanz who

During 2003 the Company applied for ficences in a number of states is President and the founder of the Company, but more of the day-to-
and has been successful in obtaining the authority to write business day affairs and expansion into other states is being directed by his son
in numerous other states. The intention is to look for opportunities to Marc. We are pleased with the performance of the Company and proud
expand beyond lllinois and Indiana where it has bsen successful for to have Universal Casualty as one of the companies in the Kingsway
several years. ) Financial Group.

Y
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KINGSWAY FINANCIAL SERVICES INC.

American Service Insurance Company Elk Grove, lllinois

American Service has continued to grow in volume as well as profit
during the past year. John Clark is one of our more experienced company
presidents and has built an excellent management team since taking over
the operations of American Service several years ago.

The diversification inio taxicabs, light commercial and tow trucks has been
very profitable but the main line of business continues to be nan-standard
automobile in the Chicago area where, like Universal Casualty, American
Service is one of the leading companies.

A

John is also looking at other states for possible expansion, however,
he understands that new markets can be volatite and is moving very
cautiously in order to not affect the excellent profitability of the Company.

American Service was the third company we purchased in the United
States and has continued to be an outstanding performer.

Hamilton Group Miami, Florida

U.S. Security, part of the Hamitton group of companies in Florida, has
grown to be one of the Ieading providers of non-standard automobile
insurance in Florida. Its growth has been substantial but unfortunately
underwriting results this year have been inconsistent, and 2003 was not
a good vear.

The' main difficulty in Florida is a confinuing fraud problem related to
Personal injury Protection (PIP) coverage. The problem encountered
this year was the high cost of claims settlement because of lawyers
fees and the number of lawsuits introduced under this coverage. Again,
as with other companies, reserve increases relate primarily to priof year
claims provisions being increased to cover highef legal expenses. We are
optimistic that many of the fraud problems are slowly diminishing since the
government of Florida has charged many people with fraud and that action

should help reduce claims costs in the state. The Insurance Commission
has been very cooperative in allowing rate increases to cover this problem
since they recognize there is the need for a healthy insurance market in
Florida.

We are satisfied with the expected profitability of the current book of
business since rate levels appear to be adequate. We believe the increased
reserves made in 2003 are appropriate to cover prior years' losses. The
Company should return to underwriting profitability in 2004.

The management team under Roberto Espin is performing well and they
are now explaring opportunities outside Florida and applying for licences in
some adjacent states. We believe it will be beneficial to have the Company
operating in more than one state to take advantage of opportunities to
grow and diversify its business.

Southern United Fire Insurance Company Mobile, Alahama

We are pleased that Southern United has returned to profitabllity under
the direction of Richard Murray who was appointed as President in late
2002. Richard had earfier been with Southern United and moved to
Lincoln General temporarily to help build business in the southeastern
United States for Lincoln. After his success at Lincoln we asked Richard
to return to Southern United where he has proven his ability by turning the
Company to a profit position.

Southern United operates in some very difficult states which have severe
weather at different times of the year. It is sometimes difficult to accurately
predict conditions and as a result underwriting profitability may vary from
year to year. '

Business had been discontinued in Louisiana and reduced substantially
in Texas until such time as we are satisfied there is some stability in both
states. it now appears to be a suitable time to re-enter Louisiana with a
change in both the Governor and the Insurance Commissioner, and the

SOUTHERN

TN Gamee
market now appears to he profitable. We also believe there will be future
opportunities to expand in the Texas market. 1t is extremely important for
Southern United to be well diversified because of the weather patterns
that are unpredictable in certain states and diversification helps to even
that situation out. South Carolina continues to be its largest market with
Alabama being second. The Company also writes business in Georgia and
Mississippi.

Rates appear to be adequate in many of the active markets in which

Southern United operates and we expect to see underwriting profit
increase further in 2004.

oA el 4 Gponangs WIS
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KINGSWAY FINANCIAL SERVICES INC.

Lincoln General Insurance Company York, Pennsylvania

The greatest growth in premium income has been in Lincoln General
during the past year. MGA programs continue to be the largest p'ortion of
the business written by Lincoln and the most profitable on an overall basis.
Since assuming the position of President, Gary Bhojwani has continued
to build his management team with experienced insurance professionals.
During the year Lincoln also increased reserves substantially on prior year
claims and has also increased their IBNR provision to a record level. This
conservative approach should help to alleviate the problems experienced
with claim development in previous years because reserves are now at
an all time high.

Despite this substantial increass in reserves for outstanding losses as well

as the IBNR reserve, Lincoln stilf performed extremely well, producing a
record underwriting profit for Kihgsway. In addition, bacause of the
substantial increase in premium volume, it continues to contribute: greatly
to investment incorﬁe. '

As intended, the growth of business in Lincoln slowed in 2003, as many
MGA programs introduced over the last two years have matured. This now
gives the management team the opportunity to fine-tune rates and the
éuditing process, in order to further improve underwriting profitability. The
truck market, which is Lincoln's largest, has remained very hard and as a
result rate increases are ongoing. We expect to see Lincoln perform even
better during 2004, with reduced growth but increased profitability.

American Country Insurance Company Chicago, illinois

During 2003 Roger Beck was appointed as President of American
Country. Roger was previously with Lincoln General and helped develop
a substantial portion of the business written by Lincoln in central and
western United States. His background in pricing and actuarial studies wilf
greatly benefit American Country. ‘

American Country is still experiencing development on prior year accidents
that occurred before Kingsway purchased the Company. As a result, we
have substantially increased claims reserves for prior years as well as
the IBNR reserve in an effort to avoid adverse development. We are also

encouraging the claims department to settle old claims faster since that
will also help to reduce the potential for adverse development on prior
years' business. Many unprofitable product lines have been discontinued
and we believe the business in force at this time has been rated torrectly.
As a resutt, 2004 should be a year of undenwriting profit for ‘Americanv
Country.

American Country is the leading insurer of taxicabs in the Chicago area
and we believe the Company has an opportunity to expand this market
into many other states.

Avalon Risk Management Elk Grove, Illinois

Avalon Risk continues to produce a steady profit under Scott Wollney's
direction. The market-share of U.S. custom bonds and importer bonds
has remained very steady for the last.two years in a market that is

‘somewhat fimited.

The management team is now concentrating on producing more related
business, such as trucking, from accounts where they provide maring
cargo and surety coverage. The trucking business they are writing is

placed through their sister company, Lincoln General, and should be
profitable business since it is hand-picked from accounts they are
familiar with.

In this hard market we believe the diversification to other lines 'will be
profitable and allow Avalon to continue to grow as a strong agency market.
In addition to commissions earned by Avalon they produce business that
generates an underwriting profit for Lincoln General.
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Outlook

Kingsway intentionally slowed growth during 2003 from tﬁe record
pace of the prior two years. Profit increased to record levels because
of substantial increases in investment income and gains on the sale
of securities; however underwriting profit suffered because of claims
established in prior years on which reserves proved inadequate. Reserves
for case reserves and I1BNR increased to record levels by year-end, which
we be]ieve will return the Kingsway group of .covmpanies'to underwriting

profitability in 2004.

There is still no indication that hard insurance markets are ending. We
are continuing to increase premiums and obtaining new business at
higher premium levels. Reinsurance capacity is stil somewhat limited,
which means that companies that generally compete with us in the non-
standard automobile figld in the U.S. will not be able to obtain proportional
reinsurance to support their growth. In contrast, growth should continue

for all of our companies during the coming year.

Surveys completed in 2003 acknowledge corporate governance at

~ Kingsway is in the upper range of most companies. We are pleased with

this accomplishment bacause it shows management and the Board's
commitment to operate a public company with the highest level of
oversight by independent directors. Board committees consist entirely
of independent directors except in the case of the investment committee
where two of three members are independent. With Kingsway being a
group of insurance companies, we have alwayg been tightly regulaied by
insurance commissioners in many states and provinces so we are famiffar

with operating within a highly regulated environment.

During the past year, we have added many experienced insurance
personnel to produce and service our growing business. Many of these
and existing staff have gone through training programs administered by
our companies, and new training programs have been added. In this way

we can continue to grow confidently by training individuals who are familiar

~ with Kingsway’s methods of business and standards.

In Canada we see the need to 'work wifh. governments to produce better
insurance products that result in lower costs for consumers but are
profitable for the insurance industry. This can be achieved primarily by
controlling fraud and by encouraging governments to give guidance with

respect to court awards.

in the United States we find the markets are very attractive and most
states have less government interference in determining market conditions
than in Canada. In the United States we are able to offer business at

minimum limits of tiability which in many cases exposes us to no more than

- $20,000 of risk for injuries or death to any individual. The United States

market should continue to grow more rapidly than the Canadian market.

We expect that each of our companies will produce an underwriting profit

during 2004.

We are pleased with this
accomplishment because it shows
management and the Board's
commitment to operate a public
company with the highest level of
“oversight by independent directors.
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Acknowledgementé

With the growth during 2003 we have been continually looking for sources
of capital for our companies. It has also been a year for us to review

systems and office space to accommodate the growth of our companies.

Shaun Jackson, our Chief Financial Officer has been outstanding during
this vear. He has worked with various firms such as Scotia ‘Capital and
Keefe Bruyette & Woods to arrange financing to grow our capital. In
additibn. Shaun has kept the ‘ra_ting'age'ncies aware of our growth and

capital strength.

The various bankers that work with us have been important in the growth
of our Company as well. A special thanks to LaSalle Bank, Scotiabank,
CIBC and the Royal Bank (Barbados). They have all contributed over the

years to the success of Kingsway.

Investment income has played a very important part in our earnings during
2003 and we have had excellent results through the services of Conning
& Company in Hartford, Burgundy Investment Management in Toronto,
Deans Knight in Vancouver and the staff at Royal Bank in Barbados.
In addition we.have other investment managers that have done an

outstanding job and a special thanks to all of them.

During the year we were able to acquire a new building in the Chicago
area to house our various companies and several have moved into the
new location. The balance will be moved in during 2004. This new building
will reduce the number of locations in the Chicago area from five different

offices to one building. Dennis Fielding, Pegay Klein and Susan King have

" each played an important part in the success of the move. Jim Zuhlke

who left the Company in January 2004 was also of great value in the
acquisition and design of the new building as well as the development of

Kingsway America.

Kingsway America operations have been reorganized and Brian Williamson
along with Kelly Marketti have assumed morg responsibility for the
financial reporting and operatio_ns in the U.S. This change will make
ﬂnaﬁcial reporting to our head office in Canada more efficient and less

costly.

The most important people in our operations are the presidents of the
individual companies along with their management teams. They are the
people that look after the day to day affairs of the companies vshich write
the business, pay the claims and generate the profit for the Kingsway
organization. A special thanks to alf these outstanding people along with
the staff of each company, the systems staff at both Kingsway America

and Kingsway Financial and all of our operating divisions.

As usual, Shelly Gobin and Penny Dickson at our Kingsway Financial office
have both done an outstanding job in the investor relations area, along with
Shaun Jackson, in answering many questions from analysts and investors

and producing material for our investor day and annual meeting.

Finally, my thanks to our Board of Directors and Michael Slan, our
Secretary, who all make Kingsway Financial one of the leading companies

in corporate governance.

RN R

William G. Star
President & Chief Executive Officer
March 12, 2004
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with

our consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this annual report. The fo!loWing

discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could

differ substantially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of several factors,

including those set forth under the section entitled “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this annual report.

From time to time, we make written and oral forward-looking statements,
including in this annual report, in other filings with Canadian regulators
or the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), and in other
communications. Forward-looking statements include, among others,
statements regarding the Gompany’s objectives and strategies to achieve
them. Forward-looking statements are typically identified by words such
as “believe”, “expect”, “may” and “could”. By their very nature, these
statements are subject to inherent risks and uncertainties, general and
specific, which may’ cause. actual results to differ materially. from the
expectations expressed in the forward-looking statements. Some of the
factors that could cause such differences are discussed under the section
entitled “Risk Factors” of this annual report and in other regulatory filings
made in Canada and with the SEC. The discussion of factors under the
section entitled “Risk Factors” is not exhaustive of all possitle factors.

Other factors could also adversely affect the Company’s results.

All such factors should be considered caraiully When making decisions
with r.espect to the Company, and undue reliance should not be placed
on the Company’s forward-looking statements. The Company does not
undertake to update any forward-looking staiements, writizn or oral, that

may be made from time 1o time by or on its behalf.

All of the dollar amounts in this annual report are expressad in Canadian
dollars, except where otherwise indicated. References to “Canadian
dollars," “doflars,” “C$," or “$" are to Canadien dollars and any references
td *U.S. dollars” or "USS" are to U.S. dollars. As.presented‘ in this annual
report, our Canadian and U.S. segment information incluczs the results of

our Bermuda and Barbados reinsurance subsidiaries, respectively.
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Overview

Kingsway Financial serves as the holding company for all of our
subsidiaries, Kingsway America is the holding company for all of our
U.S. operating subsidiaries. Qur insurance subsidiaries include Kingsway
General Insurance Company, York Fire & Casualty Insurance Company,
and Jevco Insurance Company in Canada and Universal Casualty
Company, Southern United Fire Insurance Company, American Service
Insurance Company, Inc., Lincoln General Insurance Company, U.S.
Security Insurance Company and American Country Insuranice Company

in the United States. We also have wholly owned reinsurance subsidiaries .
domiciled in Bermuda and Barbados. in the year ended December 31,

2003, we generated 75% of our gross premiums written from the United
States and 25% from Canada.

Kingsway is a specialty provider of perscnal and commercial lines of
property- and casualty insurance in the United States and Canada. Qur

- principal lings of business are non-standard automobile and trucking

insurance. Non-standard automobile insurance covers drivers who do
not qualify for standard automobile insurance coverage because of their
payment history, driving record, place of residence, age, vehicle type or
other factors. Such drivers typically represent higher than normal risks
and pay higher insurarice rates for comparable coverage. We also provide

standard automobile insurance as well as insurance for commercial and

public vehicles, including taxis.

In addition to automobile insurance, we provide motorcycle insurance,
specialized commercial and personal property coverage, warranty
insurance and other specialty coverages, such as customs and surety
bonds. In the year ended December 31, 2003, we derived 37% of our
gross premiums written from non-standard automobile insurance, 31%
from trucking, 12% from commercial and personal property coverages,
11% from commercial automobile, 4% from standard automobile, 2%
from motorcycle and 3% from other specialty lines.

We are a leading provider of non-standard automobile and motorcycle

insurance in Canada and have a prominent position in severat US. .

markets in which we currently operate, such as Florida,.lllinais, and South
Caroling, based on direct premiums written. We are the third largest writer
of non-standard automobile insurance in llfinois and the fourth largest in
South Carolina according to A.M. Best.

Since 1996, we have experienced significant growth through acquisitions.
in Canada, we acquired York Fire in February 1996 and Jevco in March
1997. In the United States, we acquired Universal Casualty and Scuthern
United in January 1998, American Service in March 1998, Lincoln
General in December 1998, U.S. Security in January 1999, and American
Country in April 2002 (using an effective date of March 31, 2002).

We accounted for these acquisitions using the purchase method of
accounting. Accordingly, we included the assets and liabilities of the

- acquired entities in our consolidated financial statements at their fair

value at the date of acquisition and the results of their operations from
that date. :

In 2003, our gross premiums written increased 24% to $2.64 hillion,
compared to $2.12 billion in 2002, Our return on equity averaged 11.2%
for the fiscal years 1999 to 2003. For the year ended December 3i.
2003, our return on equity was 12.9% on an annualized basis compared
to 13.8% in 2002. As of December 31, 2003, we had total assets of $3.6
billon and shareholders' equity of $705.0 million. During the year ended
December 31, 2003, shareholders' equity Was negatively impacted by the
unrealized currency translation adjustment of our U.S. dollar denominated
assets into Canadian dollars amounting to $105.4 mitlion, or $1.88 per
share outstanding at December 31, 2003.

The insurance industry is highly competitive. However, we generally seex
to identify and operate in specialty markets which present opportunities
for us to compete effectively due to the narrow scope or limited size of
the market or the specialty nature of the caverage or risk. These specialty
markets may be defined by geographic area, type of insurance or other
factors. We focus on specialty lines of automabile, property and casualty
insurance where we believe competition is more timited. We emphasize
underwriting profit and will not knowingly underwrite risks at rates which
we believe are unprofﬁable in order to increase our prémium volume. We
believe that by executing this strategy we have been able to deliver returns
that have exceeded the average in our industry in both the United States
and Canada.

We use the claims ratio, the expense ratio and the combined ratio as
important measures of our performance. The claims ratio is derived by
dividing the amount of net claims incurred by net premiums earned.

Combined Ratio

100
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* Sources - Canadian: 1999-2002 - 1AD, The Cuartely Report, 2nd Quartes, 2003
2003 - 1BC, Perspective, hMarch, 2004

'Source - U.S.: 1999-2003 - Abt. Best, Peview Preview, January, 2004
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KINGSWAY FINANCIAL SERVICES INC.

The expense ratio is derived by dividing the sum of commissions and
premium taxes and general and administrative expenses by net premiums
earned. The combined ratio is the sum of the claims ratio and the expense
ratio. A combined ratio below 100% demonstrates underwriting profit
whereas a combined ratio over 100% demonstrates an underwriting loss.
We believe that underwriting profit is the true measure of performance
of the core business of a property and casualty insurance company. We,

therefore, emphasize underwriting profit and will not underwrite risks at i

rates which we believe are unprofitable in order to increase our premium
volume. Management’s incentive compensation is directly linked to our
combined ratio and our return on equity objectives.

In recent years, the North American property and casualty insurance
market, including the non-standard autornobile market, has been less
price competitive than in the late 1990's. Many insurers significantly
reduced premium rates from 1998 to 2000 due to higher investment
returns and an over-capitalization of the industry which subsequently
led to poor underwriting results, together with investment impairments,
caused an erosion of capital by December 31, 2002. As a result, premium
rates began to rise and continued to do so throughout 2001, 2002 and
2003. Generally, we expect the rate increase trend to continug into 2004.

|

The industry posted better underwriting results for 2002 and 2003 dug
to the increase in premium rates. However, the continued trend of adverse
development of prior years' claims continued to minimize improvement
in reported underwriting results as many companies announced material
year-end increases to prior ye_ars‘ claims reserves, including Kingsway.

At the same time, in both 2002 and 2003, the inéurance industry has
been adversely affected by lower interest rates and a significant drop in
equity indices. Poor pricing, adverse prior years' claims development and
historically low investment returns have also triggered an unprecedented
rise in reinsurance rates and a significant decline in available reinsurance
capacity. Although there has been a series of new reinsurance companies
started since late 2001, these new companies have not materially replaced
the capital and corresponding reinsurance capacity lost since that time. As
aresuit of all of the above factors taken together, we believe the insurance
industry's current improved pricing environment and significant limitations
due to capital constraints wili continue in the U.S. and Canadian insurance
markets through 2004.

Corporate Strategy

Our strategy is to build long-term shargholder value by targeting three financial measurements over a five year period: (i) a 15% average after-tax return

on shareholders’ equity, (ii) an average combined ratio, a measurement of profitability, of 96% or lower, and (iii) average increases in net premiums earned

of 15% per annum. Our strategy is characterized by the following principles:

* Adhere to a strict underwriting discipline. We manage our
business with a strict focus on underwriting profit rather than
on premium growth or market share and have demonstrated our
willingness to increase pricing or reduce or increase premium
volumes based on market conditions. Over the five year period
ended December 31, 2003, our combined ratio averaged 100.8%,
including’ 106.0% for our Canadian operations and 98.8% for
our U.S. operations. For the year ended December 31, 2003, our
combined ratio was 101.4%, including 1'11\8% for our Canadian
operations and 98.3% for our U.S. operations. Management’s
incentive compensation is directly linked to our combined ratio and
return on equity objectives.

Apply a specialty focus to regional markets. We seek to identify
market segments where we believe competition is more limited,
presenting the potential for above average returns. We believe
that the non-standard automobile insurance business, our primary
business, is presently cne such specialty market. Other specialty
markets in which we operate include trucking, taxi, motorcycle and
warranty insurance, We operate through a network of regionally

based operating subsidiaries. This decentralized operating structure
allows us to target specialized markets and products based on our
undenwriting expertise and knowledge of local market conditions.

Rigorously manage claims at the local level. We seek to protect
our business through diligent claims management. Qur claims are
managed by our experienced personnel located in our regional -
operating subsidiaries and by some of our MGAs. We maintain
a culture of rigorously investigating claims, preventing fraud and
litigating our claims as necessary before final settlement.

Expand in the United States and Canada. We rely on our detailed
understanding of our regional markets to take advantage of any
favorable conditions or trends. We look for opportunities to expand
our specialty focus into selected regional markets and increase
the distribution of our core products in our existing territories. We
may also look for opportunities to acquire books of business or
other companies which are in line with our specialty focus. Since
late 2001, we have also entered into new programs with several
Managing General Agents (MGAs) in the United States to expand
the distribution network for our core business lines. In 2003, gross
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premiums written from these programs were $1,290.0 million or
49% of our business, compared to $961.4 million or 45% of our
business in 2002.

¢ Maintain a strong relationship with our agents, MGAs
and brokers. We are committed to our distribution network of
independent agents, MGAs and brokers. We continually strive to
provide the Highest level of service to our agents, MGAs and brokers
and build relationships at the local level in the markets in which we
operate. We communicate with our network through a variety of

channels and we look for opportunities to increase efficiency and
further reduce our operating costs, including through the use of
technology and automation. We aiso ook for opportunities to expand
our distribution refationships and enhance our product mix.

Corporate Structure

We conduct our operations through our wholly owned subsidiaries in
Canada and the United States. We are licensed to write a broad range of
property and casualty insurance in all Canadian provinces and territories
and in all states and the District of Columbia in the United States. We
distribute all of our products through independent agents, MGAs, and
brokers.

We conduct our operations through these subsidiaries to, among other
things:

* maintain discrete brand identities; and

* develop expertise and organizational cultures that best serve the
individual markets in which we operate.

We believe that the markets for our insurance products differ greatly by
community because regulations, legal decisions, traffic, law enforcement,
cuitural attitudes, insurance agents, medical services and auto repair
services vary greatly by jurisdiction and by community. Our corporate
structure helps to meet varied local conditions under a cohesive set
of policies and procedures designed to provide underwriting discipline,
consistency and control.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our significant accounting policies are described in Note 1 to-the audited
financial statements included in pages 60 to 61 of this annual report. The
preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted
accounting plrinciples requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect amounts reported in the financial statements. As
more information becomes known, these estimates and assumptions could
change and thus impact amounts reported in the future. Management

believes that the establishment of the provision for unpaid claims is
the area where the degree of judgment required to determine amounts
recorded in the financial statements makes the accounting policy critical.
Management believes that the establishment of an other-than-temporary
impairment of an investment security requires a number of judgements
and estimates which makes the accounting policy critical.
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Revenues

Revenues reflected in our consolidated financial statements are derived from insurance premiums earned,

investmentincome and net realized investment gains. Our total revenues increased 38% to $2.5 billion in 2003

compared to $1.8 hillion in 2002 and $0.9 billion in 2001.

Premium Income

The insurance industry is highly competitive. We compete on the basis
of numerous factors such as distribution strength, pricing, agency and
broker relationships, service, reputation and financial strength. In Canada,
our main competitor for non-standard auto is Pembridge Insurance
Company, a subsidiary of The Alistate Corporation. In the United States,
we face competition in cur non-standard automobile lines from Allstate,
Progressive and State Farm and in our trucking lines from Associates
Insurance Group, Old Republic General Group, Canal Insurance Company
and Harco National Insurance Company. We also compete in both Canada
and the United States with numerous smaller insurance companies. Many
“of our larger c'ompetitors‘ have greater financial and other resources than
we do, have more favorable A.M. Best ratings and offer more diversified
insurance coverages. Many of our competitors in the non-standard
auvtomobile markets in the United States are small companies with
limited capital resources who generally have less favorable AM. Best

Gross Premiums Written
by Geographic Area
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ratings and who have ftraditionally relied upon the support of reinsurérs
to supplement their capital by way of proportional reinsufance treaties.
Current reinsurance market conditions have led to a contraction of the
availability of these proportional coverages.

Our competitors include cther companies that, like us, serve the
indepencent agency markat, as well as companies that sell insurance
directly to customers. Direct underwriters may have certain competitive
advantages over agency underwriters, including increased name
recognition, loyalty of the customer base to the insurer rather than an
independent‘agency and, poientially, reduced acquisition costs.

Additionally, our markets may attract competition from time to time from
new or tsmporary entrants in our niche markets. In some cases, these
entrants may, because of inexperience, desire for new business or other
reasons, price their insurance below the rates that we believe provide an
acceptabizs premium for ths related risk. We believe that it is generally
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not in our best interest to compete solely on price, and may from time
to time experience a loss of market share during pericds of intense price
competition or “soft” market conditions.

We attribute the growth over the last five years to our various acquisitions
and to internal growth, as we have executed our strategy to diversify both

‘by line of business and by geographic location. We beligve that our ability

to compete successfully in our industry will be based on:

e our ability to identify specialty markets which are more likely to
produce an underwriting profit;

* our disciplined underwriting approach;
* our prudent claims management; and

- the service and competitive commissiens we provide to our agents,
MGAs and brokers.

Any new, proposed or potential legislative or industry developments could
further increase competition in our markets. New competition from these
developments could cause the prices for insurance to fall, which would
adversely affect our underwriting profitability.

We employ stringent underwriting standards to develop a broad spread
of risk and to receive an appropriate premium for each risk. We seek to
achieve an underwriting profit, targeting a combined ratio of 96% or iess.
Our underwriting philosophy stresses receiving an adequate premium
and spread of risks for the business we accept. Rather than attempt to
select individual risks, we seek to set premium rates at levels that should
generate profitable underwriting. Once we have set premium rates that we
believe are adequate, we are generally willing to accept as much business
within our underwriting quidelines as is available to us. We regularly
monitor premium adequacy by territory and class of business and make
adjustments as required. We do not reduce our pricing when competitors
offer to underwrite certain classes of business at premium rates which are
below what we believe is an acceptable level. Instead, we elect to maintain

our premium per risk rather than write a large number of risks at premiums .

which we consider to be inadequate. In such instances, our premium
volumes have' decreased, in some cases significantly. Underwriting
profitability is dependent in large part on the amount of claims incurred on
the policies sold in relation to net premiums earned. At the time premium
levels are established, the amount of claims to be incurred on the policies
sold is unknown. The process for estimating claims is inherently uncertain
and imprecise.

We regularly consider and implement various initiatives to address adverse
profitability trends in our business. These initiatives vary by jurisdiction,
but include tightening of underwriting requirements, price increases,
reduction in agent commissions, policy non-renewals {where permitted)
and other administrative changes. All companies wiiting insurance in
Canada and in most U.S. jurisdictions must have their premium rates
approved by the applicable regulatory authority. Once these rates are
approved, an insurance company is prohibited from altering them without
dpproval for new rates.

We market and distribute our automobile insurance products through a
network of over 2,900 independent agents and approximately 20 MGAs
in the United States and over 3,000 independent brokers across Canada.

In 2003, approximately 49% of our gross written premiums was sourced
through MGAs and approximately 51% was sourced through independent -

agents. We maintain an “open market” approach which allows these
agents and brokers to place business with us with no minimum
commitments and provides us with a broad, flexible and easily scalable
distribution network. We believe that this approach is different from that
generally used by automobile insurance companies.

We focus on developing and maintaining strong relationships with our

independent agents, MGAs and brokers. We continually strive to provide .
, excellent service to our agents, MGAs and brokers and build relationships

in the local markets in which we operate. We communicate with our
agents, MGAs and brokers through a variety of channels and we look
for opportunities to increase efficiency and reduce operating costs.
We believe that the commissions we pay to our agents, MGAs and brokers
are fair and competitive.

Qur independent agents, MGAs and brokers generally have the authority
to enter into binding poficies on our behalf with respect to specified
insurance coverages within prescribed underwriting guidelines, subject
to compliance with our mandated procedures. These guidelines prescribe
the kinds and amounts of coverage thét may be written and the premium
rates that may be charged for specified categories of risk. In most cases,
our independent agents, MGAs and brokers do not have authority on our:
behalf to settle or adjust claims, establish underwriting guidelines, develop
rates or enter into other transactions or commitments. Certain MGAs have
greater authority than our independent agents and brokers. However, we
work diligently with them to ensure that they adhere to our underwriting
standards and claims handling procedures.

We write automobile insurance primarily for the non-standard automobile
and trucking markets. We also write insurance in selected other lines of
business for both individuals and commercial customers. Other coverages
for individuals that we provide include motorcycle, homeowners and
selected specialty lines. Our commercial coverages include automobile,
trucking, property and selected specialty lines such as customs bonds.
Our personal fines business accounted for 46.3% of our gross premiums
written for the year ended December 31, 2003 and 53.7% was generated
from our commercial fings. ' -

Qur automobile insurance products provide coverage in three major
areas: liability, accident benefits and physical damage. Liability insurance
provides coverage, where our insured is responsible for an automobile
accident, tor the payment for injuries and for property damage to third
parties. Accident benefits provide coverage for loss of income, medical
and rehabifitation expenses for insured persons who are injured in an
automobile accident, regardiess of fault. Physical damage coverages
provide for the payment of damages to an insured automobile arising from
a collision with another object or from other risks such as fire or theft,
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Automobile physical damage and liability coverages generally provide
more predictable results than automobile personal injury insurance.

Qur gross premiums written increased 24% in 2003 to $2.64 biliion,
compared to $2.12 bmion in 2002. In 2003, we experienced an increase
of 33% in gross premiums written for our Canadian operations and 21%
for our U.S. operations. B

The following table sets forth our gross premiums written by line of
business for the periods indicated:

Far the year ended December 31,
{in miltiens of Canadian dollars, except for percentages)

2003 2002

Non-Standard Automobile $ 966.1 36.6 % $ 8281 390 %
Standard Automobile 95.2 3.6 36.5 1.7
Motorcycle 57.4 2.2 523 25
Property (including liability) 43.3 1.6 49.2 2.3
Warranty 248 0.9 © 258 1.2
Qther Specialty Lines 34.6 1.4 15.9 07
Total Personal $ 1,2214 48.3 % $ 10078 474 %
Trucking 808.4 30.7 685.5 323
Commercial Automebile 296.1 1.2 © 1589 75
Property (including liability) 260.2 9.9 2375 11.2
Other Specialty Lines 50.7 1.9 350 1.6
Total Commercial $ 14154 53.7 % § 11169 526 %
Total Gross Premiums Written 100.0 % $ 21247

$ 2,636.8 100.0 %

We conduct our business in the United States and Canada. The following
table sets forth our gross premiums written by state and province for the
periods indicated:

For the year ended December 31,
{in millions of Canadian dallars, except for percentages)

2003 ! 2002

California $ 3504 13.3 % $ 2301 10.8 %
Florida 318.2 121 2574 12.1
Ilinois 270.7 10.3 224.8 10.6
Texas 1928 7.3 1497 7.0
South Carolina 81.4 31 931 4.4
Alabama 61.3 23 60.0 2.9
Pennsylvania 52.0 2.0 548 26
Other 655.3 248 564.0 28.5
Total United States $ 19819 75.2 $ 16339 76.9 %
Ontario $ 3047 1.5% 2200 10.4
Alberta 146.5 5.5 122.8 5.8
Québec 128.1 4.9 109.0 51
Other 75.6 2.9 39.0 18
Total Canada 654.9 24.8 $ 4908 231 %
Total Gross Premiums Written $ 2,636.8 1000 % $ 21247 1000 %

Non-Standard Automobile

Non-standard automobile insurance accounted for 37% and 39% of our
gross premiums written for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. Non-standard automobile insurance is principally provided to
individuals who do not qualify for standard automobile insurance coverage
because of their payment history, driving record, place of residence, age,
vehicle type or other factors. Such drivers typically represent higher than
normal risks and pay higher insurance rates for comparable coverage. As
- underwriting standards for providing standard coverages have- become
more restrictive and many jurisdictions now require insurance regardless
of driving record, high risk individuals have been forced to seek non-
standard coverage and have contributed to the increase in the size of the
non-standard automobile insurance market.

Non-standard automobile insurance is generally accompanied by
increased loss exposure, higher claims experience and a higher incidence
of consumer fraud. However, these factors are mitigated to some extent
by higher premium rates, the tendency of high-risk individuals to own low
value automobiles, and generally lower fimits of insurance coverage. In
addition, policy renewal rates tend to be low for non-standard automobile
policies as policyholders often allow their policies to lapse because
of non-payment of premiums and then reapply for insurance as new
policyholders. This creates an ongoing requirement to replace non-
renewing policyholders with new policyholders and to react promptly to
issue cancellation notices for non-payment of premiums.

The insuring of non-standard drivers is often transitory. We expect that if
and when their driving records improve, these drivers will qualify for and
obtain insurance in the standard market at lower premium rates. As a
result, our automobile insurance policies experience a retention rate that
is tower than that experienced for standard market risks. Most of our

insureds pay their premiums on a monthly installment basis. We limit our -

risk of non-payment of premiums by requiring a deposit for two months
of insurance premiums.

In the United States and Canada, automobile insurers are generally
required to participate in various involuntary residual market pools that
provide automobile insurance coverages to individuals or ather entities
that are unable to purchase such coverage in the voluntary market. For
example, in Ontario, every insurer is required to be a member of the
Facility Association, an entity that was created to ensure the availability of
automobile insurance to every motorist in Ontario. The Facility Association
selects designated carriers to provide coverage and claims handling
services to drivers who are unable to purchase insurance through private
carriers, in_return for an administration fee. Assessments from the
Facility Association in Ontario increased our underwriting loss by $6.3
million in 2003 and reduced our underwriting profit by $1.4 million in
2002. Participation in these pools in most jurisdictions is in proportion to
voluntary writings of selected lines of business in that jurisdiction.
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In Canada, we are the largest writer of non-standard automobile insurance
and operate primarily in Ontario, Aiberta and Québec, with Alberta being
our largest market. The non-standard automobile insurance market in
Canada is primarity focused on providing drivers with minimum levels of
liability coverage with accident benefit insurance. We obtained approval
for premium rate increases effective in early 2002 in Ontario of 5.7% and
Alberta of 10.0%. In July 2002, we obtained approval for a further rate
increase commencing September 2002 and to eliminate certain rating
classes in Ontario, the effect of which was an average 22.3% increase
in premiums, although many of our insureds faced increases in excess of
40%. Further rate increases of 16.4% and 2.4% were effective in January
and May 2003, respeétiVe!y in Alberta, and effective February 2003, we
obtained approval for an additional averége 7% increase in Ontario. Rate
freezes on automobile insurance premiums in Ontario and Alberta were
effected in October and November of 2003, respectively. In December
2003 the Ontario legislature passed the Automobile Insurance Rate
Stabilization Act of 2003 (the "Rate Stahilization Act") and the rate freeze
was removed in January 2004. The Alberta government has indicated that

its rate freezes are in anticipation of a rate reform program that will reward
safe drivers while allowing rate increases to be imposed on drivers with
at-fault claims and poor driving records. At this time there is no certainty

,aé to what the final Alberta legislative provisions will be or how such

legislation will impact our Ontario and Alberta automabile business. We
continue to assess opportunities for additional rate increases.

. Inthe United States, we write non -standard automobile insurance in lllinois,

South Carolina, Florida, Mississippi, Alabama, Missouri, Indiana, Texas,
Georgia, California, Louisiana, Ohio and Virginia. Our business in lllinois is
presently concentrated in the Chicago metropolitan area, although we are
expanding into other areas of lliinais. In the United States, non-standard

- automobile insurance policies generally have lower limits of insurance

commensurate with the minimum coverage requirement under the statute
of the state in which we write the business. These limits of liability are
typically not greater than USS40,000 per occurrence. Consequently, we
are able to retain most of our gross written premiums for our own account
while minimizing our claims exposure, and only purchase reinsurance 1o
limit our exposure to the larger and catastrophic type losses.

Standard Automobile

Standard automobile insurance provides coverage for drivers of standard-
risk private passenger automobiles. Premiums for these types of policies
are usually lower than premiums charged in the non-standard market.

However, the frequency and severily of accidents and other loss events
are also typically lower. Our standard automobile business is written in
Ontario and Alberta.

Motorcycle

Motorcycle insurance primarily consists of liability, physical damage and
personal injury insurance coverages. In Canada, we are the leading writer
of motarcycle insurance, writing over 30% of the total market. We write
motorcycle insurance in the provinces of Ontario, Alberta and Québec.

We obtained approval for a 17.7% rate increase effective March 1, 2003
and a 7.1% rate increase effective March 1, 2004 in Ontario, our largest
market. We also write motorcycle insurance in the United States.

Property (including liability)

We write property (including liability) insurance for businesses and
individuals in- Canada and the United States. This business focuses on
insuring against damage to property and accidents that may occur on such
property. Our commercial property and liability business consists of risks
that are difficult 1o place due to class, age, location or occupancy of the
risk. These risks are characterized by high premiums and deductibles and
limited caverage. We generally fimit our exposure to no more than $500,000
in Canada and US$500,000 in the United States on any one risk.

Our specialty property business includes insurance for restaurants,
rental properties and garages. We also write non-hydrant protected
homeowners insurance and habitational risks which do not ‘qualify for

coverage by writers of standard insurance. We provide coverage on a very
itemized named perils basis with relatively high rates and high deductibles
for risks that are considered substandard by other companies. We betieve
these risks provide us with the opportunity 1o achieve attractive returns.

Our strategy is to operate as a niche underwriter of classes of property
business that are more difficult to underwrite and offer the potential to
achieve higher levels of underwriting profitability. We underwrite this
business using our carefully developed underwriting methodology based
on a stringent set of criteria. This business is seldom subject to a high
degree of competition and we have often been able to write these policies
at relatively high rates with fairly restricted coverage.'

Warranty

In our warranty insurance business, we assume the liability for
performénce under the terms of service contracts and limited warranties
issued by retailers of automobiles, home. appliances, furniture and
electronics and by residential home builders. This coverage indemnifies

the consumer against loss resulting from service confract claims that
oceur during a specified period after expiration of the manufacturer’s or
buildei's warranty. We discontinued writing any new warranty business in
Canada during 2003.
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Trucking

We provide coverage for liability, accident benefits, physical damage,
cargo and comprehensive general liability under a package program
throughout both Canada and the United States. Since late 2000, several
companies have exited this business as a result of poor performances
due to severe underpricing. Theée market conditions have allowed us to
increase our prices, expand our relationships and have led to a significant
increase in our gross premiums written for trucking insurance.

In the year ended December 31, 2003, gross premiums written from
trucking increased by 17.9% to $808.4 million compared to $685.5
million in 2002. Trucking insurance accounted for 31%, 32% and 24%
of our gross premiums written for the years ended December 31, 2003,
2002 and 2001, respectively.

Commercial Automobhile

Commercial automobile poficies provide coverage for taxis, rental car
fleets and garage risks. Through American Service and American Country
we are the largest writer of taxi risks in the Chicago area. In the year
ended December 31, 2003, gross premiums written from commercial

automobile increased by 86% to $296.1 million compared to $158.9
million in 2002, primarily as a result of the acquisition of American
Country in Aprit 2002.

Other Speciaity Lines

Our other specialty lines include customs and surety bonds written in both
the United States and Canada. Custom bonds involve insuring the timely
payment of customs duties on goods imported into the United States and
Canada, as well as any penalties incurred due to late payment of the duties

Gross Premiums by Business Line

(S miltions)

|
|

or administrative non-compliance. Such duties generally represent less
than 5% of the face value of the imported goods. We also write contract
payment and performance and other miscellaneous surety bonds.

Motorcycle
Warranty

Non-Standard Automobile
Personal-Property & Liability

Trucking

Personal-Other Specialty
Commercial-Automobile

Commercial-Property & Liability
Commercial-Other Specialty
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Investments and Investment Income

Our business philcsophy stresses the importance of both underwriting
profits and investment returns to build shareholder value. We manage our
investment portfolio primarily to support the liabilities of our insurance
operations and generate investment returns. We invest predominantly in
high quality corporate, government and municipal bonds with relatively
short durations. We also invest in preferred and common eguity
securities and considar our finance premium receivables to be a part
of our investment poriictio. Our overall investment strategy is aimed at

~maximizing returns witiout compromising liquidity and risk control.

Our investment guidalines stress the preservation of capital, market
liquidity to support payment obligations of our insurance liabilities and the
diversification of risk. As part of this strategy, we attempt to maintain an
appropriate relationship between the average duration of the investment
portfolio and the approximate duration of our policy claims liabilities. With
respect to fixed maturity securities, we generally purchase securities with
the expectation of holding them to their maturity. Insurance laws and
regulations in each domiciliary state or province also place limitations on
the permitted investmants of property and casualty insurers.

All of our investments are managed by professional, third-party investment
management firms and we monitor their performance. We have engaged
Conning Asset Managzment to oversee the majority of the fixed income
investments of our U.S.. Canadian and Bermuda subsidiaries. In addition,
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‘Burgundy Asset Management, Deans Knight Capital Management

Limited, Marquest Investment Counsel, SFE Investment Counsel,
Kingwest and Company, J. Zechner Associates Inc. and Royal Bank of
Canada (Caribbean) have each been engaged to manage portions of our
subsidiaries’ equity and fixed income investments.

At December 31, 2003, we held cash, investments and accrued interest
with a fair value of $2.73 billion and a carrying value of $2.67 billion,
resulting in a net unréalized gain of $52.5 million. Because.most of our
investment portfolio is comprised of ﬂxed-income securities which are
usually held to maturity, periodic changes in interest rate levels generally
impact our financial results to the extent that reinvestment yields are
different than the original yields on maturing securities. Our investment
portfolio includes investments which are subject to changes in market
values with changes in interest rates. We do not hedge any foreign
currency exposure that may exist in the portfolio. Our U.S. operations
generally hold investments in U.S. dollar denominated investments, and
our Canadian operations in Canadian dollar investments.

With the exception of U.S. and Canadian government bonds, it is our policy
to fimit our investment concentration at each of our subsidiary companies
in any one issuer or related groups of issuers to less than 5% of the
subsidiary company’s inveétment portfolio. '

Investment Portfolio

(8 millions)
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The following table summarizes the fair value of our investments, including
cash and cash equivalents, at the dates indicated:

For the year ended December 31,
(in mitions of Canadian dollars)

2003 2002
Type of investment
Term deposits $ 2855 § 506.5
Government Bonds $ 7875 § 4545
Corparate debt securities § 11124 S 630.7
Subtotal S 21854 8 1.591.7
Preferred shares S 05 8 2.0
Common shares S 2077 § 183.8
Finance premiums S 809 8 86.8
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1408 3 2449
Totat § 27054 S 2111.2

Investment results before the effect of income taxes were as follows:

For the year ended December 31,
(in miltions of Canadian dollars)

2003 2002

Average investments at cost § 23845 S 1,665.1
Investment income after expenses $ 784 S 64.9
Percent earned on average investments (annualized) 3.3% 3.9%
Net realized gains S 550 § 163
Total realized yield 5.6% 49%
Change in unrealized investment gains E $ 200 § 210
Total return yield 6.4% . 6.1%

The percentages earned on average investments shown above compare
with the Lehman Brothers Global Bond Index of 12.5% and 28.7% for the
S&P 500 Index for the twelve months ended December 31, 2003,

The following table summarizes the fair value by contractual maturities
of our fixed maturity investment portfolio, excluding cash and cash
gquivalents, at the dates indicated.

For the year ended December 31,
(in miltions of Canadian dofiars}

2003 2002
Dug in less than one year s 6055 S 638.2
Due after-one through five years 1,155.0 7175
Due ater five through ten years 3199 188.2
Due after ten years 105.0 47.8
Total S 21854 §$ 15917

Actual maturities may differ from contractual maturities because certain
issuers have the right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or
prepayment penalties.

Currently, we maintain a fiquid portfolic to ensure there is sufficient .

cash available for the payment of claims on a timely basis. We believe
that our high quality, liquid investment portfolio and our success in
underwriting provide us with sufficient liquidity to meet our obligations to
our policyholders.

The following table summarizes the composition of the fair value of our
fixed maturity investment portiolio, excluding cash and cash equivalents,
at the dates indicated, by rating as assigned by S&P or Moody's Investors
Service, using the higher of these ratings for any security where there is
a split rating. ‘

As at December 31,

2003 2002
Rating
AAA/Aaa 60.5% 61.5%
AhfAa2 17.6% 23.1%
AIA2 17.2% 10.1%
Percentage rated A/A2 ar better 95.3% 94.7%
B3B/Baa2 2.1% 1.8%
8B8/Ba2 0.3% 0.4%
B/B2 0.5% 0.5%
CCC/Caa or lower, or not rated 1.8% 2.6%
Total 100.0%- 100.0%

The fair value of our investment portfolio, including cash and premium
finance receivables, amounted to $2.7 billion at December 31, 2003 and
$2.1 biflion at December 31, 2002. At December 31, 2003, our portfolio,
other than cash and premium finance receivables, was comprised primarily
of short-term securities including treasury bills, bankers' acceptances,
government bonds and corporate bonds. The fair value of equity investments
represented 11% of our investment portfolio at December 31, 2003 and
9% of our investment portfolio at December 31, 2002. The following chart
shows how the carrying value of our investment portfolio, including accrued
investment income, has grown over the last sgven years.

Investment Cash Flow

Portfotio Generated

Investment Per Share from

Portfatio Qutstanding Operations

(in $millions) (in $'s) {in $miliions)

1396 $ 188 8 708 & 45
1997 $ 354 8 987 ¢ 48
1998 $ 634§ 1765 § 63
1999 $ 693 % 2038 § 34
2000 $ 787 § 2312 8 33
2001 $ 1235 § 2539 38 207
2002 $ 2,095 & 4293 8§ 800
2003 $ 2674 § 4790 % 617

We historically complied with SFAS 115 related to Accounting for Certain
Investments in Debt and Equity Securities and recognized losses on
securities whose decling in market value was deemed to be other than
temporary. Subsequent o the issuance of SAB 58 in 2001, however,
we reviewed our policy for determining declines considered other than
temporary against the guidance provided by the SEC and identified certain
securities for which a write-down may have been appropriate, based on
the more specific requirements. We disposed of those securities that fell
into this category and recognized the loss. None of the capital losses
realized in 2003, 2002 and 2001 were considered individually material as
we limit the exposure to any one security through our investment policy.
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We recognized charges of $3.5 million, $6.6 miltion and $1.2 million for
investment value impairment that was considered other than temporary
for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
We perform periodic analyses of our investment holdings to determine
if declines in market value are other than temporary. These periodic
analyses include some or all of the following procedures:

identifying alt security holdings in an unrealized loss position that
has existed for at least six months;

obtaining a valuation analysis from third party investment

managers regarding the intrinsic value of these holdings based

on their knowledge, experience and other market based valuation
- fechniques; ' ‘

reviewing the trading range of certain securities over the preceding
calendar period;

assessing if declines in market value are other than temporary for
debt security holdings based an the investment grade credit rating
from third party security rating agencies;

assessing if declines in market value are other than temporary for
any debt security holding with non-investment grade credit rating
based on the continuity of their debt service record; and

determining the necessary provision for declines in market value
that are considered other than temporary based on the analyses
performed.

- The risks and uncertainties inherent in the assessment methodology

utilized to determine declines in market value that are other than
temporary include, but may not be fimited to, the following:

» the opinion of professional investment managers could be
incorrect;

« the past trading patterns of individual securities may not reflect
future valuation trends;

o the credit ratings assigned by independent credit rating agencies
may be incorrect due to unforeseen or unknown facts related to a
company's financial situation; and

o the debt service pattern of non-investment grade securities may
not reflect future debt service capabilities and may not reflect the
company’s unknown underlying financial problems.

The length of time securities may be held in an unrealized loss position
may vary based on the opinion of our appointed investment managers and
their respective analyses related to valuation and the various credit risks
that may prevent us from recapturing our pr‘mc‘\pajl investment. In cases
where our abpointed investment manager determines there is little or no
risk of default prior to the maturity of a holding, we would elect to hold
the security in an unrealized loss position untif the price recovers or the
security matures.

In situations where facts emerge that might increase the risk associated
with recapture of principal, securities would be traded and losses realized.
Due to the current volatility of the equity markets, we believe there are
a number of securities currently trading at values below their respective
intrinsic values based on historical valuation measures. In these situations,
holdings. may be maintained in an unrealized loss position for different
periods of time based on the underlying economic assumptions driving
the investment manager's valuation of the holding. In cases where the
economic realitiss divert from the underlying assumptions driving the
investment manager’s valuation, securities would be traded and losses
realized. In cases where the economic assumptions coincide with

valuation assumptions, the holding would be maintained until the market
-valug of the security recovers in the public markets.

At December 31, 2003, and December 31, 2002, the gross unrealized
losses amounted to $14.4 million and $11.3 million, respectively. The
unrealized loss attributable to non-investment grade fixed income
securities at December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002 was $0.7
million and $0.8 million, respectively. The unrealized losses at December
31, 2003 and December 31, 2002 were considered temporary declings
in market value based on the review of individual holdings as indicated
above.

At December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002, unrealized losses related
to government bands and term deposits were considered temporary as
there was no evidence of default risk. Corporate bonds, even those below

investment grade, in a material unrealized loss position, continued to pay.

interest and wére not subject to material changes in their respective debt
ratings. We concluded that a default risk did not exist at the time and,
therefore, the decline in value was considered temporary. As we have the
capacity to hold these securities to maturity, no investment impairment
provision was considered necessary. Common stock positions in an
unrealized loss position for mare than six months may not be considered
impaired based on the underlying fundamentals of the respective
holdings. In making our investment impairment decisions, we utilized the
professional expertise of our investment advisors, analyzed independent
economic indicators (such as the price of oil when evaluating an oil and
gas sector holding) and reviewed stock market trends.
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The following table segregates the gross unrealized losses at December
31, 2003 and December 31, 2002 by security type or industry sector;

(in thousands of Canadian Dollars)

December 31,  December 31,

2003 2002
Mortgage backed $ (497) § -
Government : (4,729} (84
Provincial, State, Municipal 193) -
Financial Services {3,208) {1,609)
Energy {647} (414)
Telecommunications (412} {493)
Information Technology (199) {646)
Consumer Products (1,628) (1,372)
Metals & Mining (37 (225)
Industrials (1.471) (2,972
Utilities (313) 9
Media (20} (1,227
Medical {122) (8)
Pharmaceuticals {615) (701)
Retail (266) {1.323)
Real Estate (18) (233
Total $ (14373 5 (11314

We may hold other non-traded securities from time to time subject to
the review and approval of our Investment Committee. As at December
31, 2003 and December 31, 2002, the carrying valug of non-traded
securities was $nil and $22.7 million respectively and the fair value
approximated the carrying value. The fair value of non-traded securities is
estimated based on a multiple of earnings per share that is consistent with
earnings muitiples of other public entities in the same industry. The fair
value of non-traded securities is reviewed at least annually to determine if
any decline should be considered other than temporary.

Movements in short-term and long-term interest rates, as well as
fluctuations in the value of equity securities, affect the level and timing
of recognition of gains and losses on securities we hold, causing changes
in realized and unrealized gains and losses. Generally, our investment
income will be reduced during sustained periods of lower interest rates
as higher yielding fixed income securities are called, mature, or are sold
and the proceeds are reinvested at lower rates. During periods of rising
interest rates, the market value of our existing fixed-income securities will
generally decrease and our realized gains on fixed-income securities will
likely be reduced. o ‘

We Curren‘tly maintain and intend to maintain an investment portfolio
comprising primarily fixed income securities. Generally, declining interest
rates result in unrealized gains in the value of fixed income securities
we continue to hold, as well as realized gains to the extent the relevant
securities are sold. General economic conditions, stock market conditions
and many other factors can also adversely affect the securities markets
and, consequently, the value of the equity securities we own.

Premiums for property and casualty insurance are typically payable at -

the time a policy is placed in force or renewed. To assist our insureds
in making their payments to us, in some instances we offer premium
financing either directly or through a separate premium finance company,
whereby the insured can pay a portion of the premium in monthly

instaliments. We provide the option of monthly payments on personalv

automobile policies, whereby the insured is only required to pay a portion
of the premium when the policy is placed in force and the balance in
monthly instaliments. The insured pays us an additional premium fbr this
option, reflecting handling costs and the income we would have earned
on such premium, had we received the total amount at the beginning of
the policy period. We typically collect sufficient premiums in advance of
the period of risk which ensures that in the event of payment defaults by
insured, we do not have uncollectible balances. The option of monthly
premium payments is available only where permitted under the laws or
regulations of the specific territory. Some jurisdictions require the option
of monthly premium payments at a specific annual interest rate or monthly
charge. We consider our income from our premium finance activities to
be a part of investment income, because this additional premium is
essentially an interest payment on the balance of unpaid_premium. At
December 31, 2003, the balance of our financed premiums was $80.9
miltion compared to $86.8 millibn at December 31, 2002. The fair value
of financed premiums approximates their carrying amount.

Our investment income, including net realized gains, increéased 64% in
2003 to $133.4 million, compared to $81.1 million in 2002. Our insurance
subsidiaries’ investments must comply with applicable regulations which
prescribe the type, gquality and concentration of investments. These
regulations, in the various jurisdictions in which our insurance subsidiaries

are domiciled, permit investments in government, state, provincial,

municipal and corporate bonds, and preferred and common equities,
within specified limits and subject to certain qualifications. The majority
of our investments are held by our insurance subsidiaries. Because most
of our investment portfolio is comprised of fixed-income securities, which
are usually held to maturity, periodic changes in interest rate levels
generally impact our financial results to the extent that reinvestment
yields are different than the original yields on maturing securities. Our
investment portfolio includes investments that are subject to changes in
market values with changes in interest rates. Actual maturities may differ
from contractual maturities because certain issuers have the right to call
or prepay obligations with or without penalties.

We maintain & liquid portfolio to ensure there is sufficient cash available for

"~ the payment of claims on a timely basis. We beligve that funds generated

by operations and our liquid investment portfolio provide us with sufficient
liquidity to meet our obligations to our policyholders.
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Provisions for Unpaid Claims

Claims management is the procedure by which an insurance company
determines the validity and amount of a claim. We focus on rigorous
claims management, which we believe is one of our areas of expertise.
We believe that effective claims management is fundamental to our
operations. We investigate the actual circumstances of the incident that
gave rise to the claim and the actual loss suffered. An important part of
claims management is verifying the accuracy of the information provided
to the insurance company at the time the policy is underwritten.

"The nature of non-standard ‘automobile insurance typically requires

more thorough claims management and, in particular, more thorough
investigative procedures than other types of insurance. Insurance claims
on our pelicies are investigated and settled by our focal claims adjusters.
If necessary, we also employ independent adjusters, private investigators,
various experts and legal counse! to adjust claims. Claims are scrutinized
by an appraiser, an adjuster and, as appropriate, senior management,
before claims payments are made.

We establish provisions for unpaid claims to reflect the estimated ultimate
cost of both reported but unsettled claims and incurred but not reported
(IBNR) claims. Qur provisions for unpaid claims are based on individual
reported claims, for which we establish case reserves; estimated
provisions for claims that have not yet been reported but we expect will
be reported in the future and expected future devélopment on existing
reported claims; and internal or unaltocated claims adjustment expenses.
The provisions for claims not yet reported and future development on
existing reported claims are sometimes referred to as provisions for IBNR.
The establishment of provisions for unpaid claims is based on known
facts and interpretation of circumstances and is, therefore, a complex and
dynamic process influenced by a large vériety of factors. These factors
include our experience with similar cases and historical trends involving
claim paymeﬁt patterns, loss payments, pending levels of unpaid claims,
product mix or concentration, claims severity, claim frequency patterns
and inflation rates. Our provisions for unpaid claims are not discounted
to reflect expected future payouts of claims nor do they reflect any future
investment income.

The process for establishing the provisions for unpaid claims reflects the
uncertainties and significant judgmental factors inherent in predicting
future results of both known and unknown claims and as such, the
procéss is inherently complex and imprecise. Factors affecting provisions
for unpaid claims include the continually evolving and changing regulatory
and legal environment, actuarial studies, professional experience and
expertise of our claims personnel and independent adjustors retained
to handle individual claims, the quality of the data used for projection
purposes, existing claims management practices, including claims
handling and settlement practices, the effect of inflationary trends on

future claims settlement costs, court decisions, economic conditions and
public attitudes. In addition, time can be a critical part of the provisions’
determination, because the fonger the span between the incidence of a

“loss and the payment or settiement of the claims, the more variable the

ultimate settlement amount can be. Accordingly, short-tailed claims, such
as property claims, tend to be more reasonably predictable than long-
tailed claims, such as general liability and automobile accident benefit
claims, which are less predictable. We do not have exposure to asbestos,

“environmental or ather products liability exposure.

The process of establishing provisions for unpaid claims relies on the
judgment and opinions of a large number of individuals, on historical
precedent and frends, on prevailing legal, economic, social and requlatory
trends and on expectations as to future developments. The process of
determining the provision necessarily involves rigks that the actuat results
will deviate, perhaps substantially, from the best estimates made. This
gvaluation includes a re-estimation of the liability for unpaid claims
relating to each preceding financial year compared to the liability that
we originally established. In addition, we conduct a detailed review of
all open claims each quarter and consider all factors into the provisions’
calculation. Accordingly, as experience develops and new information

 becomes known, we adjust our reserves as necessary following these

evaluations. Any adjustments are reflected in our consolidated statement
of income in the period in which they become known and are accounted
for as changes in estimates. Even after such adjustments, ultimate liability
or recovery may exceed or be less than the revised estimates.

Each operating company separately establishes, maintains and evaluates
its respective provisions for unpaid claims for statutory reporting
purposes. The process undertaken by each operating company includes
evaluating all of its respective policy coverages and paid and open claim
level data to ascertain claim frequency and severity trends, as well as the
effects, if any, of inflation and the impact that any premium rate action
or changes in operating structure or process may have on future loss
settiements. The management of each operating company works with
reporting segment management to ensure 1BNR reserve methodologies
are appropriate, based on lines of business and geographic region.
Management incorporates all of the above information to record its best
estimate of fiabilitigs for unpaid claims.

Once an amount for liabilities for unpaid claims is established by )

management, our independent appointed actuary revisws management’s
methodolegies, data and work papers to ascertain whether the provision
for unpaid claims as established by management is reasonably stated and
within the appointed independent actuary’s range of reserve estimates.
The provisions for unpaid claims established by each operating company
are then consolidated for public reporting purposes. In accordance
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with actuarial standards, in the United States the independent actuary
develops a range of reserve estimates and a recommended point estimate
of reserves, and in Canada develops a point estimate.

As of December 31, 2003, the range of raserve estimates for unpaid
claims for our U.S. subsidiaries established by our independent appointed
actuary and the actual provision for unpaid claims on a gross basis for
each of our operating companies were as follows:

(in millions of Canadian doliars)

United States Low High Actual
Lincoln General Insurance Company $ 6338 8 8326 S 726.3
American Country Insurance Company 146.8 187.9 164.2
American Service Insurance Company 632 796 751
U.S. Security Insurance Company 78.7 87.4 81.3
Universal Casualty Insurance Company 38.9 55.5 46.1
Southern United Fire insurance Company 3486 418 371
Kingsway Reinsurance Corporation (Barbadas} 6.7 6.7 6.7
$ 10207 S 12915 8 1136.8
Canada
Kingsway General Insurance Company S 420.5
Jeveo Insurance Company 489
York Fire & Casualty Insurance Company 63.5
Tota! Cansolidated Pravision for Unpaid Claims S 1,669.7

Our policy as of December ‘31, 2003 is, and in the future will be, that to
the extent that management's estimates of reserve levels at our individual
insurance subsidiaries are less than the point estimates recommended by
our independent actuary, those reserve levels will be adjusted to levels
that are no less than the recommended point estimate. Under Canadian
eciuarial practice the appointed actuary does not provide a range of
raserve estimates, but provides a point estimate for estimated claims
lizbilities. -Each of our Canadian subsidiaries recorded at least 100% of
the point estimate recommended by the appointed actuary.

During 2003 we significantly strengthened both reserves, on individual
cleim files (case reserves) and our IBNR reserves. At December 31, 2003
cur U.S. operations increased case reserves by 42%, IBNR by 85% and
total reserves by 61% compared to December 31, 2002 and our Canadian
oparations also increased case reserves by 63%, IBNR by 58% and total
reserves by 61%.
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The following table summarizes the provisions for unpaid claims, net of recoveries from reinsurers, established as at the end of the years 1993 through
2002 for our Canadian operations and at the end of years 1998 to 2002 for our U.S. operations. The table compares the re-estimation of those liabilities

as at Cecember 31,2003.

as at December 31, 2003.
(In thousands of Canadian dollars, except percentages)

2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996 1995 1994 1993
Unpaid claims -
originally established
- end of year, gross 1,669,734 1,200,554 589,963 435,322 444,689 446,245 198,186 - - -
Less: Reinsurance
recoverable on
unpaid losses 155,445 134,198 102,734 92,548 119,817 135,270 73,242 - - -
Unpaid claims -
ariginally established - ) . . .
.- end of year, net . 1,514,289 1,066,356 487,229 =~ 342776 324872 310,975 124,944 65,142 24,322 16,987 10,945
Cumulative paid as of:
One year later 504,772 382,051 189,801 149,708 141,093 46,083 31,308 13,665 12,384 5984
Two years later 438,175 301,411 233,178 217,108 74,479 42,108 19,404 18,633 8,032
Three years later 383,015 309,888 261,809 91,127 55,214 25,273 22,066 10,347
Four years later 352,025 306.748 108,391 60,230 31,738 25,456 11,739
Five years later 332,990 121,076 66,029 32679 29,300 12,576
Six years later 125,577 68,543 35,884 29,051 14,259
Seven years later ' 71,209 37,419 31,068 14,147
Eight years later 35,870 32515 14,160
Nine years later 30,393 16,834
—:—32 Ten years later 14,573
Re-estimated liahility as of:
One year later - 1,263,138 588,308 377,592 329,069 306,377 112,075 62,022 27,705 22,776 11,395
Two yeafs later ’ 677,729 423,371 346,548 309,629 114,922 65122 27,467 25,6'28, ’ 12,187
Three years later 478,184 367,951 318,226 117,758 66,368 31,707 25,580 12,256
Four years later 399,910 333,109 122,578 66,508 32,254 27,588 12,164
Five years later 345,749 129,697 68,570 32,745 28,243 13,004
Six years late 135544 71,720 34,050 28,225 13,310
Seven years later 74,315 36,520 28,892 13,219
Eight years fater 36,000 32,248 13,652
Ning years later 30,239 16,387
Ten years later 14,253
As at December 31,
2003: Cumulative
(redundancy) deficiency 196,783 190,500 135,408 75,038 34,774 10,600 9173 11,678 13,252 3,308
Cumulative (redundancy)
deficiency asa % of
reserves originally established 18.45% 39.10% 39.50% 23.10% 11.18% 8.48% 14.08% 48.01% 78.01% 30.22%
Re-estimated liability - gross 1,408,616 764,617 547,277 460,181 434,803 203,758 - -
Less: Re-estimated
reinsurance recoverable 145,476 86,888 69,093 60,271 89,054 68,214 -
Re-estimated liability - net 1,263,140 677729 478,184 399,910 345,749 135,544 -
Cumulative (redundancy) -
deficiency-gross ) 208,062 174,654 . 111,955 15,492 (11.442) 5,672 - -

% of reserves origiha\ly eslablishad 17.33% . 29.60% 25.72% 3.48% (2.56%) 2.81% -
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The foregoing table presents the development of unpaid claims liabilities
for 1393 through 2002. The tap ling of the table presents the estimated
liability for unpaid claims recorded at the balance sheet date for each of the
indicated years. This liability represents the estimated amount of losses

and adjustment expenses for claims unpaid at the balance sheet date,

including losses that had been incurred and not reported. The table also
presents the re-estimated liabilities for unpaid claims on a gross basis,
with separate disclosure of the re-estimated reinsurance recoverable on
unpaid claims for years 1997 through 2002. Information related to gross
unpaid claims development is not available for years 1996 and prior.

The development of the provisions for unpaid claims is shown by the
difference between estimates of claims as of the initial year-end and
the re-estimated liability at each subsequent year-end. This is based on
actual payments in full or partial settlement of claims, plus re-estimates
of the claims required for claims still open or claims still unreported.
Favorable development (reserve redundancy) means that the original
claim estimates were higher than subsequently determined. Unfavorable
development {reserve deficiency) means that the original claim estimates
were lower than subsequently determined.

The table presents the cumulative amount paid with respect to 4the
previously recorded liability as of the end of each succeeding year and
the re-estimated amount of the previously recorded liability based on
experience as of the end of the succeeding year. The estimate is increased
orvdecreased as more information about the claims becomes kniown for
individual years. For example, as of December 31, 2003, we had paid
$71.2 million of the currently estimated $74.3 million of claims that had
heen incurred through the end of 1996; thus an estimated $3.1 million
of losses incurred through 1996 remain unpaid as of the current financial
statement date.

The cumulative development represents the aggregate change in the
gstimates over afl prior years. For example, unpaid claims at December 31,
1993 have developed adversely by $3.3 million over the ten subsequent
years and unpaid claims at December 31, 1995 have developed adversely
by §11.7 million over the eight subsequent years. The effects on income
durin‘g the past three years due to changes in estimatas of unpaid claims is
shown in note 8(b) to the Consolidated Financial Statements as the “prior
years” contribution to incurred losses.

Each cumulative development amount includes the effects of all changes
in amounts during the current year for prior periods and the impact of
currency transtation. For example, the amount of the development related
1o losses settled in 2003, but incurred in 1998, will be included in the
cumulative development amounts for years 1998, 1899, 2000, 2001 and
2002. In addition, the deficiency identified during the year 2093 of $196.8
million was attributable to unpaid claims as at December 31, 2002 for
unpaid claims for the year 2002 and all prior years. Of this deficiency,
$107.4 million refated to claims occurring in accident year 2002, $34.6
million to claims occurring in 2001, $22.9 million to claims in 2000, $19.3
miltion to claims occurring in 1999 and $6.8 million to claims occurring
in 1997 and prior years.

The following table is derived from the unpaid claims re-estimates table
above and summarizes the effect of re-estimates, net of reinsurance,
on calendar year operétfons for the nine-year period ended December
31, 2003. The total of each column details the amount of reserve re-
estimates made in the indicated calendar year and shows the accident
years to which the re-estimates are applicable. The amounts in the total
accident year column represent the cumulative reserve re-estimates for
the indicated accident year.

{in mittions of Canadian doliars)

4
By Accident Year 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 1998 1995 &ngr?or
By Calendar Year
2003 (196,783) 107,362 34,608 - 22.854 19,318 6,794 3,252 343 1,489 (2,009)
2002 {101,079} 55,301 24,374 6,521 - 7.765 "3.969 680 (886) 3,355
2001 (33,874) 13,695 8,483 7173 2,783 737 638 345
2000 3,388 (6,651) 423 2,697 (351) 509 (13)
1999 6,377 (9.224) 1,601 823 (107) 654
1908 12,869 {15,968) (1,120} 223 2,009
1997 3120 (3.338} 190 48
1996 (3.383} 531 2,852
1995 (5.789) 5,789
Total (196,783) 6,283 56,035 64,309 34,048 25,800 1,453 (2.98%) (1,194) 13.030
Combined Ratio
As reported 101.4% 99.8% 99.1% 101.0% 102.6% 93.9% 95.8% 95.6% 96.6%
Net reserve re-estimates {8.3%) 0.4% 6.4% 1.9% 76% 8.2% 0.8% (2.8%) (2.6%) 3%
Accident year combined ratio 93.1% 100.2% 105.5% 112.9% 110.2% 1021% 96.6% 92.8% 94.0%
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Information with respect to our fiability for unpaid claims and the subsequent
development of those claims is presented in the following tables.

Liability for Unpaid Claims December 31,
{in thousands of Canadian doliars)

Line of Business 2003 2002
Non-Standard Auto $ 518,423 § 401876
Standard Auto 55,856 28.967
Commercial Auto 187,363 187.705
Trucking 567,326 320.708
Motercycle 56,521 5410
Property & Liability 223,775 192.023
Other 60,470 5.884
Total ’ S 1669734 S 1,200534
Liability for Unpaid Claims - Nt of Reinsurance Recovarebles December 31,

{in thousands of Canadian dollars}

Line of Business 2003 2002
Non-Standard Auto $ 509,606 S 380193
Standard Auto 50,801 25.024
Commercial Auto 178,389 175.097
Trucking 518,242 291.738
Moiorcycle 44,434 45.383
Property & Liability 165,876 143,786
Other 46,941 4,934
Total S 1,514,289 S 1066.356

These increases (decreases) in prior year incurred claims, net of
reinsurance, for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001
were:S196,8 million, $101.1 million and $33.9 million, respectively.

The following tables identify the relative contribution of the increases

(decreases) in incurred claims attributable to the respective products and

incurred loss years.

Year Ended December 31, 2003
{in thousands of Canadian dollars)

Naa-
Standard  Stenderd  Property &

Motorcycle  Trucking Auto A0 Liability Other Total
1998
andprior 152 $ 3531 § 1224 S 8025 & 1958 S (269) S 1284
1999 278 821 1.623 13.814 2,02 850 19,318
2000 1,929 1732 4,875 1718 2,253 316 22,854
2001 394 14,547 2,648 18,622 1,908 (3.331) 34608
2002 (766) 11.813 3.327 60,348 7817 24.825 107.362
Total $ 1987 $32442 S 13,697 S$110,336 $16038 $22231 $i196.783
Year Ended December 31, 2002
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

Non-
Standard  Stenczrd  Property &

Motorcycle  Trucking Auto Autp Liability Other Total
1997 o
andprior $ 3,210 § {¢87)$  (108) S 402 S 104 S 3y s 7118
1998 {71} 3346 2,675 1,068 614 133 7765
1999 396 177 1,692 2,212 1,038 8 8521
2000 1.864 3,107 6,096 126354 173 {520) 24374
2001 336 4.575 6,051 42,981 1.385 (27) 55,301
Total $ 5735 $ 11718 S 16,406 S$643:77 S 3312 S {£09) $101.079

Year Ended December 31, 2001

(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

Non-
Standard  Standard Property &

Motorcycle  Trucking Auto Auto Liability Other Total
1996
andprior$ 35 § 9¥$ (120) $ 125 $ 540 S 38 § 1740
1997 66 385 303 1.868 171 (10} 2,783
1998 1,480 255 470 4,881 76 " 7173
1989 1,447 1919 {161) 4,942 295 41 8,483
2000 553 1923 1,991 919 399 290) 13,695
Totat $ 3581 $ 4473 § 2483 $22066 $ 1481 $ (210) $33.874

The results for the year ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 were
adversely affected by the evaluation of unpaid claims related to prior
years that identified a net deficiency of $196.8 millian and $101.1 million,
respectively related to claims incurred during prior years.

The following table shows the sources of the prior years’ development in
the U.S. and Canada by line of business.

Increase (decrease) in claims incurred for unpaid claims arising from prior periods

Net of External Reinsurance
(in millions of Canadian dollars)

2003 2002
United States Operations
MGA program non-standard automobile $ 211§ 1.3
Florida non-standard automobile 19.2 9.5
Trucking ' 18.4 142
Commercial automobile 15.3 1.7
Southern United non-standard automobile 4.9 16.3
Other . . 13.9 (7.7)
Subtotal U.S. operations ’ 928 35.3
Canadian Operations
Alberta non-standard automobile 345 16.3
Ontario private passenger automobile 328 26.4
Trucking 14.0 6.4
Commercial automobile 18.6 8.7
Other 4.1 8.0
Subtotal Canadian cperations 104.0 65.8
Total increases in claims incurred for unpaid claims

occurring prior to December 31, 2002 $ 1968 $ 1011
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United States Operations

MGA Programs Non-Standard Automobile

Lincoln General Insurance Company experienced adverse development
on its MGA non-standard automobile programs of $21.1 milion in
2003 and $1.3 million in 2002. The adverse development was related
to the accident year 2002 and primarlly related to the trend of liability
settlements in the California market.

Florida Non-Standard Automobile

In 2002 and 2003, the increase in personal injury protection litigation
in Florida gave rise to increased estimates for allocated loss adjustment
expenses. The increase in ltigation was caused in part by plaintiffs’
attorneys bringing separate actions for each clinic or claimant, rather
than consolidating cases, and by delays in claims handling due to
difficulty in hiring enough qualified claims adjusters. Staffing issues have
been alleviated resulting in a 33% decline in monthly suit counts since
September 2002. At December 31, 2003, the provision for unpaid claims
for non-standard automobile in Florida was $81.3 million, which was in

excess of the point estimate recommended by the independent actuary. -

The range of reserve estimates for unpeid claims established by our
independent appointed actuary was from S76.7 million to $87.4 million.
Adverse development related to Florida non-standard auto business was
$19.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 comparad to $9.5
million for 2002. Average unpaid claims resarves were increased by 28%
in 2003, whereas average settements increased by only 17%.

Florida Non-Standard Automabile
{inU.S. dollars) ,

Number of Claims Average Dollars
Total
Pending Total Total Unpaid
asol PReported  Settled Claim Settled
12/31 e In Reserve Claim
2003 12,569 32,792 32,558 S 2,846 S 2,302
2002 12,335 32,098 29,895 § 2217 S 1969 .
2001 . 3932 2103t 11,099 $ 1879 . § 1657 .

Long-Haul Trucking

At December 31, 2003 and 2002 the provision for unpaid claims for
our U.S. long-haul trucking business was $453.5 million, and $267.4
million, respectively. Adverse development related to long-haul trucking
business in the U.S. was $18.4 million for the year ended December 31,
2003 compared to $14.2 million in 2002. Development was experienced
at Lincoln General Insurance Company on the trucking liability line of
business for accident years 2001 and 2002. This development was the
result of reserve strengthening in the current year for prior years due to
the availability of more recent trends in loss settlement patterns that was
not available at year end 2002.

Commercial Automobile :

At December 31, 2003 and 2002 the provision for unpaid claims for
our U.S. commercial automobile business was $143.0 million, and
$168.4 million, respectively. Adverse development related to commercial
automobile in the U.S. was $15.3 million for the year ended December
31, 2003 compared to $1.7 million in 2002. During 2003 we carried out
a more extensive analysis of both internal and external data to determine
appropriate levels of indemnity and allocated loss adjustment expenses
for our taxi business at American Country. American Country now
incorporates a more extensive analysis of both internal and external data
as well as redefining the internal costs to be allocated to loss adjustment
expenses. Additional development was experienced at Lincoln General
Insurance Company on the commercial automobile fiability line of business
for accident years 2001 and 2002, similar to the long-haul trucking line of
business. This development was the result of reserve strengthening in the
current year for prior years due to the avaitability of more recent trends in
loss settlement patterns that was not available at year end 2002.

Southern United Non-Standard Automobile

Although average settlements have remained consistent from 2001 to
2003, average reserves have increased 85% over the same period.
The justification for this case reserve increase is that claims activities in
newer territories such as South Carolina are developing with greater than
expected frequency and severity requiring additions to the reserves. At
December 31, 2003, the provision for unpaid claims for non-standard
automobile at Southern United was $37.1 million, which was in excess of
the point estimated recommended by the independent actuary. The range
of reserve estimates for unpaid claims established by our independent
appointed actuary was from $34.6 million to $41.8 miliion. Adverse
development related to Southern United non-standard auto business
improved to $4.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 compared

- t0 $6.3 million for 2002.

At Southern United we have put new management in place and have

increased the quality and number of our claims staff to ensure that
claims are investigated and adjudicated promptly and to avoid delays in
establishing reserves for the ultimate cost of personal injury claims.

Southern United Non-Standard Automobile

{in U.S. doliars)
Number of Claims Average Dollars
Total
Pending Tota! Total Unpaid
asof  Reported Settled Claim Settled
12/31 In in Reserve Claim
2003 5399 27,844 30,199 $ 5801 § 1,790
2002 7754 36632 38239 $ 4383 § 1707
2001 9,351 35,720 32,125 § 3128 § 1792 L'O

35
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Canadian Operations

Alberta Non-Standard Automobile

Alberta non-standard automobile business contributed $34.5 million
of the prior years’ claims development in 2003, compared to $16.3
million in 2002. An increase in average reserves due to the continued
escalation in bodily injury claim settlements as well as the standardization
of our reserving methodology was the reason for the adverse claims
development in 2002 and 2003 in Alberta, where we increased sxisting
case reserves based on actual setilement patterns.

Ontario Private Passenger Automobile

Adverse development of our Ontario automobile business claims liabilities
was driven by several factors. The following chart identifies the number
of reported-claims and the increase in reserves and settled claims from
2001 through 2003. The increase in fraudulent claims, the erosion of
the tort threshold and accelerating health cost infiation contributed to the
required increase in claims liabilities related to prior years. During that
period we continued to revise our reserve methodology to react to the
changing claims settlement environment. Although our average claims
reserves at December 31, 2003 exceeded our average settlements in
2003, we expect claim settlements to approximate our current reserving
position in the future.

“Ontario Frivate Passenger Automobile

Number of Claims Average Dollars
Total
Pending Total Tota! Unpaid

asof Reported Settled Claim Settled

12/31 In tn Reserve Claim
2003 4,859 9,376 9,609 $30,865 § 9,792
2002 5092 n71 11,700 $19774 $ 8619
2001 5,08t 12,529 12,473 $14,366 § 5,866

Evolving casé law and the ercsion of the tort threshold in Ontario has led
to an extension of the reporting period during which a plaintiff may bring
suit. The adverse development experienced by us was part of an industry
wide adverse development situation that began to materialize in 2000
and continued through 2003. The escalation in health cost infiation and
the higher incidence of fraud in Ontario significantly exceeded industry
expectations. ’

Also, beginning in 2000, we identified significantly increased frequency
and severity trends in health care costs in-Ontario where we are required
to offer unlimited coverages and much higher fiability limits than our other
markets. As changes to Ontario automobite policies have occurred, the
changes have been reflected in our assessment of unpaid claims for
current and prior years as well as our assessment of claims that occur in
future periods. As a result, we increased our estimate for unpaid claims
relating to automebile third party liability claims incurred prior to 2003.

- The estimated provisions related to automobile accident benefit claims
were also increased as the assumed inflation rate and severity factors
previously utilized were found to be inadequate based on the actual
development experienced in 2003. We increased our reserves related
to tort liability and revised our expected loss estimates for automobile
accident benefit claims in our 2003 unpaid claims liabilities to account
for the upward changes in both health care cost inflation and severity.
Actuarial assumptions were also ¢hanged in 2003 to account for the shift
-in los$ development trends. The numerous changes to Ontario automobile
legislation and court decisions throughout the 1990's has inhibited the
Canadian insurance industry's ability to accurately predict the ultimate
claims liabilities associated with Ontario automobile policies, which
includes automobile, trucking and motorcycle risks. Bill 198 was enacted
in late 2002 and in addition favourable regulations weare implemented
during 2003. We have also been able to obtain significant rate increases
in 2002 and 2003 for our Ontario automobile products. tn addition to the
enactment of more favorable automobile insurance legistation in Ontario
to combat fraud and control the tort claims in the no-fauit system, we
believe we have taken the necessary steps to reflect the uitimate cost of
claims from these years.

- Trucking and Commercial Automobile

At December 31, 2003 and 2002 the provision for unpaid claims for our
Canadian trucking and commercial automobile business was $158.2
million and $81.8 million, respectively. Increases in reserves were dug to
larger than anticipated settiements, particularly in the U.S.. which required
upward adjustments to open claim files. Average claim file reserves were
increased to reflect this pattern of settiement. Case reserves were
increased to reflect the increased cost on injury claims similar to the
de_velopment experienced on the Ontario automobile business.
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Reinsurance

We purchase reinsurance from third parties in order to reduce our liability
on individual risks and our exposure to catastrophic events, Reinsurance
is insurance purchased by one insurance company from another for part of
the risk originally underwritten by the purchasing insurance company. The
practice of ceding insurance to reinsurers allows an insurance company
to reduce its exposure 1o Joss by size, geographic area, type of risk or on
a particular policy. An effect of ceding insurance is to permit an insurance
company to write additional insurance for risks in greater number or in
larger amounts than it would otherwise insure independently, having
regard to its statutory capital, risk tolerance and other factors.

We generally purchase reinsurance to limit our net exposure to a maximum
amount on any one loss of $500,000 in Canada and US$500,000 in the
United States with respect to_property claims and $1.0 million in Canada
and US$1.0 million in the United States with respect to liability claims. In
addition, we purchase catastrophe reinsurance which provides coverage
in the event of a series of claims arising out of a single occurrence,
which limits this exposure in Canada to $5.0 million per occurrence to a
maximum coverage of $50.0 million, and in the.United States to US$5.0
miflion per occurrence to a maximum coverage of US$50.0 million. On
January 1, 2003, our net exposure for Ontario automaobile busines's claims
was increased to $2.5 million. For most of the non-standard automobile
business that we write in the United States, the liahility is limited to the
minimum  statutory liability limits, which are typically not greater than

Gross and Net Premiums Written
@ Gross

B net

{8 milkong)

92% 94% 95% 95% 969
Retention

US$40,000 per occurrence, depending on the state. The cost of our
external. reinsurance representad 4.7% of gross premiums written for the
year ended December 31, 2001, 5.4% for the year ended December 31,
2002, and 4.5% for the year ended December 31, 2003.

Reinsurance ceded does not relieve us of our ultimate liability to our
insureds in the event that any rsinsurer is unable to meet its obligations
under its reinsurance contracts. We therefore enter into reinsurance
contracts with only those reinsurers who we bzlieve have sufficignt
financial resources to provide the requested coverage. Reinsurance
treaties are generally subject to cancellation by our reinsurers or us
on the anniversary date and are subject to renegotiation annuatly. Ve
regularly evaluate the financial condition of our reinsurers and monitor the
concentrations of credit risk to minimize our exposure to significant losses
as a result of insolvency of a reinsurer. We believe that the amounts we
have recorded as reinsurance recoverables are appropriately established.
However, estimating amounts of reinsurance recoverables is subject 1o
various uncertainties and the amounts ultimately recoverable may vary
from amounts currently recorded. As of December 31, 2003, we had
$176.3 miltion recoverable from third party reinsurers and other insurers,
which are generally unsecured. At December 31, 2003, 93% of the
receivables were due from reinsurers that were ratad “A-" or higher.

Estimating amounts of reinsurance recoverables is also impacted by the
uncertainties involved in the establishment of provisions for unpaid claims.
As our underlying reserves continue to develop. the amount ultimataly
recoverable may vary from amounts currently recorded. Our reinsurance
recoverables are generally unsecured, We regularly evaluate our reinsurers,
and the respective amounts recoverable, and a provision for uncollectable
reinsurance is recorded, if needed. The following table summarizes the
composition of the amounts due from reinsurers at December 31, 2003,
by the rating as assigned by A.M. Best to the applicable reinsurers.

December'31, 2003
A.M. Best Rating

A+t
As
A

A-
B++/B+/B/B-
C++u/C

Not Rated

Total

E YA
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Results of Operations

For the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002

Gross Premiums Written

During the year ended December 31, 2003, premiums written increased
by 24% to $2.6 billion compared to $2.1 billion in 2002. For the year
ended December 31, 2003, gross premiums written for our U.S.
operations were $2.0 billion, an increase of 21% over 2002, and for
our Canadian operations were $654.9 million, an increase of 33% over
2002. The effect of currency translation reduced reported levels of gross
premiums written for the U.S. operations by $234.8 million or 11% for the
year ended December 31, 2003 compared to 2002.

Gross Premiums Written
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For the year ended December 31, 2003, gross premiums wvritten from
trucking and commercial automobile increased 31% to S1.1 billion
compared to $844.4 million in 2002. Gross premiums written from non-
standard automobile increased 17% to $966.1 million in 2003 compared
to 2002. increased premium rates and firming market conditions
continue to be prevalent in all of our geographic locations. We continue to
experience both volume growth and rate increases for both trucking lines
and non-standard automobile in most of our markets, with the exception
of Ontario and metropolitan Chicago where rate increases have led to a
reduction in volume.

Net Premiums Written

Net premiums written increased 25% to $2.5 billion compared with $2.0
billien for the year ended December 31, 2002 as a result of higher levels
of gross premiums written and a reduction in the percentage ceded to

reinsurers. Net premiums written from our U.S. operations increased 23% -

to $1.9 billion compared with $1.5 billion in the year ended December
31, 2002, Net premiums written from our Canadian operations increased
33% to $616 million compared with $463 miltion for the year ended
Decembeér 31, 2002,

Net Premiums Earned

it premiums earned increased 37% to a record $2.4 billion for the year
ended December 31, 2003, compared with $1.7 billion for 2002. For our
U.S. operations, net premiums earned increased 38% to $1.8 billion in the
yzar ended December 31, 2003 compared with $1.3 billion in 2002, and
for our Canadian operations increased by 33% to $554 million compared
with $415 million in 2002. Net premiums earned have increased due to

. tha growth in written premiums in _2002 and 2003 and the strategy of -

shortening the policy duration of most of our non-standard automobite
business to six month policy terms. In a rising rate environment, shorter
palicy terms lead to an acceleration of the benefit of rate increases.

investment Income

fnvestment income increased to $78.4 million compared with $64.9
million for the year ended December 31, 2002. The investment portfolio
hizs grown by 28% since the beginning of 2003 due to positive cash flow
ifrom operations and capital raised. This growth has been accomplished
in a declining interest rate environment with new funds being invested
primarily in short-term fixed income products. Our annualized investment
yizld for December 31, 2003 declined to 3.3% compared to 3.9% in 2002
refiacting the trend in short-term interest rates.

Net Reé|ized Gains

Hzt realized gains amounted to $55.0 million in the year ended December
31, 2003 compared with net realized gains of $16.3 million in 2002,
Thes majority of these gains were realized from the disposal of equity
investments, including the disposal of an investment in USA Insurance
Group which amounted to $18.8 million. As a result of our increased
investment in common shares during 2003 and improved market
parformancs, unrealized gains increased to $52.5 million at December
31, 2003 compared to $32.6 million at December 31, 2002. In deciding
whether to reduce the carrying value of common shares, we fake into
account a number of factors, including whether the decline in market value
is more than 20% and has persisted for a period exceeding six months. In
the case of fixed income securities, we also take into account whether the
issuer is in financial distress (unable to pay interest or some other situation
that would question the issuer's ability to satisfy their debt obligations).

Claims Incurred

Qur claims ratio for 2003 was 74.3%, compared to 71.4% for 2002. The
ciaims ratio for our U.S. operation was 71.5%, compared with 69.2% for
2002. The claims ratio for our Canadian operation was 83.7% compared
to 78.3% for 2002. The results for 2003 and 2002 reflect increasss
in provisions for unpaid claims occurring prior to December 31, 2002
and December 31, 2001, respectively. These increases amounted to
approximately $196.8 million, which increased the claims ratio by 8.3%
for 2003, compared to $101.1 million and 5.8%, respectively, for 2002,

g -
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For our U.S. operations, prior years' claims development increased the
claims incurred by $92.8 million, 2 5.1% increase to the claims ratie,
in 2003 compared to $35.3 million, & 2.7% increase 1o the claims ratio
in 2002. In 2003, the source of the prior years’ development in the
U.S. operation was primarily split between long haut trucking ($18.4
million), and non-standard auto ($45.2 miflion). Our MGA non-standard
automobile business represented $21.1 million of the total U.S. operations
prior years' claims development in 2003 compared to $1.3 miflion in
2002. We adjusted our initial loss developrent factors on a number of
our MGA programs to reflect actual loss trends experienced in 2003
and these new loss development factors will be used in the prospective
reserving process. Florida non-standard auto contributed $19.2 million
of the adverse development in 2003, compared to $9.5 million in 2002.
Continued cost escalation of loss adjusting expenses and an increase in
the number of files litigated in Florida non-standard auto required upward
adjustments to open claims reserves for both the current and prior years.

For our Canadian operations, prior years' claims development increased
the ciaims incurred by $104.0 mitfion, a 18.8% increase to the claims
ratio, in 2003 compared to $65.8 million, a 15.9% increase to the claims
ratio, in 2002. Kingsway General’s Alberta non-standard automobile
business contributed $34.5 million of the prior years’ claims development
in 2003, compared to $16.3 million in 2002. An increase in average
reserves due to the continued escalation in bodily injury claim settlements
was the reason for the adverse claims development in 2003 for Alberta
non-standard automobile, where we increased existing case reserves
based on actual settlement patterns. Qur Ontario private passenger
automobile business contributed $32.8 million of the prior years' claims
development in 2003, compared to $26.4 million in 2002. Continued
health care cost inflation and bodily injury award increases beyond
expected levels required reserve Jevels to be increased on open files for
Ontario non-standard automobile on average by approximately 56% in
2003. Our Canadian trucking business contributed $14.0 million to the
2003 prior years’ claims development, compared to $6.4 mitlion in 2002.
Increases in reserves were due to larger than anticipated settlements,
particularly in-the U.S., which required upward adjustments to open claim
files. Average claim file reseNes were increased in 2003 to refleci this
pattern of settlement. Qur commercial automobile business in Canada
contributed $18.6 milfion of the prior years’ claims development in 2003
compared to $8.7 million in 2002. Case reserves were increased to reflect
the increased cost on injury claims similar to the development experienced
on the Ontario automobile business. We conducted a detailed claim file
review of our Canadian operations during 2003 to determine the adequacy
of case reser\}ing. As a result, revised guidelines have been established
for setting reserves for new bodily injury and accident benefit claims
in all provinces and for all lines of business. In addition, new Ontario
automobile regulations curtailing health care costs and increasing tort
award deductibles should reduce the cost escalation trends experienced
over the last several years.

Underwriting Expenses .

Our expense ratio for 2003 improved to 27.1% compared to 28.4% in
2002. The expenée ratio for our Canadian operations for 2003 was
28.1%, compared to 30.1% in 2002 and the expense ratio for our U.S,
operations was 26.8% and 28.0%, respectively, in 2003 and 2002, In
order to be more consistent with industry practice and the treatment of
expenses on MGA business, effective October 1, 2002, we initiated the
deferral of underwriting and marketing costs relaling to the acquisition
of premiums on all of our business, where previously such deferral was
applied only to our MGA business. The impact of this change was an
increase in net income of $7.4 million for 2003 compared to $4.2 million
in 2002.

Combined Ratio

The combined ratio deteridrated to 101.4% compared with 99.8% in 2002,
which produced an underwriting loss of $33.9 million compared with an
underwriting profit of $2.6 million in 2002. For 2003, our U.S. cperations
combined ratio was 98.3% (97.2% in 2002) and for our Canadian
operations combined ratio increased to 111.8% (108.4% in 2002). The
combined ratio increased by 8.3% and 5.8% for the year ended December
31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, due to prior year claims development.
For our US. operations prior year claims development increased the
combined ratio by 5.1% in 2003 and 2.7% in 2002, and for the Canadian
operations by 18.8% in 2003 and 15.9% in 2002. Assessments from the
residual market (Facility Association) in Ontario were $6.3 million in 2003
and $1.4 miffion in 2002 which also increased the Canadian operations
combined ratio by 1.1% in 2003 and 0.3% in 2002.

Interest Expense

Interest expense for 2003 was $21.0 million, compared to $12.3 million
in 2002, reflecting the issuance of $78 milfion in senior unsscured
debentures in December 2002 and several private placements of 30-year
floating rate subordinated debentures in the U.S. totaling $116.0 million,

Net Income and Earnings Per Shqre

Income before income taxes for 2003 increased by 10% to $77.6 million,
comparedto $70.7 million in 2002. Income taxes were affected by income
generated in lower tax jufisdictions coupled with losses from 6ur Canadian
operations in both 2002 and 2003. Net income for 2003 was $85.3
million, a 7% increase over the $79.5 million reported for 2002, Diluted
earnings per share were $1.62 for 2003, compared to $1.61 for 2002.

Currency Translation

We report our results in Canadian dollars whereas we have a significant
part of our operations denominated in U.S. dollars. During 2003 the
Canadian dollar appreciated significantly against the U.S. dollar which
impacted our reported results in 2003 compared to 2002. Currency
translation reduced gross premiums written by $234.8 milion, net
premiums earned by $226.1 milion, investment income by $10.8 million,

net income by $10.5 million and earnings per share by $0.20 compared HH

to the same translation rates prevailing in 2002.
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Book Value Per Share and Return on Equity

For 2003, shareholders’ equity was reduced by $105.4 million and book
value per share by $1.88 or 18% as a result of the unrealized currency
translation adjustment on the conversion of the investment in the U.S.
operations into Canadian dollars. Despite this adjustment, book value
per share increased to $12.63 from $12.56 at December 31, 2002.
Our annualized return on equity was 12.9% for 2003 compared to 13.8%
in 2002.

Balance Sheet

" Total assets as at December 31, 2003 grew to $3.6 billion, compared to

$3.0 billion as at December 31, 2002. The investment portfolio, including

cash and accrued investment income, increased to $2,674.1 million

(market value $2,726.7 million), compared to $2,094.9 million (market
value $2,127.5 miflion} as at December 31, 2002, investment portfalio per
share increased 12% to $47.90 compared to $42.93 as at December 31,
2002. Unrealized gains on the investment portfolio were $52.5 miltion (94
cents per share outstanding) at December 31, 2003 compared to $32.6
million (67 cents per share) at December 31, 2002.

Expense Ratio

(%} @ Totat Expenses

Book Value Per Share

&
12.56 12.63
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Results of Operations

For the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001

Grass Premiums Written )

QOur. gross premiums written in 2002 increased 99% to $2.1 billioﬁ,
compared with $1.1 billion in 2001. Gross premiums written for our
U.S. operations in 2002 increased 130% to $1.6 billion, compared with
$709.2 million in 2001. For 2002, U.S. operations represented 77% of
gross premiums written compared with 67% in 2001, Gross premiums
written from Canadian operations in 2002 increased 38% to $490.8
million compafed with $356.0 million in 2001.

Gross premiums written from non-standard automobile increased 52%

to $828.1 million over 2001. Non-standard automobile insurance covers -

drivers who do not qualify for standard automobile insurance coverage
because of their payment history, driving record, place of residence, age,
vehiclg type or other factors. In 2002, we continued to experience both
volume growth and rate increases in most of our non-standard automobile
markets. In Canada, we implemented rate increases in early 2002 and
again in the third quarter of 2002 to improve the profitability of our Ontario
automobile business. During the third quarter, we obtained approval for a
rate increase as well as permission to eliminate certain classes of risk in
Ontario, The impact of these initiatives was to increase rates by an average
of 22.3% and for many of our policyholders in the metropolitan Toronto
area by over 40%. We currently do not offer policy terms of longer than
six months duration for non-standard automobile in Ontario. Our Canadian
operations experienced a 41% increase in non-standard automobile
premiums and our U.S. operations experienced a 55% increaée from
existing markets compared to 2001.

In 2002, gross premiums written from trucking and commercial
automobile increased 175% to $844.4 million compared to $307.2 million
in 2001, As a result of the market conditions, we experienced growth
through additional new business as well as through the ability to charge
higher premiums for the business. Trucking and commercial automobile
represented 40% of gross premiums written in 2002 compared with 29%
in 2001. '

The programs that we started to implement with MGAs in the United
States during the last half of 2001 for non-standard automobile, trucking
and commercial automobile expanded in 2002. In 2002 these programs
generated $961.4 million or 45% of our gross premiums written compared

with $206.0 million or 19% in 2001, We were able to grow this aspect -

of our business due to limited competition, and as a result, we were able

to implement more favorable pricing than the companies we replaced. in '

each of these arrangements, the MGAS’ compensation is dependent on
the underwriting profit they generate.

American Country was acquired on April 5, 2002 and its results have been
consolidated with our U.S. operations since March 31, 2002. American
Country contributed $36.0 million or 3% of the increase in our gross
premiums written during 2002.

Net Premiums Written

Net premiums written in 2002 increased 98% to $2.0 billion compared
with $1.0 billion for 2007. Net premiums written from our U.S. operations
in 2002 increasad 128% to $1.5 billion compared with $679.1 million
for 2001, Net premiums written from our Canadian operations increased
38% to $463.0 million from $335.9 million for 2001. The Increase in net
premiums written is attributable to the aforementioned increases in gross
premiums written. In 2002, reinsurance premiums ceded represented
5.4% of gross premiums writien compared o 4.7% in 2007 as a result of
the increased cost of reinsurance coverages.

Net Premiums Earned

Net premiums earned for 2002 increased 999% to $1.7 billion, compared
with $872.8 million for 2001. For U.S. operations, net premiums earned
for 2002 increased 140% io $1,322.5 million compared with $550.9
million in 2001. Net premiums earned from our Canadian operations
for 2002 increased by 29% to $415.2 million compared with $321.9
million for 2001. Earned premiums grew due to the increase in written
premiums.

Investment Income
Investment income for 2002 increased to $64.9 million compared with
$52.6 million for 2001. The growth in our premiums written generated
positive cash flow from operations which increased the investment
portfolio by $600.4 million during 2002, which was offset by the impact
of fower interest rates.

Net Realized Gains

Net realized gains amoun'ted to $16.3 million in 2002 comparéd with
$12.1 million in 2001. Included in net realized gains were adjustme-nts to
the carrying value of investments for declines in market value considered
other than temporary of $6.6 million in 2002 compared to $1.2 million
in 2001.

Claims Incurred )

Qur claims ratio for 2002 was 71.4%, compared to 70.6% for 2001.
The claims ratio for the U.S. operations for 2002 was 69.2% compared
with 68.9% for 2001. The slight deterioration in the U.S. operations
claims ratio was a reflection of adverse claims development amounting
to $35.2 million. The claims ratio for our Canadian operations in 2002
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was 78.3% compared to 73.5% for 2001. The claims ratio for our
Canadian operations was adversely influenced by results from our Ontario
automobile business, which experienced $63.9 million of adverse prior

year claims development. The claims ratio for the Canadian operation for

2002 was 64.6% excluding our Ontario automebile business. For 2002,
net premiums earned from our Ontario automobile business amounted to
$137.0 million, which produced ¢laims incurred of $145.3 million.

Underwriting Expenses

Our expense ratio for 2002 was 28.4%, compared to 28.5% for 2001, The
expense ratio for Canada for 2002 was 30.1%, compared to 29.6% for

2001, and the expense ratio for the U.S, for 2002 was 28.0%, compared

10 27.9% for 2001. In order to bé more consistent with industfy practice
and the treatment of expenses on our MGA business, effective October 1,
2002 we initiated the deferral of underwriting and marketing costs refating
to the acquisition of premiums on all of our business, where previously
such deferral was applied only to our MGA business. The impact of this
change was to defer an additional $6.6 million of underwriting expenses,
which reduced the expense ratio by 0.3% for the year.

Combined Ratio

The combined ratic of 99.8% for 2002 produced an underwriting profit
of $2.6 million, compared with $7.6 million profit reported in 2001, For
2002, the U.S. operations combined ratio was 97.2% (96.8% in 2001)
and for the Canadian operations the combined ratio was 108.4% (103.1%
in 2001‘)‘. The results of our Canadian operations were adversely affected
by resuits from our Ontario automobile business due to increases in
accident benefit loss costs. In 2002, the U.S. operations produced an
underwriting profit of $37.5 million compared to an underwriting profit of
$17.5 million in 2001. The Canadian operations produced an underwriting
loss of $34.9 million compared to a underwriting loss of $9.8 million for
2001, For 2002, our Ontario automobile business generated $137.0

million, or 8%, of net premiums earned at a combined ratio of 131.4%,
and produced an underwriting loss of $43.1 million. The combined ratio
for 2002 and 2001 was influenced by adverse development on prior year

claims. In 2002, adverse development of prior year claims amounted

td $101.1 million, which increased the combined ratio by 5.8% for the
year. Adverse development for prior year claims during the year ended
December 31, 2001 amounted to $33.9 million, which increased the
combined ratio by 3.9% in 2001.

Interast Expense. Interest expense in 2002 was $12.3 million, compared
to $11.4 million for 2001. The increase was primarily the result of an
increase in our bank debt during the year.

Net Income and Earnings Per Share -

Qur net income for 2002 increased 77% to $79.5 million, compared to
$44.8 million in 2001. As a result of a higher proportion of income before
tax being generated in lower tax jurisdictions, and net losses incurred in
higher tax jurisdictions, in 2002, we reported a consolidated income tax
credit of $8.8 million compared to an income tax expense of $10.1 million
in 2001. Prior to January 1, 2002, we amortized goodwill arising from
acquisitions over the applicable useful life of the asset acquired, which in
2001 resulted in expense of $5.8 million after tax. Diluted earnings per
share for 2002 were $1.61, compared to $1.19 in 2001 on 31% more
shares outstanding in 2002.

Book Value Per Share and Return on Equity
Book value per share was $12.56 at December 31, 2002 compared

" to $11.03 at December 31, 2001. Our return on equity was 13.8% in

2002 compared to 13.3% for 2001. Our investment portfolio increased
to $2,094.9 miliion {market value $2,127.5 million) as at December 31,
2002, compared to $1,235.4 million (market value $1,247.0 million) as
at December 31, 2001.
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Financial Condition

Liguidity and Capital Resources . ’

The purpose of liquidity managemeni is to ensure that there is sufficient
cash to meet ali financial commitments and obligations as they fall due.
We beligve that we have the flexibility to obtain, from internal sources, the
funds needed to fulfill our cash requirements during the current financial
year and also to satisfy regulatory capital requirements. However, such
funds may not provide sufficient capital to enable us to pursue additional
market opportunities.

Our insurance operations create liquidity by collecting and investing
premiums from new and renewal business in advance of earning those
premiums and paying claims. This creates a liquid float of money that we
hold on behalf of our poficyholders. We earn investment income on this
float until we pay the claim. As long as we continue to grow and remain
profitable, the float grows and continues to be available for investment.
Net cash provided from the growth in operations in 2001 was $207.3
million, in 2002 was $600.4 milion, and in 2003 was $617.2 million
which significantly increased our investment portfolio. Net cash provided
by financing activities in 2001 was $200.7 million, in 2002 was $129.5
miliion, and in 2003 was $229.4 million. The following is a description of
our various financing arrangements.

Bank Indebtedness

in February 1999, we entered into a US$100 miflion five-year fixed term
unsecured credit facility at a fixed rate of LIBOR plus a spread which
varied with our credit rating. We drew down the facility in full and entered
into an interest rate swap transaction whereby we fixed our rate at 5.91%
plus a spread based on our credit rating or the ratio of funded debt to
total capitalization, whichever is higher, for the term of the facility. As of
December 31, 2003, we were in compliance with all of the covenants
of this credit facllity and we had a principal balance of $101.9 million
(USS80 million}). A principal repayment of US$2.5 million was paid before
December 31, 2003. This facility matured in March 2004.

in May 2002, we entered into a $66.5 million 364 day revolving credit *

facility at a floating interest rate determined based on the type of loan and
our senior unsecured debt rating. The facility was renewed in May 2003.
As of December 31, 2003, the effective interest rate was approximately
3%, we were in compliance with all of the covenants of this credit facility
and we had approximately $53.0 milfion outstanding.

In March 2004 we entered into a $150 million revolving credit facility with
Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce, LaSalle Bank National Association
and The Bank of Nova Scotia which replaced the US$100 million and
$66.5 million facilities. The debt is guaranteed by Kingsway America
and has a maturity date of March 4, 2005. The credit facility contains

numerous covenants fhat limit our ability, ameng other things, to borrow
money, make particular types of investments or other restricted payments,
sell assets, merge or consalidate, pay dividends or redesm capital stock,
and incur liens to secure indebtedness. The facility also requires us to
maintain specified financial ratios.

Canadian Senior Debenture Offering

On December 6, 2002, Kingsway Financial sold $78 miilion aggregate
principal amount of 8.25% senior unsecured debentures due December
31, 2007. The net proceeds of the offering amounted to approximately
$771 million, after the application of the underwriters’ discount “and
commission. The yield on the debentures to maturity is 8.298%. The
debentures are unconditionally guaranteed by Kingsway America.
Kingsway Financial’s obligations under, and Kingsway America’s guarantee
of, the debentures will rank equally with the senior notes described below.
We used a portion of the net proceeds of the senior unsecured debentures
to provide approximately $50 million to Kingsway America to support the
growth of our U.S. operations, approximately $16.4 million to pay a portion
of the amount o'utstanding under our $66.5 million unsecured révolving
credit facility and the balance for general corporate purposes.

U.S. Senior Note Offering

In January 2004 Kingsway America Inc. issued US$100 million 7.50%
senior notes due 2014 in a private offering. The notes are fully and
unconditionally guaranteed by Kingsway Financial. The notes will be
redeemable at Kingsway America's option on or after February 1,
2009. Approximately US$60 million was used to repay existing bank
indebtedness and the remainder will be used for general corporate
purposes. In March 2004 the senior notes offering was reopened and an
additional US$25 million of these senior note were issued. The proceeds
from this reopening were used to repay existing bank indebtedness.

- Subordinated Debt

Since December 2002, Kingsway America issued US$90.5 million in
30-year subordinated deferrable interest debentures in six private
placement transactions. This subordinated debt is described in more detail
in the Contractual Obligations 1able and note thereto set forth below.
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Contractual Obligations

(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

Payrments Due by Period

Contrach= Obbgations 2004 2005 2006 2007 Thereafter Total
Bank ncistxedness  $153895 § - 8 - S - 8 - $153,895
Senior ursecured

debeniuras (i) - - - 78,000 - 78,000
Subordinem=d

indebtacness © - - - 115981 | 115981
Other fisGiitises 2,693 - - 2,685
Total $156,590 $ - 8 - §78000 $115981 8350571

1. Betws=en December 4, 2002 and December 16, 2003, six subsidiary trusts of the

. Comgeny issued U.5.590.5 million of 30 year capital securities to third parties in
seperate private transactions. n each instance, a corresponding floating rate junior
subardinated deferrable interest debenture was then issued by Kingsway America
Inc. © the trust in exchange for the proceeds from the private sale. The floating rate
debenitures bear interest at the rate of the London interbank offered interest rate
for tiwes-month U.S, dofiar deposits, plus spreads ranging from 3.85% to 4.20%,
but until dates ranging from December 4, 2007 to January 8, 2009, the interest
rates will not exceed 12.45% to 12.75%. The Company has the right to call each
of these securities at par anytime after five years from their issuance until their
matity. These debentures are unconditionally guaranteed by Kingsway Financial.
The Tisating rate debenture issued by Kingsway America and Kingsway Financial's
guareniae of all debentures will rank junior to the senior notes issued by Kingsway
Amesica and the guarantee thereof by Kingsway Financial. The net proceeds to the
Comzany were $95,613.000 in 2003 and $22,198,000 in 2002 after deducting
expensas of $6,273,000 and $1,438,000, respectively. The proceeds were used
to increase the capital of our U.S. insurance subsidiaries.

As a result of our capital raising activities, our debt service requirements
are sign"rﬁtantly higher than in prior years. As of December 31, 2003, ona
pro forrr{a basis, giving effect to Kingsway America’s issuance of US$125
million 7.50% senior notes due 2014, we would have had approximately
$398.8 million of total indebtedness. The total amount of our debt service
obligations in 2004 is expected to be approximately $26 milion, For the
year 2003, under the various insurance regulatory restrictions, based on
our December 2003 financial statements, our insurance and reinsurance
subsidiaries would have aggregate dividend capacity of $212.9 million.
Kingsway America’'s payments under its debt obligations are funded
through dividends from its U.S. subsidiaries and capital infusions by
Kingsway Financial.

0ff-Balance Sheet Financing

We do not engage in any off-balance sheet financing arrangements.

Common Share Offering

In July 2003, Kingsway Financial sold 6.71 million common shares.
The shares were sold only in Canada at a price of $16.70 per share
resulting in total gross proceeds of $112.1 million, Approximately $102.4
miflion of the proceeds of the offering were used to increase the capital of
certain of our insurance subsidiaries, and the remainder used for general
corporate purposes.

Standard & Poor’s Rating of Kingsway Financial’s Counterparty
Credit and Senior Unsecured Debt

On September BQ, 2003, Standard & Poor's Ratings Services placed
the counterparty credit and senior unsecured debt ratings of Kingsway
Financial on CreditWatch with negative implications. The credit watch
placement followed the announcement by Kingsway that it had identified a
-shortfall in its prioryears' claims reserving for Kingsway General.

On October 31, 2003, Standard & Poor's announced that it had removed
Kingsway Financial from CreditWatch and lowered its counterparty and

senior unsecured debt credit ratings on Kingsway Financial to "BB8-".
- from “BBB" with a stable outlook. According to Standard & Poor’s, a

BBB- rating (fourth out of nine rating levels) indicates that the obligor
has adequate capacity to meet its financial obligations; however, adverse
economic conditions or changing circumstances are more likely to lead
to a weakened capacity of the obligor tdvmeet its financial commitments.
A plus or minus designation within a ratings category indicates refative
standing within the category.

On January 29, 2004, Standard & Poor’s issued its rating of “BBB-" on the
US$100 mittion of our senior notes due 2014 issued in the private offering
completed in January 2004. On March 8, 2004, Standard & Poor’s issued
its rating of “BBB-" on an additional US$25 million of our senior notes due
2014 issued in the private offering completed in March 2004. According to
Standard & Poor’s, a BBB- rating (fourth out of nine rating levels) indicates
that the obligation has adequate protection parameters; however, adverse
economic conditions or changing circumstances are more likely 1o lead
to a weakened capacity of the obligor to meet its financial commitments
under the obligation. A plus or minus designation within a ratings category
indicates relative standing within the category.

DBRS’s Rating of our Senior Dehentures and Senior Notes

On October 3, 2003, Dominion Bond Rating Service Limited ("DBRS")
confirmed its previous rating of “BBB” with a stable outlook on the Senior
Debentures. Accerding to DBRS, a “BBB” rating (fourth out of nine rating
levels) indicates that protection of interest and principal is considered
adequate, but that the entity is more susceptible to adverse changes
in financial and economic conditions, or there may be other adversities
present which reduce the strength of the entity and its rated securities.
DBRS also assigned a rating trend of “stable” to our Senior Debentures.
According to DBRS, a rating trend gives an indication of what direction the
rating in question is headed should the given conditions and tendencies
continue.

" On February 3, 2004, DBRS issued its rating of "BBB”" with a stable

outlook on US$100 million of our senior notes issued in the private offering
completed in January 2004. On March 9, 2004, DBRS issued its rating of
“BBB" with a stable outlook on an additional US$25 million of our senjor
notes issued in the private offering completed in March 2004.
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Impact of Ratings Changes

We would expect that a downgrade in our rating by either Standard &
Poor’s or DBRS would have a negative impact on our business, such as
causing an increase in the interest rate on our bank credit facility.

Shareholders’ Equity

As a result of the common share offering and our profitability, shareholders’
equity increased to $705.0 million at December 31, 2003 compared to
$612.9 million at December 31, 2002. During 2003, shareholders’ equity
was negatively impacted by the unrealized currency translation adjustment
of our U.S. dollar dencminated net assets into Canadian dollars amounting
to $105.4 million. Book value per share outstanding was $12.63 per share

at December 31, 2003, an increase compared to $12.56 per share at
December 31, 2002. Book value per share at December 31, 2003 was
reduced by $1.88 or 13% due to the unrealized currency translation
adjustment of our U.S. dollar denominated net assets into Canadian
dollars. Book value per share outstanding increased 17% in 1998, 2% in
1999, 13% in 2000, 38% in 2001 and 14% in 2002

Diluted Earnings Per Share
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Legal Proceedings

In the ordinary course of business, we are, from time to time, involved in
various claims and legal proceedings, including class actions. While it is
not possible to estimate the final outcome of these various proceedings at
this time, we do not believe the outcome of such proceedings will have a
material impact on our results.

On July 25, 2003, Kingsway commenced an action against
PricewaterhouseCoopers, LLP, Miller, Herbers, Lehman & Assaciates, Inc.

“and the former Directors of American Country relating to the understatement

of the reserves of American Country's insurance subsidiary for the years
1998 through 2001 and associated costs and damages thereon. These
reserve deficiencies occurred prior to our acquisition of American Country
in April 2002. As a result of the deficiencies, we restated American
Country's financial results for the years ended December 31, 2001 and
2000 and the three months ended March 31, 2002.

Systems and Technology

We believe that efficient information systems are important to processing
policies and claims and retrieving information quickly to interface with our
agents, MGAs and brokers and insureds. Although we believe our current
information systems are sufficient to support the expected growth in our
business, we are reviewing our systems with the iﬁtent of significantly
upgrading and improving their capabilities. We are also in the process
of implementing and expanding an electronic imaging system in our
insurance subsidiaries to provide immediate access to all data and files
andrreduc'e the cost of storage and filing. We also have a point-of-

sale system to make our products readily available through our agents,
MGAs and brokers network, providing our agents, MGAs and brokers
with a direct interface and allowing them to quote and issue policies
electronically. We expect the enhancements and additions to our systems
to increase our operating eificiencies and reduce our operating costs, and
to help us strengthen our important relationships with our independent
agents, MGAs and brokers.

Employees

As of December 31, 2003, we employed approximately 2,027 personnel,
of whom approximately 709 are located in Canada and approximately
1,318 are located in the United States. None of our employees are

represented by a labor union and we have never experienced a work
stoppage. We believe our relationship with our employees is good.
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Risk Factors

Our insurance subsidiaries’ provision for unpaid claims may be
inadequate, which would result in a reduction in our net income.

Qur insurance subsidiaries’ provisions for unpaid claims do not represent
an exact calculation of our actual liability, but are estimates involving
actuarial and statistical projections at a given point in time of what we
expect to be the cost of the ultimate settlement and administration of
known and unknown claims. The process for establishing the provision for
unpaid claims reflects the uncertainties and significant judgmental factors
inherent in predicting future results of both known and unknown claims
and as such, the process is inherently complex and imprecise. Actual
losses from claims may deviate, perhaps substantially, from the provisions
for unpaid claims reflected in our financial statements. As of December
31, 2003, our provisions for unpaid claims were $1,669.7 million, which
we believe are adequate. '

We base our provisions for unpaid claims on facts and circumstances
then known, estimates of future trends in claims severity and other
variable factors such as inflation. Furthermore, factors such as infiation,
claims settlement patterns, legislative activity and litigation trends, all of
which are difficutt to predict, may have a substantial imbact on our actual
claims experience. As time passes and more information about tﬁe claims
becomes known, the estimates are appropriately adjusted upward or
downward to reflect this additional information. Because of the elements
of uncertainty encompassed in this estimation process, and the extended
time it can take to settle many of the more substantial claims, several years
of experience are usually required before a meaningful comparisen can be
made between actual losses and the original provisions for unpaid claims.

The development of the provisions for unpaid claims is shown by the
difference between estimates of -claims as of the initial year-end and
the re-estimated liability at each subsequent year end. Favorable
development (reserve redundancy) means that the original claims

estimates were higher than subsequently determined. Unfavorable |
development (reserve defic'iency) means that the original claims estimates N

were lower than subséquently determined. During 2003, we experienced
reserve deficiencies of $196.8 million on prior periods. Of this deficiency,
17% was related to non-standard automobile, standard automobile
and motorcycle business in Ontario, 9% was related to our commercial
automobile business in Canada, 10% was related to our non-standard
automobile business in Florida, 18% was related to our non-standard
automobile business in Alberta, 11% to our MGA non-standard automobile

programs in the United States, 9% was related to trucking in the United

States, and 7% was related to our trucking business in Canada. Although
we have made adjustments in our reserving practices to reflect this claims
experience, we cannot assure you that these unfavorable trends will not
require additional reserves in the future. In addition, we have in the past,

and may in the future, acquire other insurance companies. We cannot
assure you that the provisions for unpaid claims of the companies that we
acquire are or will be adequate.

To the extent our insurance subsidiaries’ actual claims experience is less
favorable than our current claims estimates reflected in our provisions for
unpaid claims, we will be required to increase our provisions for unpaid
claims which will reduce our profitability in future periods. Moreover,
insufficiencies in our insurance subsidiaries’ provisions for unpaid claims
could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and
financial condition.

We may experience difficully in managing our growth, which could
adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.

We have grown rapidly over the last several years. As a result, our gross
premiums increased 66% in 2001, 99% in 2002 and 24% in 2003. This
growth may place a strain on our management systems and operational
and financial resources. Rapid growth in gross premiums may also place

a strain on the surplus of our subsidiaries. We plan to continue to expand

our specialty focus into selected regional markets in the United,States
and Canada and to increase the distribution of our core products in
our existing markets. Qur future growth and the successful integration
and management of new Managing General Agent (MGA} relationships,
acquired businesses and other new business involves numeroué risks that
could adversely affect our growth and profitability, and are contingent on
various factors, including:

e expanding our financial, operational and management information
systems;

* managing our relationships with independent agents, MGAs and
brokers, including maintaining adequate controls;

« expanding our executive management and the infrastructure required to
effectively control our growth;

* maintaining ratings pr certain of our insurance subsidiaries;

. increasing the statutory capital of our insurance subsidiaries to support
" additional underwriting; C

o accurately setting provisions for claims for new business where we lack
historical underwriting experience;

» obtaining regulatory approval for appropriate premium rates; and
« obtaining the required regulatory approvals to offer additional insurance
products or expand into additional states and provinces.

We cannot assure you that we will be able to manage our growth effectively
or that we will be successful in expanding our business, that our existing
infrastructure wilt be able to support additional expansion or that any new
business will be prbfitab!e. If we are unable to manage our growth, our
results of operations and financial condition may be adversely affected.
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We rely on independent agents, MGAs and brokers and are exposed
to risks.

We market and distribute our automobile insurance products through a
network of over 2,800 independent agents and approximately 20 MGAs
in the United States and over 3,000 independent brokers across Canada.
In 2003, approximately.56% of our gross written premiums in the United
States were sourced through MGAs and approximately 44% were sourced
through independent agents. Our insurance products are marketed
through a large number of independent agents, MGAs and brokers and
we rely heavily on their ability to attract new business. These independent
agencies and MGAs typically represent more than one insurance company,

which may expose us 10 competition within the agencies and,-the"r'eforé,_
we cannot rely on their commitment to our insurance products. in some )

markets, we operate pursuant to “open market® arrangements in which we
have ho formal relationships with the brokers who place our risk in these
markets. Loss of all or a substantial portion of the business provided by
these intermediaries could have a material adverse effect on our business,
results of operations and financial condition.

Our independent agents, MGAs and brokers generally have the ability to
bind insurance policies and a few MGAs may settle claims on our behalf,
and we have only limited ability to exercise control over them. In the event
that an independent agent, MGA or broker exceeds its authority by binding
us on a rigk that does not comply with our underwriting guidelines, we may
be at risk for that policy until we effect a cancellation. Although to date
we have not experienced a material loss from improper use of binding
authorify by our agénts, MGAs or brokers, any improper use of such
authority may result in losses that could have a material adverse effect on
our business, results of operations and financial condition.

In accordance with industry practice, our customers often pay the
premiums for their policies o agents, MGAs or brokers for payment over
to us. These premiums are considered paid when received by the agent,
MGA or broker and thereafter the customer is no longer liable to us for
those amounts, whether or not we have actually received the premiums
from the ageﬁt, MGA or broker. Consequently, we assume a degree of risk
associated with our reliance on independent agents, MGAs and brokers in
connection with the settlement of insurance balances.

In addition, MGAs are subject to regulation as insurance producers,
including licensing requiremedts, and, to the extent that the MGA has the
ability to bind insurance policies and to settle claims, the MGA is subject
to regulation of these functions. Noncompliance by any of our MGAs
with applicable regulatory requirements could have adverse regulatory
implications on us.

Engaging in acquisitions involves risks and, if we are unable to
effectively manage these risks, our business may be materially
harmed.

‘From time to time we engage in discussions concerning acquisition

opportunities, although we cannot assure you that any such discussions
will result in a transaction. As a result of such discussions, we may enter
into acquisition transactions. Acquisitions entail numerous risks, including
the following:

o difficulties in the integration of the acquired business;

« assumption of unknown material liabilities, including deficient provisions
for unpaid claims;

* diversion of management’s attention from other business concerns;
* failure to achieve financial or operating objectives; and

potential loss of po\icyho\dérs or key employees' of acquired
companies.

We may not be able to integrate successfully any business, operations,
personnel, services or products that we may acquire in the future.

The highly competitive environment in which we operate could
have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and
financial condition.

The property and casualty markets in which we operate are highly
competitive. We compete, and will continue to compete, with major
North American and other insurers, many of which have greater financial,
marketing and management resources than we do. There may also be
other companies that may be planning to enter the insurance industry of
which we are not aware. Insurers in our markets generally compete on the
basis of price, consumer recognition, coverages offered, claims handling,
financial stability, customer service and geographic coverage. Although
our pricing is influenced to some degree by that of our competitors, we
generally believe that it is not in our best interest to compete solely on
price, and may from time to time experience a loss of market share during
periods of intense price competition. Our business could be adversely
impacted by the foss of business to competitors offering competitive
insurance products at lower prices. This competition could affect our
ability to attract and retain profitable business.

In our non-standard automobile business, we compete with both
large national underwriters  and  smaller regional  companies.
Our competitors include other companies that, like us, serve
the independent agency market, as well as companies that
sell insurance directly to customers. Direct underwriters may

have cerfain competitive advantages over agency underwriters,

including increased name recognition, loyalty of the customer base to the -

insurer rather than to an independent agency and reduced costs to acquire
policies. Any new, proposed or potential legislative or industry developments
could further increase competition in our markets. New competition from
these developments could cause the demand for our products to decrease,
whichwouidadversely affect our profitability. In addition, incertain provinces
or states, government-operated risk plans may provide non-standard
automobile insurance products at a lower price than those we provide.
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Additionally, our markets may attract competition from time to time from

new or temporary entrants. In some cases, such enirants may, because of -

inexperience, the desire for new business or for other reasons, price their
insurance below the rates that we believe offer an acceptable premium
for the related risk. Further, 2 number of our competitors, including new
entrants to our markets, are developing e-business “capabilities which
may impact the level of business transacted through our more traditional
distribution channels or which may affect pricing in the market as a whole.

Our operating results may fluctuate as a result of many factors,
including cyclical patterns in the property and casuaity insurance
industry and in the automobile insurance market.

The results of companies in the property and casualty insuranceindustry
have been subject to significant fluctuations and uncertainties. The industry’s
profitability can be affected significantly by many factors, including:

» rising costs that are not known by companies at the time they price their
products, such as unforeseen case law developments;

» and unpredictable developments, including weather-related and other
natural catastrophes;

e changes in insurance and tax laws and regulation, as well as new
legislative initiatives; and

o general economic conditions, such as fluctuations in interest rates,
inflationary pressures and other changes in the investment environment,
which affect returns on invested capital and may impact the ultimate

- payout of loss amounts.

In addition, the prbfitability of automobile insurers can be affected
significantly by many factors, including:

o regulatory regimes which limit their ability to detect and defend against’

fraudulent claims and fraud rings;

+ developing trends in tort and class action litigation which may encourags
frivolous litigation o expose automobile insurers to allegations of bad
faith;

* changes in consumer protection faws which could limit the use of used
or like kind and quality after-market parts or to compel compensation for
alleged diminution in value notwithstanding repair of the vehicle; and

» changes in laws or regulations, including the adoption of consumer
initiatives regarding rates charged for automobile or other insurance
coverage or claims handling pracedures.

The financial performance of the property and casualty insurance industry
has historically tended to fluctuate in cyclical patterns of “soft” markets
characterized generally by increased competition resulting in lower
premium rates followed by *hard” markets characterized generally by
lessening competition and increasing premiums rates. Although an
individual insurance company's financial performance depends on its own
specific business characteristics, the profitability of most property and
casualty insurance companies tends to fotlow this cyclical market pattern
with profitability generally increasing in hard markets and decreasing in
soft markets. '

Our operations are restricted by the terms of our credit agreements
and debt indentures, which could limit our ability to plan for or to
react to market conditions or meet our capital needs.

Our credit zgreements and debt indentures contain numerous covenants
that limit our ability, among other things, to borrow money, make particular -
types of invastments or other restricted payments, sell assets, merge or
consolidate, pay dividends or redeem capital stock, and incur liens to
secure indebtadness. These agreements also require us to maintain
specified financial ratios, including a requirement that we maintain on a
consolidated basis a specified ratio of net premiums written to statutory
capital and surplus, or capital surplus ratio. The covenants under our debt
agreements could fimit our ability to plan for or react to market conditions
of to meet cur capital needs. Our ability to comply with the capital surplus
ratios and other financial covenants in these agreements may be affected
by events beyond our control and we may have to curtail some of our
operations and growth plans to maintain compliance:

If we are not able to comply with the covenants and other requirements
contained in our credit agreements and debt indentures, an event of default
under the relavant debt instrument coutd occur. if an event of default does
occur, it could trigger a default under our other debt instruments, we could
be prohibited from accessing additional borrowings, and the holders of the
defaulted debt instrument could declare amounts outstanding with [espect
to such debt to become immediately due and payable. Upon such an Event,
our assets and cash flow may not be sufficient to fully repay borrowings
under our outstanding debt instruments. In addition, such a repayment
under an event of default could adversely affect our liquidity and force us
to cease or substantially slow our growth.

If we are unable to maintain cur current claims-paying ratings,
our ability to write insurance and compete with other insurance
companies may be adversely impacted.

Third party rating agencies assess and rate the claims-paying ability
of insurers and reinsurers based upon criteria established by the rating
agencies. Periodically these rating agencies evaluate us to confirm that

“we continue to meet the criteria of the ratings previously assigned to

us. Firancial strength ratings are an importém factor in establishing the-
competitive position of insurance companies and may be expected to have
an effect on an insurance company’s premiums.

Our insurance subsidiaries are rated by A.M. Best, which issues
independent opinions of an insurer's financial strength and ability to
meet policyholder obligations. Our Canadian subsidiaries, Kingsway
General Insurance Company and York Fire & Casualty Insurance
Company possess a B++ (very good) rating from A.M. Best (5th highest
of 15 rating levels} and Jevco insurance Compan‘y, possesses an “A-"
(Excelient) rating from A.M. Best (fourth highest of 15 rating levels).
Of our U.S. subsidiaries, Lincoln General insurance Company and Universal
Casualty Company have an ‘-t (Excellent) rating (fourth highest of 15
rating levels), American Service Insurance Company, Inc. has a “B++"
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(Very Good) rating (fifth highest of 15 rating levels), American Country'

insurance Company and Southern United Fire Insurance Company have
a “B+” (Very Good) rating (sixth highest of 15 rating levels), and U.S.
Security Insurance Company has a “B” (Fair) rating (seventh highest of
15 rating levels). According to A.M. Best, companies rated as A and A-
(Excellent) are deemed “secure” and are assigned to insurers which have,
on balance, excellent balance sheet strength and operating performance
and business profile when compared to the standards established by
A.M. Best and, in A.M. Best’s opinion, have a strong ability to meet their
ongoing obligations to policyholders. According to A.M. Best, companies
rated as B++ and B+ (Very Good) are deemed “secure” and are assigned
to insurers which have, on halance, very good balance sheet strength
and operating performance and business profile when compared to .thg

* standards established by A.M. Best and, in A.M. Best's opinion, have a

good ability to meet their ongoing obligations to policyholders. According
to A.M. Best, companies rated as B (Fair) are deemed “vulnerable” and
are assigned to insurers which have, on balance, fair balance sheet
strength and operating performance and business profile when compared
to the standards established by A.M. Best and, in A.M. Best's opinion,
have an abllity to meet their ongoing obligations to policyholders.

On March 5, 2004, A.M. Best lowered the financial strength rating of
Kingsway General and York Fire to B++ (Very Good) from A- (Excellent)
and assigned a negative outiook. A.M. Best stated that the lowered
ratings of Kingsway General and York Fire were based on their operating
and underwriting performance and weak -capitalization, partially offset
by si(jhiﬁcant rate increases in 2002 and 2003, the strengthening of
Ivoss reserves, the progress made to reduce claim costs, as well as the
explicit financial support of Kingsway Financial, In addition, A.M. Best
has concerns regarding the impact of regulatory changes to automobile
insurance products occurring in Ontarlo and Alberta on the profitability of
Kingsway General and York Fire. A.M. Best also stated that the financial
strength ratings of all of our insurance subsidiaries in both the United

States and Canada will remain under pressure pending our ability to
lower underwriting leverage by raising capital, meeting our 2004 profit
targets, controlling premium growth and eliminating adverse loss reserve

development.

We cannot assure you that A.M. Best will not downgrade our ratings or
place them under review with negative implications, in the future. If we
are unable to maintain our current ratings, our ability to write insurance
business and compete with other insurance companies may be adversely
affected. Rating agencies evaluate insurance companies based on
financial strength and the ability to pay claims, factors which are more
relevant to policyholders than investors. Financial strength ratings by

_rating agencies are not ratings of securities or recommendations to buy,

hold or sell any security.

The majority of our gross premiums written are derived from the
non-standard automobile and trucking insurance markets. if the
demand for insurance in these markets declines, our results of
operations could significantly decline.

For the year ended December 31, 2003, approximately 36.6% of our
gross premiums written were attributable to non-standard automobile
and 30.7% were attributable to trucking insurance. The size of both
the non-standard automobile and trucking insurance markets can be
affected significantly by many factors outside of cur control, such as the
underwriting capacity and underwriting criteria of standard automobile
insurance carriers and trucking insurers, and we may specifically be
affected by these factors. Additionally, an ‘economic downturn in one
or more of 6ur principal markets could resuit in fewer automobile sales
and a lower volume of goods shipped by truck resulting in less demand
for these insurance products. To the extent that these insurance markets
are affected adversely for any reason, our gross premiums written will
be disproportionately affected due to our substantial reliance on these
insurance markets.

Gross Premiums Written by Business Line
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If we fail to comply with applicable insurance laws or regulatory
requirements, our business, results of operations and financial
condition could be adversely affected.

As an insurance company, we are subject to numerous laws and
regulations. These laws and regulations delegate regu!atpry, supervisory
and administrative powers -to federal, provincial or state insurance
commissioners and agencies. Such regulation generally is designed to
protect policyholders rather than shareholders, and is related to matters
including:

s rate setting;

* risk-based capital and solvency standards;

* restrictions on the amount, type, nature, quality and quantity of
investments;

» the maintenance of adequate reserves for unearned premiums and
unpaid cleims;

» restrictions on the types of terms that can be included in insurance
policies;

» standarcs for accounting;
¢ marketing practices;
* claims seitlement practices;

o the examination of insurance companies by regulatory authorities,
including periodic financial and market conduct examinations:

 the licensing of insurers and their agents;

» limitations on dividends and transactions with affitiates;

s approval of certain reinsurance transacﬁons; and

. iqsoi\'emv proceedings.
In addition, these statutes typically require us periodically to file financial
staternents ard annual reports, prepared on a statutory accounting basis,
and other information with insurance regulatory authorities, including
information concerning our capital structure, ownership, financial
condition and general business cperations. We allocate considerable time
and resources to comply with these requirements.

Any failure to comply with applicable laws or regulations could result
in the imposition of fines or significant restrictions on our ability to
do business, which could adversely affect our results of operations
or financial condition. In addition, any changes in laws or regulations,
including the adopﬁon of consumer ini_ﬁatives regarding‘rates charged for
automobile or other insurance coverage or claims handling piocedures,
could materiafly adversely affect our business, results of operations and
financial condition.

In the past, various state insurance departments have levied fines on some
of our subsidiaries in connection with regulatary examinations. During the
most recently completed insurance requlatory examinations of certain of
our U.S. insurance subsidiaries, the insurance departments conducting

the examinations raised certain regulatory compliance issues, and we’

expect that some amount of fines wilt be imposed in connection with one
or more of these examinations. The subsidiaries involved are working with
the regulators to resolve these issues, and we do not expect that any of
these matters will have a material adverse effect on our business.

In order to enhance the regulation of insurer solvency, a risk based capital,
or RBC, formula was adopted by the U.S. National Association of Insurance

Commissioners, or NAIC, for U.S. insurance companies. State insurance

regulators monitor the financial status of an insurer by reviewing the insurer's
compliance with RBC requirements. The provinces in Canada in which we
operateAhave similar solvency requirements. If our insurance subsidiaries do
not comply with these minimum capital requirements, they may be restricted
or prohibited from operating. If our insurance subsidiaries are required to
increase their reserves in the future, as a result of unexpectedly poor
claims experience or otherwise, they may violate these minimum capital
requirements unless we are able to take actions to improve the solvency
of those subsidiaries. As a result, our business, results of operations, and
financial condition may be materially adversely affected.

Itis not possibls to predict the future impact of changing federal, state and
provincial regulation on our operations, and there can be no assurance
that taws and regulations enacted in the future will not be more restrictive
than existing laws.

Qur business could be adversely affected as a result of changing
political, regulatory, economic or other influences.

The insurance industry is subject to changing political, economic and
regulatory influences. These factors affect the practices and operation
of insurance and reinsurance organizations. Legislatures in Canada, the
United States, Barbados, Bermuda and local jurisdictions in which we
operate have periodically considered programs to referm or amend their
respective insurance and reinsurance systems. Recently, the insurance
and reinsurance regufatory framework has been subject to increased
scrutiny in many jurisdictions. For example, in the United States, current
and proposed federal measures that may affect our business include
proposals regarding insurance coverage for terrorism, natural disaster
protection and tort reform. In Canada, we experienced an extension of the
reporting period during which a plaintiff may bring suit against us under
the tort provisions of the current Ontario automobite legislation which
negatively impacted our results of operations in 2002 and 2003.

-Changes in current insurance regulation may include increased

g'overnmental involvement in the insurance industry, initiatives aimed.at
premium controls, or may otherwise chahge the business and economic
environment in which insurance industry participants operate. In some
states, the automobile insurance industry has been under pressure in
past years from requfators, fegistators or special interest groups to reduce,
freeze or set rates at levels that are not necessarily related to underlying
costs or risks, including initiatives to roll back automobile and other
personal line rates. These changes, if adopted, may limit our ability to
price automobile insurance adequately and could require us to discontinue
unprofitable product lines, make unplanned modifications of our products
and services, or may result in delays or cancellations of sales of our
products and services. We cannot predict the future impact of changing
laws or regulations on our operations and any changes could have a material
adverse effect on our results of operations or financial condition. 5
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Rate freezes on automobile insurance premiums in Ontario and Alberta
were effected in October and November of 2003, respectively. The
government of Ontario has indicated that the rate freeze is in anticipation of
an insurance reform pragram that would produce sufficient cost reductions
to allow insurance companies to reduce premium rates by 10 percent on
average. In December 2003 the Ontario legisiature passed the Automobile
Insurance Rate Stabilization Act of 2003 (the “Rate Stabilization Act™),
which requires insurers to submit their risk classification system and rates
for automobile insurance to the Financial Services Commission of Ontario
(FSCOQ) for review and approval, Under this act, FSCO is authorized to
require insurers to vary their rats classification system and reduce their
rates according to specified criteria. The Alberta government has indicated

" that its rate freezes are-in anticipation of a rate reform program that wil

reward safe drivers while allowing rate increases to be imposed on drivers
with at-fault claims and poar driving records. There is no certainty as to
how any legislation adopted in connection with these reforms will impact
our Ontario and Alberta automobile business.

Our business may be materially adversely affected if the tax laws
of the United States or Canada change or relevant tax authorities
successfully challenge our interpretations of these laws.

We operate wholly owned subsidiary reinsurance companies in Barbados
and Bermuda for the sole purpose of reinsuring risks from our own
subsidiaries. Legislation was proposed in 2002 which would have
disallowed a deduction for U.S. income tax purposes for premiums paid to
certain specified related reinsurers. If this or simiar legistation were to be
enacted, this could have the effect of increasing the taxes payable by us or
certain of our subsidiaries. We cannot assure you that any such legistation
or similar legisiation will not be enacted.

Due to our corporate structure and to differences in the tax laws of the
United States and Canada, we deduct interest paid on certain of our debt
in the United States as well as in Canada. Such deductions are based on
our interpretation of applicable tax laws. There is no guaraniee that the
Internal Revenue Service or any other tax authority will not challenge our
interpretation,‘ and if such a challenge were made and were successful,
the taxes payable by us or certain of our subsidiaries could be increased.
In addition, amendments or changes. in applicable income tax laws or

Investment Portfolio

i

regulations, including those arising from judicial decisions or administrative
pronouncements, could deny a deduction for interest to taxpayers with a
structure similar o ours.

We may not be able to realize our investment objectives, which
could significantly reduce our net income.

We depend on income from our investment portfolio for a substantial
portion of our earnings. In 2001, 2002, and 2003, net investment income
and net realized capital gains accounted for approximately 6.8%, 4.5% and
5.3%, respectively, of our consolidated revenue. A significant decline in
investment yields in our investment portfolio or an impairment of securities
that we own could-have a material adverse effect on our business, results
of aperations and financial condition. We currently maintain and intend

“to continug to maintain aﬁ investment portfolio comprising primarily

i
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fixed incomz securities. As of December 31, 2003, the fair value of our
investment portfolio included $2.2 billion of fixed income securities. For
2001, 2002 and 2003, the change in net unrealized gains in our portfolio
reflected an increases of $12.0 million, an increase of $21.0 million, and
an increase of $20.0 million, respectively. Due to fluctuations in the yields
on fixed income securities, we face reinvestment risk as these securities
mature because the funds may be reinvested at rates lower than the
maturing security.

Our ability to achieve our investment objectives is affected by general
economic conditions that are beyond our control. General economic
conditians can adversely affect the markets for interest-rate-sensitive
securities, including the extent and timing of investor participation in such
markets, thz level and volatility of interest rates and, consequently, the
value of fixed income securities. In addition, changing economic conditions
can result in increased defaults by the issuers of securities that we own.
Interest rates are highly sensitive to many factors, including monetary
policies, domestic and international economic and political conditions and
other factors beyond our control.

General economic conditions, stock market conditions and many other
factors can also adversely affect the securities markets and, consequently,
the value of the securities we own. We may not be able to realize our
investment objectives, which could reduce our net income significantly.
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We derive the majority of our premiums frem a few geographic
areas, which may cause our business to be affected by catastrophic
losses or business conditions in these areas.

We derive most of our premiums from a ralatively small number of
jurisdictions, inctuding Illinois, Florida, Ontario and California. Qur results
of operatioris may, therefore, be adversely affected by any catastrophic
losses in these areas. Catastrophic losses can be caused by a wide variety
of events, including earthquakes, hurricanss, tropical storms, tornadoes,
wind, ice storms, hail, fires, terrorism, riots and explosions, and thair
incidence and severity are inherently unpredictable. Catastrophic losses
are characterized by low frequency but high severity due to aggregation
of losses, and could result in adverse effects on our results of operations
or financia! condition. Our results of oparations may also be adversely
affected by general economic conditions, competition, regulatory actions
or other business conditions that affect losses or business conditions in
the areas in which we do business.

Gross Premiums Written
by Geographic Area
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If reinsurance rates rise significantly or reinsurance becomes
unavailable or reinsurers are unable to pay our claims, we may be
adversely affected.

We purchase reinsurance from third parties in order to reduce our'
liability on individual risks. Reinsurance does not religve us of our primary
liability to our insureds. A third party reinsurer’s insolvency or'inabi!ity
or unwillingness to make payments under the terms of a reinsurance
treaty could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or
results of operations. As of December 31, 2003, we had $176.3 million
recoverable from third party reinsurers and other insurers. The majority of
these recoverables are unsecured. The losses reported by the reinsurance
industry since 2001 have adversely affect the financial resources of some
reinsurers and their abllity 1o pay claims. Also, the material decling in
the worldwide equity markets and the defaults and credit downgrades on
bonds of many companies have contributed to a significant decline in the
net equity of some reinsurers.

The amount and cost of reinsurance available to our insurance companies
are subject, in large part, to prevailing market conditions beyond our
control. Qur ability to provide insurance at competitive premium rates and
coverage limits on a continuing basis depends in part upon the extent to
which we can obtain adequate reinsurance.in amounts and at rates that
will not adversely affect our competitive position. We cannot assure you
that we will be able to maintain our current reinsurance facilities, which
generally are subject to annual renewal. If we are unable to renew any of
these facilities upon their expiration or obtain other reinsurance facilities
in adequate amounts and at favorable rates, we may need to modify our
underwriting practices or reduce our underwriting commitments.

Kingsway Financial is a holding company and its operating
subsidiaries are subject to dividend restrictions.

Kingsway Financial is an insurance holding company'with assets
consisting primarily of the capital stock of its subsidiaries. Our operations
are and will continue to be limited by the earnings of our subsidiaries
and the distribution or other payment of such earnings to us in the
form of dividends, loans, advances or the reimbursement of expenses.
The payment of dividends, the making of loans and advances or the
reimbursement of expenses to us by our subsidiaries is contingent upon
the earning of those subsidiaries and is subject to various business
considerations. In addition, payments of dividends to us by our insurance
and reinsurance subsidiaries are subject tovarious statutory and regulatory
restrictions imposed by the insurance laws of the domiciliary jurisdiction of
such subsidiaries, including Barbados and Bermuda. For the year 2004,
under these insurance regulatory restrictions, based on our December 31,
2003 financial statements, our insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries
would have aggregate dividend capacity of $212.9 million. The inability of
our subsidiaries to pay dividends to us could have a material adverse effect
on our business and financial condition.

Our business depends upon key employees, and if we are unable to
retain the services of these key employees or to attract and retain
additional qualified personnel, our business may suffer.

We are substantially dependent on .a number. of key employees. Our
success has been, and will continue to be, dependent on our ability to
retain the services of our existing key employeés and to attract and retain
additional qualified personnel in the future. The loss of the services of
any of our key employees, or the inability to identify, hire and retain other
highly qualified personnel in the future, could adversely affect the quality
and profitability of our business operations. There are no employment
contracts in place for any of our executives.
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Various factors may inhibit potential acquisition bids that could be
beneficial to our shareholder.

Regulatory provisions may delay, defer or prevent a takeover attempt
that shareholdsrs may consider in their best interest. For example, under
the terms of applicable U.S. state statutes, any person or entity desiring
to purchase more than a specified percentage (commonly 10%) of our
outstanding voting securities is required to obtain regulatory approval
prior fo its purchase of our shares. These reguirements would generally
require a potential bidder to obtain the prior approval by the insurance
departments of the states in which our U.S. subsidiaries are domiciled
and may require pre-acquisition notification in applicable states that have
adopted pre-acquisition notification provisions. Obtaining these épprova\_s
could result in material delays or deter any such transaction.

Regulatory requirements could make a potential acquisition of our
Company more difficult and may prevent shareholders from receiving
the benefit from any premium over the market price of our common
shares offered by a bidder in a takeover context. Even in the absence of a
tzkeover attempt, the existence of these provisions may adversely affect
the prevailing market price of our common shares if they are viewed as
discouraging takeover attempts in the future.

In addition, the Shareholder Rights Plan adopted by our board of directors
may also have anti-takeover effects. Our Shareholders Rights Plan is
designed 1o protect our shareholders in the event of unsolicited offers to
acquire us, and other coercive takeover tactics which, in the opinion of
our hoard of directors, could impair its ability to represent shareholder
interests, The provisions of our Shareholder Rights Plan may render an
unsolicited takeover more difficult or less likely to occur or might prevent
such a takeover, even though such takeover may offer our shareholders the
opportunity to sell their shares at a price above the prevailing market price.

Fluctuations in currency exchange rates could negatively affect
our results.

We publish our consolidated financial statements in Canadian dollars.

.In 2003, 75% of our premiums were from our U.S. operations and are

currently denominated in U.S. dollars. Therefore, fluctuations in the
U.S.-Canadian dollar exchange rate will impact our results of operations
and financial condition from period to period. Our Canadian insurance
aperations generally write policies denominated in Canadian dollars and
invest in Canadian dollars. Our U.S. operations generally write policies
denominated in U.S. dollars and invest in U.S. doliars. Although investing
in local currencies limits the effect of currency exchange rate fluctuations
on local operating results, fluctuations in such rates could affect our
operations or results, and do affect the translation of-these results into
Canadian dollars in our consolidated financial statements. During 2003,
shareholders’ equity was reduced by $105.4 million as a result of the
currency translation adjustment of our U.S. dollar denominated assets into
Canadian dollars.
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KINGSWAY FINANCIAL SERVICES INC.

Role of the Actuary

With respect to the preparation” of these financial statements,

management prepares a valuation, including the selection of appropriate - |

assumptions, of the Company’s obligations at the balance sheet date
under insurance policies issued by its subsidiaries. With respect to the
preparation of these financial statements, KPMG wie carries out a review
of management's valuation of the unpaid claim liabilities and provides an
opinion to the Board of Directors regarding the appropriateness of the
unpaid claim liabilities recorded by management to meet all policyholder
claim obligations of the Company at the balance sheet date. The work to
form that opinion includes an examinaticn of the sufficiency and reliability
of data, and review of the valuation process used by management. The
independent actuary is responsible for assessing whether the assumptions
and methods used for the valuation of policy liabilities are in accordance
with accepted actuarial practice, applicable legislation, and associated
regulations and directives. In performing the review of these liabitities
determined by management, which are by their very nature inherently
variable, the actuary makes assumptions as to future loss ratios, trends,

reinsurance recoveries, expenses and other contingencies, taking into
consideration the circumstances of the Company and the nature of the
insurance policies.

The valuation is based on projections of future claims and claim
adjustment expenses on claims Incurred at the balance shest date. it is
certain that actual future claims and claim adjustment expenses will not
develop exactly as projected and may, in fact, vary significantly from the
projections. Fur»the}, the projections make no provision for new classes or
claim categories not sufficiently recognized in the claims database.

Management is responsible for the accuracy and complsteness of the
underlying data used in the valuation. The actuary’s report outlines the
scope of the review and the opinion.

Role of the Auditor

The external auditors, KPMG wLp, have been appointed by the shareholders.
Their responsibility is to conduct an independent and objective audit of
the financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
auditing standards and to report thereon to the shareholders. In carrying
out their audit, the auditors make use of the work of the independent
actuary and their report on the claim liabilities of the Company.

W

William G. Star
President & Chief Executive Officer
February 10, 2004

The shareholders' auditors have full and unrestricted access to the Board
of Directors and the Audit Committee to discuss audit, financial reporting
and related findings. The auditors’ report outlines the scope of their audit
and their opinion.

W. Shaun Jackson
Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer
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Auditors’ Report To The Shareho%dérs

We have audited the consolidated balance shests of Kingsway Financial
Services Inc. as at December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002 and
the consolidated statements of operations, retained earnings and cash
flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31,
2003. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's
management. Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
auditing standards. Those standards require that we ptan and perform an
audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements
are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well
as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly,
in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as at
December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002 and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year
period ended December 31, 2003 in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted accounting principles.

Kms 447
e L

Chartered Accountants
Toronto, Canada
February 10, 2004

Appointed Actuary’s Report

KPMG LLP has reviewed management’s valuation, includingvthe selection
of appropriate assumptions and methods, of the unpaid claims liabilities of
the insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries of Kingsway Financial Services
Inc. for its consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2003 and 2002
and their changes in the statement of operations for each of the years
in the three year period ended December 31, 2003 in accordance with
accepted actuarial practice.

In our opinion, the unpaid claims liabilities are appropriate and the
consolidated financial statements fairly present its results.

W& 447
T —

Claudette Cantin, F.C.LA.
February 10, 2004
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KINGSWAY FINANCIAL SERVICES INC.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

Years ended December 31
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)

2003 2002
Assets
Cash $ 140,883 $ 244921
Investments (notes 2 and 12(c)) 2,512,052 1,833,744
Accrued investment income 21,189 16,223
Accounts receivable and other assets 387,052 334,603
~ Due from reinsurers and ather insurers (ote 6) 176,295 164,742
Deferred policy aéquisition costs 167,960 178,574
Income taxes recoverable - 3,851
Future income taxes (note 7) 72,184 59,505
Capital assets (note 3) 66,981 43,981
Goodwill and intangible assets (note 1(e) 85,840 104,290
S 3,630,436 $ 2,984,434
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Liabilities
Bank indebtedness (note 11(a) S 153,895 $ 170,380
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 128,797 122,606
Income taxes payable 2,589 -
Unearned premiums (note 6) 776,481 776,323
Unpaid ¢laims inotes 6 and 8) 1,669,734 1,200,554
Senior unsecured debentures (note 11(b)) 78,000 78,000
‘Subordinated indebtedness mote 11(c)) - 115,981 23,636
2,925,477 2,371,509
Shareholders’ equity
Share capital {note 4) 468,668 357,192
Contributed surplus (note 5) 678 -
Currency transtation adjustment (94,313) 11,090
Retained earnings (note 12(b)) 329,926 244,643
704,959 612,925
Contingent liabilities (note 12}
S 3,630,436 $ 2,984,434

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

On behalf of the Board:

F. Michasl Walsh
Lead Director
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David H. Atkins
Director




KINGSWAY FINANCIAL SERVICES INC,

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Years ended December 31 »
{In thousands of Canadiar_w dollars, eaz2pt par share amounts)

2003 2002 2001
Gross premiums written S 2,636,822 $ 2,124,691 $ 1,065,262
Net premiums written S 2518711 $ 2,009,963 $ 1,014,960
Revenue:
Net premiums earned (ne:: &) S 2,381,984 $ 1737754 $ 872,830
Net investment income (ne:2 2) 78,369 64,855 52,553
Net realized gains (note 21 55,032 16,259 12,079
2,515,385 1,818,868 937,462
Expenses:
Claims incurred (notes 6 znd 3 1,770,137 1,240,329 616,079
Commissions and premium taxes (noi 6) 503,158 372,051 167,176
General and administrative expenses 142,611 122,762 81,938
Interest expense 20,983 12,274 11,399
Amortization of intangible essets 854 716 -
2,437,743 1,748,132 876,592
income before income taxes 77,642 70,736 60,870
Income taxes (recovery) (ot 7
Current 11,482 4,410 6,665
Future (19,123) (13,206) 3,418
(7,641) (8,798) 10,083
Net income before gooduvill 85,283 79,532 50,787
Amortization of goodwill, net of applicable income tax - - 5,856
Net Income $ 85,283 $ 79,532 $ 44,931
Earnings per share (note 4
Basic S 1.63 $ 1,63 $ 1.21
Diluted S 1.62 $ 1.61 $ 1.19

See accompanying notes to consciidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Retained Earnings

Years ended December 31
{In thousands of Canadian doliars)

2003 2002 2001
Retained earnings, beginning of year S 244,643 $ 165,111 $ 120,180
Net Income 85,283 79,532 44,931
Retained earnings, end of yezr S 329,926 $ 244,643 $ 165,111

See accompanying notes to consciicated financial statements.




KINGSWAY FINANCIAL SERVICES INC.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow

Years ended December 31
{In thousands of Canadian doltars)

2003 2002 2001
Cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities:
Net income $ 85,283 $ 79,532 $ 44,931
ltems not affecting cash:
Amortization-of goodwill and intangibles 854 . 716 6,674
Amortization of capital assets S
and deferred charges 9,208 9,358 5137
Future income taxes (25,526) (11,157) (873)
Net realized gains (55,032) (16,259) (12,079)
Amortization of bond premiums and discounts 14,828 3,746 (4,856)
29,615 65,936 38,934
Change in non-cash halances:
Deferred policy acquisition costs (44,847) (79,898) (36,370)
Due from reinsurers and other insurers (125,954) 1,863 5,377
Unearned premiums 135,505 303,012 131,028
Unpaid claims 749,024 370,193 132,279
Increase in contributed surplus 678 - -
Net change in other non-cash balances (126,097) (60,722) (63,920)
617,924 600,384 207,328
Financing activities: ‘
Increase of share capital, net 111,476 960 207,751
Increase (decrease) in bank indebtedness 16,077 26,952 (7,035)
Increase in senior unsecured debentures - 78,000 -
Increase in subordinated indebtedness 101,886 23,636 -
229,439 129,548 200,716
Investing activities:
Purchase of investments (6,615,029) (4,396,825) (2,277,643)
Proceeds from sale of investments 5,700,353 3,857,050 1,958,678
Financed premiums receivable, net 110 7,768 (7,5486)
Purchase of subsidiaries, :
net of cash acquired (note 9) - {36,908) (2,336)
Additions to capital assets (36,835) (12,296) (12,837)
(951,401) (581,211) (341,684)
Increase in cash during the year (104,038) 148,721 66,360
Cash, beginning of year 244,921 86,200 29,840
Cash, end of year $ - 140,883 $ 244,921 § 96,200
Supplementary disclosure of cash information:
Cash paid for:
Interest $ 20,357 $ 12,186 $ 11,701
Income taxes 8,727 - 3,034 9,909

See zecompanying notes 1o consolidated financial statements.
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KINGSWAY FINARNCIAL SERVICES INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Tabular ameunts in thousangdscf Canadian doliars, except for per share amounts)

1. Summary of significant accounting pelicies

Kingsway Financial Services lae. (the “Company™) was incorporated under the Business

Corporations Act (Ontario) on September 19, 1989. The Company is a financial

services holding company whith, through its subsidiaries, is engaged in property

and casualty insurance.

{a) Principles of consclidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and
its subsidiaries all of which are wholly-owned. Acquisitions are accounted for by
the purchase method, whereby the resulis of acquired companies are included
only from the date of acquisition, and divestitures are included up to the date of
disposal. Assets and liabilities of the acquired companies are included in the financial
statements at their fair values at the date of acquisition. ’
The following is a list of our material subsidiaries, alf of which are 100% owned,
directly or indirectly, (except for qualifying shares of York Fire & Casualty Insurance
Company and Kingsway General Insurance Company held by directors in order to
satisfy applicable statutery requirements), with the Jurisdiction of incorporation
indicated in brackets: American Country Hoidings Inc. {lllincis); American Country
Insurance Company {llinois); American Country Financial Services Corp. (Hlinois);
American Country Underwriting Agency Inc. (Winois); American Country Professional
Services Corp. {inois); American Service Investment Carporation {Illingis); American
Service Insurance Company, inc. (Hfinois); ARK insurance Agency Inc. (Hlinois);
Avalon Risk Management, Inc. {lllinois); Appco Finance Corporation (Florida);
AQA Payment Plan Inc. (Ifinois); Hamitton Risk Management Company (Florida);
Insurance Management Services inc. (Florida); U.S. Security Insurance Company
(Florida); Auto Body Tech Inc. (Florida); Corporate Claim Services Ing, (Florida);
Jeveo Insurance Company (Canada); Kingsway America Inc. (Delaware); Kingsway
Nova Scotia Finance, ULC (Nova Scotia); Kingsway General Insurance Company
{Ontariny; Kingsway Reinsurance (Bermuda) Ltd. {Bermuda); Kingsway Reinsurance
Corporation (Barbados); Kingsway U.S. Finance Partnership (Delaware); Kingsway
U.S. Funding Inc. (Delawarey; Kingsway U.S. Tier Il Finance Partnership (Delaware);
Southern United Holding, Inc. {Alabama); Consolidated Insurance Management Corp.
(Alabama); Funding Plus of America (Alabama); Southern United Fire Insurance
Company (Alabama); Southem United General Agency of Texas, Inc. (Texas); UCC
Corporation (Nevada); Universal Casualty Company {lllinois), Walshire Assurance
Company {Pennsylvania); Lincoln Genera! Insurance Company (Pennsylvania);
Yorktowne Premium Finance Company (Pennsylvania); and York Fire & Casualty
Insurance Company (Cntario}.

{b) Use of estimates

The preparation of financia! statements requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the year. Actual results could
differ from these estimates and changes in estimates are recorded in the accounting
period in which they are determined. ’

Investments ) . .

Fixed term investments are carrigd at amortized cost providing for the amortization
of the discount or premium on a constant yield basis to maturity. Investments in
common and preferred shares are carried at cost. Where a decline in value of an
investment is considered to be other than temporary a writedown of the investment
is recorded.

Kol

(d) investment income
Investment income is recorded as it accrues. Dividend income on common and
preferred shares is recorded on the. ex-dividend date. Gains and losses on disposal
of investments are determined and recorded as at the settlement date, and are
calculated on the basis of average cost.

(e

Goodwill and other intangible assets

When the Company acquires a subsidiary or other business where we exert significant
influence, we determine the fairvalue of the net tangible and intangible assets acquired
and compare them to the amount paid for the subsidiary or business acquired. Any
excess of the amount paid over the fair value of those net assets Is considered
to be goodwill.

Goodwil is tested at least anaually for irnpéirment to ensure that its fair value is greater
than or equal {0 the carrying value. Any excess of carrying valug over fair value is
charged to income in the period in which the impairment is determined. At December
31, 2003 and 2002 goodwill was $81,284,000 and $97,725,000, respectively.
When the Company acauires a subsidiary or other business where we exert
significant influence, we may acquire intangible assets, which are recorded at their
fair value at the time of the acquisition. Intangible assets with a definite useful life
are amortized to income on a straight-ling basis over the defined useful life. The
Company writes down the value of an intangible asset with a definite usefu! life when
the undiscounted cash flows are not expected to aliow for full recovery of the carrying
value. At December 31, 2003 and 2002 intangible assets with a definite usefu! life,
net of accumulated amartization, were $1,683,000 and $3,037,000, respectively.
Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortization and are
tested at least annually for impairment to ensure that its fair value is greater than or
equal to its carrying value. Any excess of carrying value over fair value is charged to
income in the period in which the impairment is determined. At December 31, 2003
and 2002 the Company had intangible assets with an indefinite life of $2,867,000
and $3,528,000, respectively.

Amortization of intangible assets reported in the Consotidated Statements of Operations
for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 was $854,000, $716,000
and $nil, respectively. There were no write-downs of goodwill or intangible assets due
to impairment during the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001.

Prior to January 1, 2002 the Company amortized goodwill arising from acquisitions
made before July 1, 2001 over the estimated useful life of the asset acquired.
Amortization of goodwill was recorded net of applicable income taxes in the
Consolidated Statements of Cperations. Goodwill amortization of $5,856,000, net of
applicable taxes of $818,000, was included in income for the year ended December
31,2001,

Deferred policy acquisition costs

The Company defers brokers™ commissions, premium taxes and other underwriting
and marketing costs relating to the acquisition of premiums written to the extent they
are considered recoverable. These costs are then expensed as the related premiums
are earned. The methad followed in determining the deferred policy acquisition costs
limits the deferral to its realizable value by giving consideration to estimated future
claims and expenses to be incurred as premiums are earned. Changes in estimates,
if any, are recorded in the accounting period in which they are determined.
Anticipated investment income is included in determining the realizable value ¢f the
deferred policy acquisition costs.

Effective October 1, 2002, on a prospective basis, the Company began deferring
other underwriting and marketing costs relating to the acquisition of premiums.
The impact of this change was an increase to income before income taxes of
$11,348,000 for the year ended December 31, 2003 (2002 - $6,589,000). Had
these costs been taken into account in the deferral of pelicy acquisition costs in prior

- years, the impact on the financial statements would not have been significant.

: ! co
{g) Premium revenue and unearned premiums

The Company earns premium revenue over the period covered by each individual
insurance contract in proportion to the insurance protection provided. For
motorcycle premiums, a higher percentage of the premiums is earned during the
summer months, which is the motorcycle riding season in Canada. For all ather lings
of business, the premiums are earned evenly over the contract period. Unearned
premiums represent the portion of premiums written related to the uhexpired risk
portion of the policy at the year-end.

The reinsurers’ share of unearned premiums is recognized as amounts recoverable
using principles congistent with the Company's method for determining the unearned
premium liability.

(h) Unpaid claims

The provision for unpaid claims includes adjustment expenses and represents an
estimate for the full amount of all expected costs, including investigation, and the
projected final settlements of claims incurred on or before the balance sheet date.
The provision does not take into consideration the time value of money or make an
explicit provision for adverse deviation. 6




KINGSWAY FINANCIAL SERVICES INC.

Notes to Cdnsolidated Financial Statements

(Tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except for per share amounts)

These estimates of future loss activity are necessarily subject to uncertainty and
are selected from a wide range of possible outcomes. All provisions are periodically

reviewed.and evaluated in the light of emerging claim experience.and changing - . |-«

circumstances. The resulting changes in estimates of the ultimate lability are

Company's subsidiaries in the United States and Barbados are self-sustaining.
These subsidiaries hold all of their assets and liabilities and report their results in
U.S. dofiars. As a result, the assets and liabilities of these subsidiaries are transiated
at the year-end rates of exchange. Revenues and expenses are translated at the
average rate of exchange for each year. The unrealized gains and losses, which result
from transiation-are deferred and included in shareholders' equity under the caption
“currency transiation adjustment”. The currency transtation account will change with

method over the estimated useful lives of such assets, The use! lives range from
15-40 years for building and leasehold improvements, 5-7 years for furniture and
equipment and 3-5 years for computers and software development.

2. Investments

The carrying amounts and fair. values of investments are summarized below:

December 31, 2003

recorded as incurred claims in the accounting period in which they are determined. Gross Gross
X K Carrying Unrealized Unrealized Fair
(i) Reinsurance Amount Gains Losses Value
Net premiums earned and claims incurred are recorded net of amounts ceded to, Term deposits - $ 285715 § 22 237§ 285500
and recoverable from, reinsurers. Estimates of amounts recoverable from reinsurers Bonds:
on unpaid claims are recorded separately from estimated amounts payabie to _ . .

. - L B i L Canadian - Government 221,572 4,608 1t 226,069
policyholders. Unearned premiums and deferred policy acquisition costs are also - Corporate - 130,416 5018 9 144.005
report fore reduction- for- business ceded to reinsurers and the reinsurers’ ) '
en R ed be OE_! ) ,d 0 reinsu e re *U.S. - Government 393.21 3,214 2477 393,948
portion is classified with amounts due from reinsurers. - Corporate 737184 7581 6171 738.504

reinsurer imat ized i
Amonts rec.overab!e from e‘ Surers are estima e.d.and recognized m.a rr.ran.n.er Othes - Government 168,074 153 1692 167535
consistent with the Company's method for determining the refated policy liability - Corporate 230.915 290 1.47 229787
associated with the reinsured policy. Sub-total § 2177087 § 20,886 12,535 S 2,185,438
{j) Translation of foreign currencies
Monetary assets and liabifities in foreign currencies are translated into Canadian Preferred shares
dollars at year-end exchange rates and non-monetary assets and liabllities are . Canadian 500 12 - 512
translated at exchange rates prevailing at the transaction date. Translation gains and Common shares
losses are included in the current income. Income and expenses are translated at the . Canadian 116,620 24.065 680 139.995
exchange rates in effect at the date incurred. Realized gains and losses on foreign - Us. 136,931 21,947 1,143 157,730
exchange are recognized in the statement of operations. . Financed premiums 80.914 . . 80.914
The Company reports its results in Canadian dollars. The operations of the $ 2512082 § 65,910 14373 S 2.564.589

The maturity profile of the bonds and term deposits investments at their ca:vying amounts
and {air values as at December.31, 2003 is as follows:

. ’ Carrying Fair
fluctuations in the U.S. to Canadian doflar exchange rate. Amount Value
(k) Income taxes Due in one year or less $ 605157 S 605487
The Company follows the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes, Duz after one ysar through five years 1,153,498 1155027
whereby future tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax conseqguences Due aiter five years thiough ten years 814,596 319,880
i y Tuture tax . 9 K X 4 o Due after ten years 103,736 105,044
attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amount of existing
- . . . ) $ 2,177,087 S 285438
assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit
camyforwards. Future tax-assets and liabilities are measured using enacted -or--
substantively enacted tax rates expected to apply_ to taxable income in the years in .
which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect
. . . P . December 31, 2002
on future tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in
. . . Gross Gross
the period that includes the date of enactment or substantive enactment. Carying Unrealized Unrealized Fair
{1) Stock-based compensation plan Amount Gains Losses Value
The Company has a stock-based compensation plan which is described in Note Term deposits $§ 506575 § 1 65 § 506,511
4. Effective January 1, 2003, the Company adopted on a prospective basis the Bonds:
fair-value methad of accounting for stock-based compensation awards granted to Canadian - Government 130,736 3.993 _ 134728
employees and non-employee directors for options granted on or after that date. - Corporate 82,650 3,288 837 85,101
Under the new policy, the Company determines the fair value of the stock options on US. - Government 152,644 5768 9 159,393
their grant date and records the fair value as a compensation expense over the period - Corporate 248,729 10,118 . 918 257,929
that the stock options vest, with a corresponding increass o contributed surplus. Other - Government 158,204 2.068 2 160,360
When these stock options are exercised, the amount of proceeds, together with the - Corporate 282,353 5,275 - 287,628
amount recorded in contributed surplus, are recorded in share capital. Employee Sub-totat $ 1561881 § 31,511 1,841 S 1,591,651
compensation expense increased and net income decreased by $678,000 during .
2003 It of this ch in i icy.
: asa resg S Cl ?mge i aFcountlng policy. . : . ) Preferred shares v
N6 compensation expense is recognized for stock options granted prior to January 1, . Canadian 2045 2 22 2,025
2003. The c-onsrflaran@ paid by emp\oy?es and non-emplayee directors on exercise Common shares
of stock options is credited to share capital. . Canadian 125,563 9207 6137 128,633
(m) Capital assets - US. 57,341 3,156 3314 57,183
Capital assets are reported in the financial statements &t depreciated cost. Financed premiums 86,814 - - 86,814
Depreciation of preperty and equipment has been provided by the straight-line S 1833744 § 43876 1,314 S 1,866,306
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KINGSWAY FINANCIAL SERVICES INGC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except for per share amounts)

The maturity profile of the bonds and term deposils investments at their carrying amounts

and fair values as at December 31, 2002 is as follows:

Carrying Fair

Amount Value

Due in one year or less $ 636,726 $ 638183
Due after one year through five years 699,514 717,493
Due after five years through ten years 179,809 188,190
Due after ten years 45,932 47,805
§ 1,561,981 $ 1,591,651

The following tables highlight the aggregate unrealized loss pasition, by security type, of
holdings in an unreafized loss position as at December 31, 2003 and 2002. The tables
segragate the holdings based on the period of time the securities have been continuously

held in an unrealized loss position.

December 31, 2003

The carrying amounts are shown by contractuel meturity. Actual maturity may differ from
contractual maturity because certain borrowers have the right to call or prepay ‘certain

‘obligations with or without call or prepayment peneities.

Fair values of term deposits. bonds and common and preferred shares are measured
using approximate quoted market values based on the latest bid prices. Financed
premiums represent the portion of our insureds menthly premium payments that are not
yet due. Certain of our insureds have the option o pay a portion of the premium when
the palicy is placed in force and the balance in moniity instaliments. The msured pays an
additional premium for this option, reflecting hancling costs and the investment income
that would have been eamed on such premium, had the total amount baan collected
at the beginning of the policy period. The additionz) premium is essentialty an interest
payment on the balance of the unpaid premium and is recognized as income over the
period of the pelicy. The fair value of financed premiums, which are realizad over the term
of the related policies of up to one year, approximates their carrying amount.
Management has reviewed currenily available informetion regarding those investments
whose estimated fair value is less than their camying amount and ascertained that the
carrying amounts are expeciad to be recovered. Dabt securities whose ¢arrying amount
exceeds market value can be held until maturity whan managemeznt expects to recelve
the principal amount.

0-6months  6-12 month " Ol’;f Total All of the Company’s fixed term investments hawe xad interest rates. The coupon rates
- -12 months months a ) .
monfs - 0 for the Company’s fixed term investments range fom 1.66% to 13.00% &t Dacember 31,
Common shares 2003 and 0.94% to 13.00% at December 31, 2002. As the fair value, czrrying amounts
Number of Pasitions 22 2 18 42 o N t materially diff t the eifentive rates of inter=st based on fai
Falr Value s 26708 $ 5926 738§ 39.952 and face amounts are not materially different, the efiective rates of interast based on fair
Carrying Value 28,070 5,992 7,728 41,790 values would not be materiaity different from the coupon rates.
Unrealized Loss (1,362) (68) (410} (1.838) The Company limits its investment concentration in any one investee or related group of
Preferred shares ) investees to less than 5% of the Company’s invessmnts. )
Number of Positions . - . - Net investment income for the years ended Decsmbar 31 is comprised es follows:
Fair Value $ -8 - -8 -
Carrying Value - -
Unrealized Loss - 2003 2002 2001
Term deposits and bonds .
" Investment income:
Nu‘mber of Positians 163 4 5 208 Interest on short-term investments $ 7731 § 4431 8 6,457
Fair Value $ 849612 § 288,624 907 § 1,139,143 Interest on bonds 53633 50347 20,654
Carrying Value 855,812 294,538 1,328 1,151,678 Dividends 5145 2051 2652
Unrealized Loss {6,200) (5,914 (421) {12,535) Premium finance 12,269 8539 9.861
Total Gther 3.461 563 5,550
Number of Positions 185 42 23 250 . .
G 1 82,239 67.803 54,174
Fair Vatue § 876320 § 294550 8225 5 1179095 In;";i::gf;::g;;zzome o7 2t o
Carrying Value 883,882 300,530 9,056 1,193,468 - -
Unrealized Loss {7,562) (5,980) (831) (14,373) Net investment income $ 78369 § 64,855 S 52,553
Net realized gains for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002, end 2001 were
December 31, 2002 $55,032,000, $16,259,000, and $12,079,000, respectively. Included in net realized
over gains were adjustments to the carrying value of invesiments for declines in market value
0-6months  6-12 months 12 months Total considered other than temporary of $3,496,000, $6,592,000 and $1,200,000 for the:
Comman shares ’ o years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, raspeactively.
Number of Positions 119 1 120 As at December 31, 2003, bends and term depesits with an estimatad fair value of
Fair Value § 82037 § 2,351 $ 84388 $29,772,000 (2002 - $28,621,000) were on deposit with fegulatory authorities.
Carrying Value 91,163 2,676 - 93,839
Unrealized Loss {9,126} (325} - (9.451)
Preferred shares
Number of Positions 1 - - 1
Fair Value $ 837 § -8 887
Carrying Value 909 909
Unsealized Loss (22) (22)
Term deposits and bonds
Number of Positions 30 1 3
Fair Value $ 435124 § - 345§ 435469 .
Carrying Value 436,579 - 731 437,310
Unrealized Loss {1,455) L. {386) {1,841)
Total
Number of Positions 150 1 1 152
Fair Value $ 518048 3 2,351 345 $ 520744 g
Carrying Value 528,651 2,676 ™ 532,058 y
Unrealized Loss (10,603) (325) (386}

(11,314)




KINGSWAY FINANCIAL SERVICES INC,

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Tabutar amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except for per share amounts)

3. Capital assets

- . Share issue expenses of $2,991,000 net of applicable income taxes of $1,695 000 were
. deducted from the amount of share capital issued on July 3, 2003 and July 11, 2003.
_Share issue expenses of $7,948,000, net of applicable income taxes of $4,049,000,

2003
Accumulated Carrying were deducted from the amount of share capital issued on July 12, 2001 and December
Cost  Amoriization Value 19 2001,
Land $ 5607 § C 5,807 (@) During the year ended December 31, 2003, options to acquire 325,582 shares {2002
E“"‘%‘;‘@ 10 easehold Mprovements e el 422;? - 137,006; 2001 - 225,609 shares) were exercised at prices from $4.30 to $11.50
urniture and equipmen , X : . )
Computers and software development 29,019 16,184 12,835 per Sha_m (2002 - $4.30 to $14.50 per share; 2091 $4.00 10 $14.50 per share).
~ Automobiles 1,435 800 35 {b) The weighted average number of shares outstanding for the years ended December
. 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 were 52,306,647, 48,742,622 and 37,202,057,
Total -8 93'5",5 ) 26,564 66,981 respectively. On a diluted basis, the weighted average number of shares outstanding
for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 were 52,770,878,
49,427,348 and 37,856,100, respectively.
5. Stock-based compensation
Accumulated 2002 (a) The Company has established a stock option incentive plan for directors, officers
Cost  Amortization  Carrying Value and key employees of the Company and its subsidiaries. For December 31, 2003,
Land % 5650 § .8 5650 the maximum number of common shares that may be issued under the plan is
Bullding and leasehold improvements 21,628 4,299 17,329 4,800,000 (2002 - 3,400,000) common shares. The maximum number of comman
E“”‘"“{e and Squ‘gmem sveonmen zgjgg 1?;2? 12*:?3 shares available for issuance to any one person under the stock option plan is 5%
omputers and software developmen X ) ; : ) ) . L
Automabiles 1759 8§79 380 of the common shares outstanding at the time of the grant. The exerdmse price is
based on tha market value of the shares at the time the option is granted. In general,
Total $ 67.825 23,844 43,981 ) . e . g g
the options vest evenly over a three-year period and are exercisable for periods not
exceeding 10 years.
4. Share capital The following tables summarize information about stock options outstanding as at
Authorized: December 31, 2003, December 31. 2002 and December 31, 2001:
Unlimited number of common shares
Share transactions consist of the following: December 31, 2003
Weighted- ) ‘hemaining :
Avera'ge Exercise Date of Expiry Contractual Number Number
Shares SFDCk Exerc!se . Price Grant Date Life (Years) Ouistanding _ Exercisable
Issued Options Price Amount
$ 1353 10-Feb-03  10-Fedb-13 9.2 521,500 -
Balance as at $ 1956  21-Feb-02  21-Fed-12 8.2 416,500 138,833
December 31, 2000 34,056,597 1371338 § 800 3 148481 $ 7.80 22-Feb-01  22-Feb-11 7.2 235,177 140177
$ 430 24-Feb-00  24-Fed-10 6.2 337,256 337,256
Issued July 12, 2001 5,750,000 58,315
750, ) -Feb- -Feb- ) 175.7 175,702
tssued Oecember 19, 2001 8,625,000 138,073 S 150 25-Feb-9y 25-Feb:04 02 2702 2
Tota! . 71 1,686,135 791,968
Stock aptions:
Granted in year 367500 § 7.80 S -
Exercised in year 225,609 (225.609) 6.04 1,363
Farfeited in year {59,668) 6.98
December 31, 2002
Balance as at ) . Ramaining‘ N N
December 31, 2001 48657206 . 1453561 § 830 § 356232 Ep‘ﬁ?ef” Dgr‘:n?' ED“a’f’eY Eﬁg‘(’ﬁg;‘r’:) o R e
i
Stock options: § 1956  21-Feb-02  21-Feb-12 42 421,500 -
Granted in year 425500 § 1966 § 780  22-Feb-01  22-Feb-n 8.2 293,340 84,667
Exercised in year 137,006 (137,008) 7.00 960 $ 430 24-Feb-00  24-Feb-10 72 497,845 302,336
Forfeited in year {29,835) 11.39 $ 1150 25-Feb-99  25-Feb-04 12 293,535 293,535
$ 18.78 23-Apr-98  23-Ape-03 0.3 12,000 12,000
$ 1450 19-Feb-98  19-Fsb-03 0.2 194,000 194,000
Balance as at Total 6.0 1,712,220 886,538
December 31, 2002 48,794,212 1712220 % 17§ 357192 '
Issued July 3, 2003 6,100,000 99,137
Issued July 11, 2003 610,000 9,929
Stock options: December 31, 2001
Granted in year 525,000 13.53 Remaini
Exercised in year 325,582 (325,582) 7.40 2,410 — Date of Exoiy C:;‘:;'&"{‘ng Number Number-
Fod.eneq‘ln year (18.503) .88 Price Grant Date Life (Years)  Qutstanding Exercisable
Expired in year (206,000) 14.75
$ 780 22-Feb-01  22-Feb-11 9.2 346,500 -
5 430 24-Feb-00  24-Feb-10 8.2 565,190 147516
Balance as at ) $ 1150 25-Feti-99  25-Feb-04 2.2 322,203 211,034
18.78 23-Apr- 23-Apr-03 1.3 16,000 18,000
December 31, 2003 55,829,794 1686,135 § 1219 S 468,668 g 1450 194?:;‘32 ,g_é‘g_os 12 199,000 199,000
$ 840 2%4-Api-97  24-Apr-02 - 0.3 4,000 4,000
$ 875 20-Feb-97  20-Feb-02 0.2 658 668
T Toi 6.0 1,453,561 578,218
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KINGSWAY FINANCIAL SERVICES INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

- (Tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except for per share amounts)

At December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 the number of options exercisable is 791,868,
886,538 and 578,218, respectively, with weighted average prices of $8.21, $10.58 and
$10.87, respectively. ’

The Company determines the fair value of options granted using the Black-Scholes
option pricing mode!. The per share weighted average fair value of options granted during
2003, 2002 and 2001 was $6.11, $8.39 and $5.14. The Company will not record any
compensation expense for stock options granted in prior years. When these stock options
are exercised, the Company wil\ include the amount of proceeds in share capital.

The impact on net income and earnings par share if the Company had measured the
compensation element of stock optians granted based on the fair value on the date of
grant on all outstanding stack options on their grant date is disclosed as follows:

6. Underwriting policy and reinsurance ceded:

In the normal course of business, the Company seeks to reduce the loss that may
arise from catastrophe or other events that cause unfavourable underwriting results by
reinsuring certain levels of risk, in various areas of exposure, with other insurers. The
Company is not relieved of its primary obtigation to the policynolder as a result of the
reinsurance transaction.

Failure of reinsurers to honour their obligations could result in losses to the Company,
consequently, the Company continually evaluates the financial condition of its reinsurers
and monitors concentrations of credit risk to minimize its exposure to significant losses
from reinsurer insolvency.

The Company follows the policy of underwriting and reinsuring contracts of insurance,
which limits the company’s net exposure to the following maximum ameunts:

Years ended December 31

2003 2002 2001 2003 2002 ) 2001
Stock option expense included in Property claims . . )
employee compensation expense $ 678 § - 8 - Canadian operations $ 500 $ 500 % 500
-Us. I inU.S.$" 500 01
Net income, & reported S 85283 § 79532 S 44830 U-S. operations {in US.5's) § % s 508 500,
- Canadian — private passenger
Addcitional expense that would have been recorded A~ .
. automobile liabifity claims 2,500 1,000 1,000
if all outstanding stock options granted before utomonit Tabiity cial $ § $
January 1, 2003 had been expensed 1,656 1,890 . 1,057 Other liability claims (in U.S.$'s) $ 1000 3 1000 $ 1,000
Pro forma net income $ 83,627 § 77642 § 43,874
Eamirgs per share
Basic earnings per share - in addition, the company has obtained catastrophe reinsurance protection which provides
As reported S 163 8 183§ 1.21 coverage in the event of a series of events. This reinsurance limits its net retained
Pro forma ) 160 159 118 exposure and provides coverage up to cerlain maximum per occurrence amounts in
Diluted earnings per share excess of the retained loss as follows:
As reported S 162§ 161 8 119 ’ ’
Pro forma 1.58 157 116

The fair value of the options granted was estimated at the date of grant using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions:

2003 2002 2001

Risk-free interest rate 5.54% 5.54% 5.65%

Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Volatility of the expected market price of the

Company's Common shares 56.0% 58.1% 62.2%

Expected option life (in years) 5.5 54 5.5

The Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed for use in estimating fair

value of traded options which have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable.

As the Company’s employee stock options have characteristics significantly different

from those of traded options, and because changes in the subjective input assumptions

can materially affect the fair value estimate, in management's opinion, the above pro
forma adjustments are not necessarily a reliable single measure of the fair value of the

Company's employee stock options.

(b) The Company has an employee share purchase plan where qualifying employees
can choose each year to have up to 5% of their annual base eamings withheld
to purchase the Company's common shares. The Company matches one half of
the employee contribution amount, and its contributions vest immediately. Al
contributions are used by the plan administrator to purchase common shares in the
open market. The Company's contribution is expensed as paid and for the years
ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 totalled $392,000, $367,000 and
$252,000, respectively.

Years ended December 31

2003 2002 2001
Canada
- Retained loss $ 5000 § 1500 § 1,500
- Maximum coverage $ 45000 $ 38500 § 23,500
United States
- Retained loss {in U.S.$'s} $ 5000 § 5000 $ 1,000
- Maximum coverage (in U.S.$'s) $ 45000 § 80000 $ 14,000

During the year ended December 31, 2001, maximum coverage was maintained for
homeowners risks in Florida of U.S.$40,000,000.

The amounts deducted for reinsurance ceded from net premiums eamed, claims incurred
and commissions and premium taxes for the years December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001

were as follows:

2003 2002 2001

Net premiums earned $ 129899 $  9NE98 § 51,099
Claims incurred 96,652 33,256 35,705
Commissions and premium taxes 24,690 14,600 12,745

The amount of assumed premiums written was $329,702,000, $198,086,000 and
-$149,777,000 for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
The amount of assumed premiums eamed was $291,149,000, $191,790,000 and
$142,715,000 for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
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KINGSWAY FINANCIAL SERVICES INC,

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except for per share amounts)

7. Income taxes

(a)The Company's provision for income taxes, compared to statutory rates is

summarized as follows:

-

2003 2002 2001
Prodsion for taxes at Canadian statutory .
margiial income tax rate $ 28433 § 27304 § 2282
Non-tzxable investment income (838) (832) (282)
Foreign operations subject to different tax rates {32,722) {36,455} {9,106}
"Non-geductible goodwill amortization - .- - 2,786
Change in tax rates and other - (2,514) 1187 {5,936)
Pravision for {recovery of) income taxes 8 (7641} § {8,796y § 10,083
(b) The components of future income tax balances are as follows:
2003 2002
Future Excome tax assets:
Losses carried forward $ 30,569 $ 34,089
Unpeid claims and unearned premiums 36,382 32,663
Invesiments 5,926 1,713
Shars tssue expenses 3,920 2,985
Contingznt commission accruals 4,436 -
Other 4,385 4,639
Future income tax assets 85,618 76,089
Future income tax liabifities:
Deferrzd policy acquisition costs (9,399) (12,248)
Investmenis : (1,151 "(788)
Goodwil and intangible assets (2,878} . (2,843)
Other - (707)
Future ixcome tax liabilities (13,434) {16,584)
Net future income tax assets $ 72,184 $ 59505
(c) Amounts and expiration dates of the operating loss carryforward are as follows:
Net
Year of net Expiration operating
operating loss date loss
Canadizn operatjons:
2002 2009 § 17,741
2003 2010 37,323
Y.S. operations:
1995 2010 961
1997 2012 2,701
1998 2018 1,153
2000 2020 402
2001 2021 21,883
2002 2022 5,737

8. Unpaid claims

{a) Nature of unpaid cfaims

The establishment of the provision for unpaid claims is based on known facts and
interpretation of circumstances and is therefore a complex and dynamic process
influenced by a large variety of factors. These factors include the Company's
experience with similar cases and historical trends involving claim payment patterns,
loss payments, pending levels of unpaid claims, product mix or concentration, claims
severity and claim frequency patterns.

Other factors include the continually evolving and changing regulatory and legal
environment, actuarial studies, professional experience and expertise. of the
Company's claim departments’ personng! and independent adjusters retained to
handle individuat claims, the quality of the data used for.projection purposes, existing

claims management practices including claims handling and settlement practices,’

the effect of inflationary trends on future claims settlement costs, court decisions,
economic conditions and public attitudes. In addition, time can be a critical part of
the provision determination, since the longer the span between the incidence of a
loss and the payment or settiement of the claims, the more variable the ultimate
seftlement amount can be. Accordingly, short-tail claims such as property claims,
tend to be more reasonably predictable than long-tailed claims, such as general
liability and automobile accident benefit claims which are less predictable.
Consequently, the process of establishing the provision for unpaid claims is complex
and imprecise as it relies on the judgement and opinions of a large number of
individuals, on historical precedent and trends, on prevaifing legal, economic, social
and regulatory trends and on expectations as to future developments. The process
of determining the provision necessarily involves risks that the actual results will
deviate, perhaps substantially, from the best estimates made.

(b) Provision for unpaid claims
The Company completes an annual evaluation of the adequacy of unpaid claims at
the end of each financial year. This evaluation includes a re-estimation of the liability
for unpaid claims relating to each preceding financial yeér compared to the liability
that was originally established. The results of this comparison and the changes in the
provision for unpaid claims for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001
were as follows:

2003 2002 2001

Unpaid claims - beginning of year - net $ 1,066,356 $ 487228 $ 342776
Net unpaid claims of subsidiaries acquired - 207,840 -
Provision for claims occurring:

In the current year . 1,599,196 1,152,507 588,942

In priar years 196,783 101,078 33,874
Claims paid during the vear relating to:

The current year | (644,801) (481,352} (303,783}

The prior years (505,170) (362,051) (189,801)
Currency translation adj . (198,075) (8,896} 15,221
Unpaid claims — end of year — net 1,514,289 1,066,356 487,229
Reinsurers' and other insurers’
share of unpaid claims 155,445 - 134,198 102,734
Unpaid claims - end of year $ 1,669,734 $ 1,200,554 $ 589,963

(d) if the Company believes that all of its future income tax assets will not result in
- future tax benefits, it must establish a valuation allowance for the portion of these
assets that it thinks will not be realized. Based predominantly upon a review of
the Company’s anticipated future earnings, but also including all other available
evidence, both positive and negative, the Company has concluded it is “more likely

than not™ that its net future income tax assets will be realized.

The results for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 were adversely
affected by the evaluation of unpald claims related to prior years. In 2002 and 2001
adverse development of Ontaric automobile claims (including standard and non-standard
automobile, motorcycle, commercial auto and long haul trucking) was the primary reason
for the unpaid claims deficiency as well as development in non-standard automobile
claims in southeastern United States. in 2003, adverse development on unpaid claims
came from Ontario and Alberta automabile claims and non-standard automabile claims
in southeastern United States.
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KINGSWAY FINANCIAL SERVICES INC.

Notes to Consolidated Fmanmal Statements

(Tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except for per share amounts)

Ontario Automobile .

Ontario private passenger automabile contributed $32.8 milfion in 2003 and $26.4
million in 2002 of prior year claims development. The increase in fraudulent claims,
the erosion of the tort threshold and accelerating heaith cost inflation contributed to
the required increase in claims fiabilities related to prior years. Evolving case law and
the erosion of the tost threshold in Ontario has led to an extension of the reporting
period during which a plaintiff may bring suit. Also, beginning in 2000, we identified
significantly increased frequency and severity trends in health care cost in Ontario where
we are required to offer unlimited coverage and much higher liability limits than our other
markets. The estimated provisions related to automobile accident benefit claims were
also increased as {he assumed inflation rate and severity factors previously utilized were
found to be inadequate based on actual development experienced in 2003.

Alberta Automobile

Alberta non-standard automobile business contributed $34.5 miltion of the prior years’
claims development in 2003, compared to $16.3 million in 2002 An increase in
average reserves due to the continued escalation in bodily injury clalm settiements was
the reason for the adverse claims development in 2002 and 2003 in Alberta, where we
increased existing case reserves based on actual settlement patterns.

Southeastern United States Non-Standard Automobile

Adverse devetopment of unpaid losses incurred accounted for approximately $24.1 milfion
and $25.3 million in 2003 and 2002 reported incurred losses, fespectively. Similar to
Ontario, Florida has experienced a significant acceleration in fraudulent claims activity
over the last several years. Continued cost escalation of loss adjusting expenses and
an increase in the number of files litigated required upward adjustments to open claims

reserves for both the current and prior years as the unfavourable legal environment has -

resulted in the inflation of claims payments beyond our original estimates.

Canadian and U.S. Operations Trucking

Trucking business contributed $32.4 million to the 2003 prior years’ claims development,
compared to $20.6 miltion in the same period in 2002. Increases in-reserves were due
to larger than anticipated settlements, particufarly in the U.S., which required upward
adjustments to open claim files, Average claim file reserves were increased to reflect
this pattern of settlement. Case reserves were increased to reftect the increased cost
on injury claims similar to the development experienced on the Ontario automobile
business.

(c) The fair value of unpaid claims and adjustment expenses, gross and recoverable from
reinsurers, has been omitted because it is not practicable to determine fair value with
sufficient reliability.

9. Acquisitions

In 1999 the Company acquired all of the outstanding shares of Hamilton lnvestments, inc.
(*Hamilton"). All consideration was payable in cash, part of which was paid at closing,
with the remaining payments based on the earnings of Hamiltton for the fiscal years 1999
to 2003. The present value of the guaranteed future payments was accrued at the date

- of acquisition. The additional consideration payable for the'years ended December 31,

2003, 2002 and 2001 was $2,163,000, $2,369,000 and $2,336,000, respectively. At
December 31, 2003 no contingent consideration based on earnings was payable.

On April 5, 2002, the Company acquired alt of the outstanding common and preferred
shares of American Country Holdings, Inc. for a purchase price of $37.8 million. The
results of American Country's operations have been included in the consolidated financial

statements since March 31, 2002. American Country owns all the outstanding shares of

American Country Insurance Company, an insurer of taxicabs based in Chicago, Hlinis.

The folblowing table summarizes the estimated fair value of the assets acquired and the

liabifities assumed at the date of acquisition:

Cesh and investments $ 216,885
Accounts receivable 102,986
Other tangible assets 35,708
Intangible assets

Contracts 3782

Insurance licenses 3,553

Goodwill 20,110
Total assets ' 383,024
Bank indebtedness 15,794
Insurance liabilities 304,200
Accounts payable . 22,454
Other liabilities 570
Total fiabilities . 343,018
Purchase price $ 40,006

10. Segmented information

The Company provides property and casualty insurance and other insurance related
services in three reportable segments: Canada, the United States and corporate and
other insurance related services. The Company’s Canadian and United States segments
include transactions with the Company's reinsurance subsidiaries. At the present time,
other insurance related services are not significant. Results for the Company’s operating
segments are based on the Company's internal financial reporting systems and are
consistent with those followed in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements.
The segmented infarmation for December 31, 2003 is summarized as follows:

Corporate

Canada _United States and Other Total
Gross premiums written $ 654877 $ 1981945 § $ 2,636,822
Net premiums earmed 554,334 1,827,650 2,381,984
Irvestment income {l0ss) 33,631 45,528 {790) 78,369
Net reatized gains (losses) 12,495 42,563 (26) 55,032
Interest expense - 13,077 7.906 20,983
Amaortization of capital assets 787 5,378 1,333 7,478
Amortization of intangible assets - 854 - 854
Net income tax expense (recovery)  {7,652) 9,685 (9.674) (7.641)
Nt income (loss) {16,670) 95,936 6,017 85,283
Total assets $ 1154646 § 2415966 $ 59,823 § 3,630,436
Undenwriting profit (loss) {65,383) 31,461 - (33,922)
Claims ratio . 837% 71.5% . - 74.3%
Expense ratie : 28.1% 26.8% - 271%

Combined ratio ) 11.8% 98.3% - 101.4%.

P
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Tabutar amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except for per share amounts)

The segmented information for December 31, 2002 is summarized below:‘

Corporate

Canada _ United States - and Other Total
Gross premiums written $ 490754 $ 1633937 § - 0§ 2124697
Net premiums earned 415,227 1,322,527 - 1,737,754
Investment income {Joss) 24,059 41,583 (787} 64,855
Net realized gains (losses) (2,574) 17,084 1,749 © 16,259
Interest expense - 10,508 1,766 12,274
Amortization of capital assets 748 7529 1,081 9,358
Net income tax expense {recovery)  {6,005) (3,751) . 960 {8,796)
Amortization of intangible assets - ) 718 . - 716
Net income (lpss} (13,042) 88,708 3866 79,532
Total assets $ 12999818 § 1670807 $ 13,708 $ 2984434
Additions to goodwill - 20,110 - 20,110
Additions to intangible assets - 7335 - 7,335
Underwriting profit (loss) (34,902) 37,514 - 2,612
Claims ratin 78.3% 69.2% - 71.4%
Expense ratio 30.1% 28.0% - 28.4%
Combined ratio 108.4% 97.2% - 99.8%

The segmented information for December 31, 2001 is summarized below:

Corporate

Canada United States and Other Total
Gross premiums written $ 356049 $ 709213 B - $ 1,065,262
Net premiums earned 321,926 550,804 - 872,830
Investment income 25,035 27,289 229 52,553
Net realized gains 7.579. 4,426 74 12,079
Interest expense - 10,262 To1437 11,399
Amortization of capital assets 644 3,132 1,361 5137
Net income tax expense 2,941 6,730 412 10,083
Goodwill amortization 701 5,105 50 5,856
Net income 14,925 27,080 2,926 44,931
Total assets $ 633545 $1,075538 § 69661 $ 1778744
Underwriting profit {loss) (9.826) - 17,463 - 7638
Claims ratio 73.5% 68.9% - 70.6%
Expense ratio 29.6% 27.9% - 28.5%
Combined ratio 103.1% 96.8% - 98.1%

The Company's gross premiums written are derived from the following business lines
and geographical areas:

2003 2002 2001
Business Line
Personal Lines: .
Non-Standard Auto 37% 39% 51%
Standard Auto 4% 2% 3%
Motorcycle 2% 2% 4%
Property (including Liability) 1% 2% 3%
Warranty 1% 1% 2%
Other Specialty Lines 1% 1% 1%
Total Personal Lines . 46% 47% 64%
Commercial Lines: ’
Trucking 3% 32% 24%
Commercial Auto H% 8% 5%
Property (including Liability) 10% 1% 5%
Other Specialty Lines 2% 2% 2%
Total Commercial Lines 54% 53% 36%
Totat Gross Premiums Written 100% 100% 100%

2003 2002 2001
Geographical Area

United States:
California 13% 1% 4%
Florida 12% 12% 13%
lllinois 10% 1% 15%
Texas % % 6%
South Carolina 3% 4% 5%
Alabama 2% 3% 4%
Pennsylvania » 2% 3% 3%
Other : 26% 26% 17%
Total United States 5% 7% 67%
Canada:
Ontario 12% 10% 16%
Alberta 6% 6% %
Quebec 5% 5% 8%
Other 2% 2% 2%
Total Canada 25% 23% 33%
Total Gross Premiums Written 100% 100% 100%

11. Indebtedness and subsequent events

(a) Bank indebtedness
On February 23, 1999, the Company entered into a U.S.$100 million unsecured
credit facility with a syndicate of banks. Under this facility the Company has the
option to borrow at a fioating rate equivalent to the banks prime rate or for a fixed
term at a fixed rate of LIBOR plus a spread based on the Company's credit rating or
upon the ratio of funded dzbt to total capitalization, whichever is higher. The facility
is for a fixed term of five years and one day and was fully drawn on March 5, 1999
for general corporate purposes. During each of the years ended Decermber 31, 2003,
2002 and 2001 the Company repaid U.S.$5 million. The facility matures on March
5. 2004 and the Company anticipates refinancing the facility prior to its maturity.
In March, 1389, the Company entered into interest rate swap contracts whereby the
Company fixed its rate on this U.S.$100 million debt at 5.91% plus a spread based
on the Company's credit rating or upon the ratio of funded debt to total capitalization,
whichever is higher, for the period of the facility. The fair values of the liabilities under
the swap contracts at December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 were $1,506,000,
$8,632,000 and $7,479,000, respectively.
In May, 2002, the Company entered into a $66.5 million revolving credit facility with
a syndicate of banks which was renewed in May, 2003. The facility is a 364 day
revolving credit facility at a floating interest rate determined based on the type of
foan and the Company's senior unsecured debt rating. As at December 31, 2003,
$50,275,000 (2002 - $33,076,000} was outstanding under this facility with an
effective interest rate of approximately 3% (2002 - 3%).

(b) Senior unsecured debentures
On December 6, 2002, the Company issued $78 million of .8'25% unsecured
senior debentures with a maturity date of December 31, 2007. The debentures are
redeemable prior to the maturity date, at the Company’s option, providing at least
30 days notice fo debenture holders. Interest on the debentures is payable semi-
annually in arrears. The net proceeds to the Company were $77,087,42C.

G}

Subordinated indebtedness
Between December 4, 2002 and December 16, 2003, six subsidiary trusts of the
Company issued U.S.$80.5 miflion of 30 year capital securities to third parties in
separate private transactions. In each instance, a corresponding floating rate junior
subordinated deferrable interest debenture was then issued by Kingsway America
-Inc. to the trust in exchange for the proceeds from the private sale. The floating rate
debentures bear interest at the rate of the London interbank offered interest rate for
three-month U.S. dollar deposits, plus spreads ranging from 3.85% to 4.20%, but
until dates ranging from December 4, 2007 to January 8, 2008, the interest rates
will not exceed 12.45% to 12.75%. The Company has the right to call each of these
securities at par anytime after five years from their issuance until their maturity, The
net proceeds to the Company were $95,613,000 in 2003 and $22,198,000 in 2002
after deducting expenses of $6,273,000 and $1,438,000, respectively.
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KINGSWAY FINANCIAL SERVICES INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Tabutar amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except for per share amounts)

(d) Subsequent events
.On January 20, 2004, a subsidiary of the Company, Kingsway America Inc.
completed the sale of U.S.$100 million 7.50% senior notes due 2014 In a private
offering. The notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by the Company.
The notes wili be redeemable at Kingsway America’s option on or after February
1, 2009. On February 4, 2004, Kingsway America repaid U.S.334.5 million
outstanding under the $66.5 million revolving credit facility described in (a) above.

12. Contingent liabilities

(a) Legal Proceedings

In connection with its operations, the Company and its subsidiaries are, from time
to time, named as defendants in actions for damages and costs allegedly sustained
by the plaintiffs. While it is not possible to estimate the outcome of the various
proceedings at this time, such actions have generally been reselved with minimal
damages or expense in excess of amounts provided and the Company does not
believe that it will incur any significant additional loss or expense in conngction with
such actions. :

(b) Statutory Requirements

Statutory policyholders” capital and surplus of the Company’s insurance subsidiaries
was $816.2 milion and $654.3 milion at December 31, 2003 and 2002,
respectively.

The Company's subsidiaries are subject to certain requirements and restrictions
under their respective statutory insurance legislations including minimum asset
requirements and dividend restrictions. For the year 2003, under the various
insurance regulatory restrictions, based on the Company's December 31, 2003
financial staiements, the Company's insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries would
have aggregate dividend capacity of $212.9 million (2002 - $180.3 million).

(c) Letters of Credit

On October 4, 2002 the Company entered into a syndicated U.S.$350 million letter
of credit facility. The letter of credit facility is principally used to collateralize inter-
company reinsurance balances for statutory capital management purposes. The
Company pledges securities to collateralize the utilized portion of the letter of credit
facility. At December 31, 2003 and 2002 the letter of credit facility utilization was
U.5.$306.3 million and U.S.$304.6 million, respectively.

Alse from time to time, the Company pledges securities to third parties to collateratize
liabilities incurred under its policies of insurance. At December 31, 2003 and 2002,
the amount of pledged securities was U.$.$33.9 million and U.5.$49.2 million,
respectively. '

13. Fair value disclosure
The fair value of financia! assets and liabilities, other than investments (note 2), unpaid

claims (note 8) and interest rate swaps (note 11) approximate their carrying amounts.

14, Reconéiliation of Canadian and United States Génerally Accepted
Accounting Principles = )

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP") in Canada. The significant
differences between Canadian GAAP and U.S. GAAP, which affect the Company's

consolidated financial statements, are described below:

The following table reconciles the consolidated net income as reported under Canadian
- GAAP with net income and other comprehensive income in accordance with U.S, GAAP:

2003 2002 2001
Net income based on Canadian GAAP $ 85,283 79,532 % 44,931
impact on net income of U.S. GAAP adjustments, net of tax:
Deferred start-up costs (a) 938 1,052 1,037
Goodwill amortization (b} - - 116
Equity accounting (c) 983 1,237 281
Gain on sale of USA Insurance Group {c} R {1,451) - -
Netincome based on U.S. GAAP * S 85,753 81,821 § 45,365
QOther comprehensive income adjustments:
Change in unrealized gain on investments classified
as available for sale {d) 19,976 20,973 11,896
Change in fair value of interest rate swaps (e) 7,126 {1,152 {7,479)
Less: related future income taxes 6,170 4,948 2512
Other comprehensive income adjustments 20,932 14,872 2,005
Currency translation adj in the periog (f} (‘105,403) (4,409 11,447
Other comprehensive income (loss) (84,471) 10,463 13,452
Total comprehensive income $ 1,282 92284 8§ 59,817
*Basic earnings per share based
on U.S. GAAP net income $ 1.64 168 ¢ 1.25
" “Diluted earnings per share based
166 § 1.22

on U.S. GAAP net income $ - 183

The following table reconciles shareholders’ equity as reported under Canadian GAAP

with shareholders’ equity in accordance with U.S. GAAP:

2003 2002
Shareholders' equity based on Canadian GAAP 704,959 $ 612,925
Other comprehensive income 37,490 16,558
Cumulative net income impact:
Deferred start-up costs {a) (1,043) {1,981)
Goodwill amortization (b) (1,213) (1,213)
Equity accounting (c) 1,618 635
Gain on sate of USA Insurance Greup (¢} {1,451) -
Shareholders' equity based on U.S. GAAP 740,380 § 526,924

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 130 “Reporting Comprehensive
Income” requires the Company to disclose items of other comprehensive income in a
financial statement and to disclose accumulated balances of other comprehensive
income or loss in the equity section of the Compary’s consolidated balance sheet.
Comprehensive income, which incorporates net income, includes all changes in equity
during a period, except those resulting from investments by, and distributions to, owners.
There is no requirement to disclose comprehensive income under Canadian GAAP.
Total cumulative other co‘(nprehensive income {loss) amounted to $(56,823,000) and

$27,648,000 as at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

(a) Deferred start-up costs

(b) Goodwill amortization

Under Canadian GAAP, start-up costs of Avalon Risk Managerﬁent, Inc. are deferred
and amortized over a five year period commencing from the date the start-up period
ended. Under U.S. GAAP, such costs are expensed in the periods in which the

expenditures are incurred. 71‘?

As per Note 1(g), effective January 1, 2002, alf existing goodwill which is currently
included in the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets ceased to be amortized
to income over time for both Canadian and U.S. GAAP, and is subject to a periodic
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impairment review to ensure that the fair value remains greater than, or equal to,
book value. Any excess of book value over fair value will be charged to income in
the period in which the impairment is determined. The Company adopted this new
standard prospectively. As a result of the adoption of this new standard, no goodwill
amortization was recorded in the twelve months ended December 31, 2002 and
2003.

Under Canadian GAAP, guarantee fund assessment liabilities were estimated and
accrued at the date of acquisition, which resulted in an increase in the amount of
goodwill recorded. Under U.S. GAAP, such costs are expenses in the periods in which
the liabilities are estimated. : ,

Priof to Jénuary 1, 2002, under Canadian GAAP, the amortization of goodwill was
shown as the final item in the Statement of Operations, net of applicable taxes,
whereas under U.S. GAAP this presentation was not permitted and the applicable
taxes would be included in the income tax expense on the Statement of Operations.
As a result, under U.S. GAAP, the applicable taxes of $818,000 for the twelve
months ended December 31, 2001 would be reclassified to increase the goodwill
amortization and decrease the income tax expenses. Goodwill amartization would be
classified with expenses under U.S. GAAP.

(¢

Equity accounting

Under Canadian GAAP, the Company's 25% equity investment in USA Group was
carried at cost as the Company did not have significant influence over the investee.
Under U.S. GAAP the Company is desmed to have significant influence because the
Company's equity investment exceeds 20%, and the equity method of accounting
is used. This method recognizes the Company's share of net income or loss of the
investee. Also, under U.S. GAAP goodwill is recognized, and prior to December 31,
2001 was being amortized over a period of 10 years.

The Company disposed of its equity investment in USA Group in November, 2003
and had to reverse a partion of the gain under U.S. GAAP due to the difference in
the cost base of the investment under Canadian and U.S. GAAP.

Portfoiio investments

Under Canadian GAAP, portfolio investments are carried at cost or amortized
cost, and where a decline in value of an invastment is considered to be other than
temporary, a write-down of the investment to its estimated recoverable amount is
recorded. Under U.S. GAAP, such investments would be classified as avaitable for
sale and are marked to market after write-downs for other than temporary declines
in values, and the unrealized gain or foss, net of any future income taxes, is recorded
25 other comprehensive income, a component of shareholders' equity.

C

-(e). Accounting for-Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

*In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (*FASB™) issued Statement
No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” (*FAS

. 133"), as.amended by Statements No. 137-and 138, which established accounting
and reporting “standards for derivative instruments and for hedging activities.
Under FAS 133, all derivative instruments, including certain derivative instruments
embedded in other contracts, are recognized as either assets or liabilities in the
balance sheet at their fair values, and changes in such fair values must be recognized
immediately in earnings uniess specific hedging criteria are met. The Company
adopted this statement effective Janvary 1, 2001 for purposes of its U.S. GAAP
reconciliation. The Company has purchased-interest rate swap contracts that are
designated as cash flow hedges against the amounts barrowed under the unsecured
credit facility. The terms of the swaps match those of the unsecured credit facility,
and were entered into to minimize the Company’s exposure to fluctuations in interest
rates. The change in the fair value of interest rate swap contracts is reflected in other
comprehensive income.

(f

Currency translation adjustments
The Company reports its results in Canadian dollars. The operations of the
Company's subsidiaries in the United States and Barbados are self-sustaining.
These subsidiaries hold alf of their assets and liabilities and report their results in
U.S. dollars. As a result, the assets and liabilities of these subsidiaries are translated
at the year-end rates of exchange. The unrealized gains and losses, which result
from transtation are deferred and included in shareholders’ equity under the caption
“currency translation adjustment”. The currency transiation account will change with
fluctuations in the U.S. to Canadian doflar exchange rate.

(g) Future accounting pronouncements
The Company does not expect the adoption of any known proposed accounting
pronouncements to have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

15. Comparative figures

Certain' comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with the financial
statement presentation adopted in the current year.

16. Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Financial Information

Kingsway America Inc. (KAl) issued senior notes which are fully and unconditionally
guaranteed by the Company. The following is condensed consclidating financial
information for the Company as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 and for the three years
ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, with a separate column for each of KAl as
Issuer, the Campany (“KFSI"} as Guarantor and the other businesses of the Comparny
combined (the “Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries™). For the purposes of the condensed

equity method.
Condensed Consclidating Statement of Operations
For the year ended December 31, 2003
KFSt KAl Cther idiaries  Consolidation adjustment Total
(the" Guarantor”) {the “issuer”} (e “Non-Guarantor subsidiaries”)

Revenues
Net premiums earned . $ - $ - $ 2381984 - $ - $ 2,381,984
Investment related income 816) 24,255 109,962 . 133,401
Management Fees 45,040 2,849 - {48,889) -

45,224 27,004 . 2,491,946 (48,859) ' 2,515,385
Expenses ’ :
Claims incurred . 1,784,091 (13,854) 1,770,137
Commissions and premium taxes . . 503,158 . 503,158
Other expenses 40975 11,475 125950 (34,935) 143,485
Interest expense 7,906 - 13,077 - 20,383

48,881 11,475 2,426,276 (48,889) 2,437,743
Income before income taxes {3,857) 15,629 65870 - 77.642
Income taxes . {9.674) 5272 {3,239 - 7.641)
Equity in undistributed net income of subsidiaries 79,266 13,475 - (92,741) -
Net Income $ 85,283 S 23,832 $ 68,909 $ 92,741) s 85,283

consolidating financial information, the Company carries its investments under the
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations

For the year ended December 31, 2002

KFSt

Kal Other subsicieries Consolidation adjussments Total
{theGuarantor”) (he issuer’) (e “Men-Guaranior subsidiarasT)
Revenues
Net premiums earned $ - - $ 181328 $  (75.454) $ 1,737,754
Investment related income 960 2,381 71,773 - 81,114
Management Fees 38,001 2,153 - {40.754) -
38,961 4,534 1,890,881 (113,608) 1,818,868
Expenses
Claims incurred 1,323.780 {83,451} 1,240,329
Commissions and premium taxes - - 379123 {7.072) 372,051
Other expenses 32,369 7,334 122,451 (38.676) 123,478
Interest expense 1,766 - 10,508 - 12,274
34,135 7,334 1,835,862 (122,199) 1,748,132
Income before income laxes 4,826 {2,800) 55,118 - 13,591 70,736
Income taxes 980 976) 8.780) - (8,796)
Equity in undistributed net income of subsidiaries 75,666 {3.608) - (72,058) -
Net Income $ 79532 (5.432) $ 6389 $ 58487 $ 79532
Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations
For the year ended December 31, 2001
KFS KAl Other subsidiaries Consolidation aciussnents Total
{the"Guarantor”) {the *lssuer) {he “hor-Guarantor subsidiaries™
Revenues . L
Net premiums garned 3 - - $ 87280 3 $ 872830
investment related income 304 2,208 62120 - 64,632
Management Fees 29,516 1,762 - 37,278} -
29,820 3,970 934,820 {31,278) 937 462
Expenses
Claims incurred - - 623.183 (7.084) 616,079
Commissions and premium taxes - - 167,176 - 167,176
Other expenses 25,297 2,168 93,835 {39,363) 81,938
Interest expense 1,136 - 10.283 - 11,398
26,433 2,168 894,433 {48,477} 876,592
Income before income taxes 3,387 1,802 40,512 13,189 60,870
Income taxes 412 612 9,053 - 10,083 .
Amortization of goodwill, net of applicable income tax - - 5836 - 5,856
Equity in undistributed net income of subsidiaries 41,956 12,724 - (54,680) -
Net income $ 44,931 13,814 $ 25597 S #8.51) $ 44,931
Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet
For the year ended December 31, 2003
KFSI KAl Other idiaries  Cor dj) Total
- {the™Guarantor™} Qe “lssuer”) &he “Yor-Guanantor subsidiares™) N
Assets ' B .
Investments in subsidiaries $ 739,653 481,943 $ 802724 $ (2.004,320) $ -
Cash 23302 2473 115,18 - 140,883
Investments 2523 - 2,509,529 - 2,512,052
Goodwill and other intangible assets - - 75,800 10,040 85,840
Other assels 35428 33,800 2,362,164 (1,538,731} 891,661
$ 800,906 498,216 $ 5,865,325 $ (3,534,011) $ 3,630,436
Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity
Liabilities:
Bank indebtedness $ 16,514 - $ 137,381 $ - $ 153,895
Other liabilities 1,433 17,850 112205 (102) 131,388
Unearned premiums - - 1,204,248 {517,765) 776,481
Unpaid claims - - 2,638,518 (968,784) 1,669,734
Senior unsecured debentures 78,000 - - - 78,000
Subordinated indebtedness - 115,981 - 115,981
95,947 133,831 4,182,350 (1,486,651} 2,925,477
Shareholders” equity:
Share capital 468,668 423911 1518.315 (1,343,226 468,668
Contriuted surplus 678 - - - 678
Currency translation adjustment (94,313} (64,991) (25,348) 90,339 (94,313)
Retained eamings 329.926 5,465 189,008 (184,473 329,926
704,959 364,385 1,682.975 {2.047.360) 704,959
) $ 800,806 498,216 $ 5,865,325 $ (3.534,011) $ 3,630,436
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Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet

For the year ended December 31, 2002

. . KFSt KAl Other subsidiaries Consolidation adjustments Total
{the"Guarartor”) (the *Issuer?)  (the “Non-Guarantor subsidiaries”)
Assets
tvestments in subsidiaries $ 6191792 $ 347253 $ 761943 $ (1,728,388) $ -
Cash 1,402 464 243,055 - 244,92t
investments - 5138 506 1,828,099 - 1,833,744
Goodwill and other intangible asse! - - 94,250 10,040 104,280
Other assets - . 87,756 (41,824) 1,856,742 (1,101,095) 801,479
. $ 713489 - $  306.299 $ 4,784,089 $ (2,819.443) $ 2984434
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity : o
Labilifies:
Bank indebledness $ 20,532 - $ 148858 3 - $ 170,330
Other liabilities 2,032 1,389 120,008 ~ (823) 122,606
Uneamed premiums - - 1,282,603 (506,280) 776323
Unpaid claims - 1,809,608 (609,054} 1,200,554
Senior unsecured debantures 78,000 - - - 78,000
Subordinated indebtedness - 23,636 - - 23,636
100,564 25,025 3,362,077 (1,116,157) 2,371,509
Shareholders’ equity:
Share capital 357,192 335,757 1,285,744 {1,631,501) 357,182
Currency translation adjustment 11,090 (49,051) 17,481 31570 11,080
Retained eamings 244,643 (5,432) 108,787 (103,355) 244,643
612,325 281274 1,422,012 {1,703,286) 612,825
$ 713489 $ 306299 $ 4,784,089 $ (2,819,443) $ 2,984,434
Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flow
For the year ended December 31, 2003
' C KFSI Kal Other subsidiaries ~ Consclidation adjustments Total
(the"Guarantor”) (the “Issuer™)  {the "Non-Guarantor subsidiaries”)
Cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities: . .
Nat income $ 85,283 3 23,832 $ 68,909 $ (92,741) s 85,283
Adjustments 10 recongile net income 1o net cash used by operating activities:
Equity in undistributad earmings in subsidiaries {79,266) {13,475) - 92,741 -
Other 56,973 (84,742) 564,745 (4,333) 532,641
62,990 (74,367) 633,654 {4,353) 617,924
Fnancing activities: .
Increase in share capital, net 111,476 88,154 204.906 (293.060) 111,476
\ncrease/{gecr2ase) in bark indebledness 6,018) - 20,085 - 18,077
Increase in mortgage ban - 17,760 (4,016) (13,744) -
Increase in subordinated indebtedness 101,866 - - -101,886
107,458 207,800 220,985 (306,804) 223,438
Investing activities:
Purchase of investments (29,692) (7.228) (6,598,124) 20,015 (6,615,029}
Proceeds from sale of investments ) 32,408 25,732 5,642,213 - 5,700,353
Other {151,264) (149,928} {26.675) 291,142 [36,725)
) (148,548) (131,424) (982,586) 311,157 {951,401)
increase {decrease) in cash during the year 21,800 2,009 127,947) - {104,038)
Cash, beginning of year 1,402 464 243,055 - 244,821
Cash, end of year $ 23,302 $ 2,473 $ 115,108 S - § 140,883
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flow

For the year ended December 31, 2002

KFSI KAl Other subsidiaries Consolidation adjustments Total
{the"Guarantor”) (the “lssuer”)  (the "Non-Guarantor subsidiaries”)
Cash provided by fused m): i
Operating activities:
Net income 3 79,532 $ (5,432) 3 63,899 $ (58,467) $ 79,532
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash used by operating activities:
Equity in undistributed earnings in subsidiaries {75,666) 3,608 - - 72,058 -
Other {73.617) 79,919 475,084 39,456 520,852
(69,751} 78,095 538,993 53,047 600,384
Financing activities:
Increase in share capital, net 960 82,744 11,002 (93,746) 960
Increase/(decrease) in bank indebtedness 6,186 C . 20,766 - 26,952
Increase in subortinated indebtedness - 23,636 - 23,636
Increase In senior unsecured indebtedness 78,000 - 78,000
85,146 106,380 31,768 {93,746) 129,548
Investing activities:
Purchase of investments (145,341) (177) (4,251,307 {4,396,825)
Proceeds from sale of investments 185,651 - 3,671,399 - 3,857,050
Other {56,402) (184,588) 158,955 40,699 {41,436)
{16,092 (184,865) {420,953) 40,699 (581,211)
Ingrease (decrease) in cash during the year 97 - (390) 149,808 148,721
Cash, beginning of year -2,099 854 . 93,247 96,200
Cash, end of year ) $ 1,402 $ 464 $. 243085 $. $ 244921
Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flow
For the year ended December 31, 2001
KFS! KAl Other subsidiaries Consolidation adjustments Tota!
{the"Guarantor”) (the *lssuer)  {the "Non-Guarantor subsidiaries”)
Cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities:
Net income $ 44,931 $ 13914 $ 25597 $  (38511) $ 44,831
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash used by cpareting activities:
Equity in undistribuled eamings in subsidiaries (41,956) (12,724} - 54,680 - -
Other {10.432) 8,079 180,908 - 162,397
(7.457} {6.889) 206,505 15,169 207.328
Financing activities:
Increase in share capital, net 207,751 70,610 . 93,664 {164,274) 207,751
Increase/{decrease) in bankingebtedness ’ 139 - . 7,174) - 7.035)
] 207,890 - 70610 86,490 " (184,274) 200716
Investing activities: .
Purchase of investments (129,274) 9.682) (2,138,687) - (2,277 643)
Proceeds from sale of investments 97,258 9,898 1,851,522 - 1,958,678
Other (167,772) 72,313 68,261 149,105 (22,719)
(199,788) 72,097 (218,904) 149,105 {341,684)
Increase {decrease) in cash during the year 645 (8.376) 74,091 - 66,360
Cash, beginning of year 1,454 9,230 19,156 - 29,840
Cash, end of year $ 2,089 .} 854 $ 93,247 $ - $- 96200
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2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 1998
Gross premiums written S 283682 § 212461 § 1065262 S 643,022 § 508,595 $  £03.200 $ 210795 $ 140,610
Net premiums earned 2,381,984 1.737,754 872,830 539,969 445,557 314.651 174,462 107,679
Underwriting profit (loss) (33,822) 2612 7,637 (5,280) {11,458) 18.075 7318 4,707
Invesiment income 78,369 64,855 52,553 44,576 37,798 30,959 15,660 8,271
Net realized gains . 55,032 16,259 12,079 10,444 950 8.640 6,176 2778
Net income 85,283 79,532 44931 27,470 ’ 13,588 - 31011 22,151 11,162
_ Shareholders' equity 704,959 . 612,925 . 536,842 272,713 ' 242,042 250.065 213,248 86,634
Total assets 3,630,436 2,984,434 1778744 1,173,928 1,071,710 1.012.776 511,229 248,233
Retained earnings 329,936 244,643 165,111 120,180 92,710 o112 48,101 25,950
Key [ndicators
NPW 10 Statutery Surplus ratio 29 3.1 22 25 20 1.5 19 23
Interest Coverage ratio 52 78 71 49 28 35 N/A N/A
Debt to Capitalization ratio 22% 28% 21% 35% 39% L6% N/A N/A
Claims ratio (%)
Company 74.3% 71.4% 70.6% 68.9% 68.4% 61.6% 65.3% 64.9%
Industry - Canada 70.2% 74.1% 77.3% 74.4% 736% 73.7% 70.8% 72.1%
Expense ratio (%)
Company 27.4% 28.4% 28.5% 32.1% 34.2% 32.3% 30.5% 30.7%
Industry - Canada 28.5% 3N7% 33.5% 33.8% 33.4% 338% 32.4% 31.9%
Combined ratio (%)
Company 101.4% . 99.8% 99.1% 101.0% 102.6% 93.9% ‘95.8% 95.6%
Industry - Canada 88.7% 105.8% 110.8% 108.2% 107.0% 107.5% 103.2% 104.0%
Return on equity (%)
Company 12.9% 13.8% 13.3% 10.7% 5.5% 13.4% 16.5% 21.4%
Industry - Canada 11.3% 1.6% 2.1% 6.7% 6.4% 7.3% 13.1% 13.2%
investment yield (%}
Total return yield™* 6.4% 6.1% 7.6% 10.8% 2.5% 7.5% 8.7% 10.4%
Total realized return yield 5.6% 4.9% 6.4% 7.5% 5.6% 8.0% 8.2% 8.3%
Shareholders’ equ"rty per share
At year end $ 12.63 $ 12.56 3 11.03 $ 8.01 $ 7.2 $ 6.96 $ 5.95 S 3.26
Annual increase 0.6% 13.9% 37.7% 12.5% 23% 17.0% 82.5% 71.6%
Earnings per share
Basic $ 1.63 $ 1.63 $ t.21 $ 0.81 $ 0.38 $ 0.85 $ 0.74 S 0.52
Diluied s 1.62 $ 1.61 $ 118 S 080 $ 0.38 $ 0.86 $ 073 S 0.49
Weighted average number of shares outstanding
8asic” 52,307 48,743 37,202 33,985 35,595 35,904 29,956 21,448
Diluted* 52,1mM 49,427 37,856 34,341 35,716 36,443 30,486 22,400

All financial information relating to the insurance industry for the years 1996 to 2002 was obtained from JAQ Actuarial Consulting Services. Inc.,
The Quarterly Report, 2nd Quarter, 2003. Information for the 2003 year was obtained from the preliminary estimates published by the Insurance Burgau of Canada, Perspective, March, 2004,

“In thousands, after giving retroactive effect to the 3 for 1 share subdivision on November 10, 1995 and the two for one share subdivisions on Oclober 10, 1996 and May 8, 1398,

**Total return yield includes the change in unrealized gains/{losses) on the investment portfolio.
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KINGSWAY FINANCIAL SERVICES INC.

Supplemental Financial information

Quarterly Results

(in thousands i coliars, except per share amounts)

2002

o} a3 Q2 Qi Q4 Q3 a2 Q1
GiTss premiums viitien $ 651,583 S 652,751 S 629,928 S 702,560 $ 600,081 $ 605,566 S 502647 S 416397
bzt premiums zarned 617,642 591,807 621,280 551,255 548,701 479,407 398,277 310,389
bzt income 17,892 15,633 27,264 24,394 25,398 21,653 16,222 16,259
Ezmings per share
Besic S 0.32 S 0.28 S 0.56 S 050 $ 0.52 $ 0.44 $ 0.34 S 033
Dited 0.32 0.28 0.55 0.49 0.51 0.44 0.33 0.33
tlerket price per share
Kigh S 15.25 S 19.60 S 18.05 S 16.40 $ 1387 $ 18.00 3 19.45 S 20860
Lew 12.25 11.78 15.41 13.30 9.50 11.75 15.90 16.09
Cicse 14.60 12.70 16.35 15.50 13.69 13.05 17.20 17.25
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KINGSWAY FINANCIAL SERVICES INC.

Canadian & Reinsurance Operations Corporate Directory

Kingsway General Insurance Company David H. Atkins Director John L. McGlynn President & C.E.0.
5310 Explorer Drive, Suite 200 John L. B2amish Director Claude Smith Vice President, C.F.0.
Mississauga, Ontario Canada LAW 5H8 Paul kacono Director & Secretary/Treasurer
W. Shzzm Jackson Director W. Shaun Jackson Vice President
Tel. (305) 629-7888 Willizm G. Star Director Tom Mallozzi Vice President
Fax (905) 628-5008 Ralph Goiberg Vice Presicent
Shelly Gobin Assistant Secretary/Treasurer
York Fire & Casualty Insurance Company Jahn L Baamish Director Stuart Kistruck President & C.E.0.
5310 Explorer Drive, Suite 201 Bema Gluckstein Director W. Shaun Jackson Vice President & C.F.0.
Mississauga, Ontario'Canada L4W 5H8 Pauf 22000 Director Lorraine Skrzydlo - Assistant Vice President
« W. Shzun Jackson Director B & Secretary/Treasurer
Tel. (905) 629-8444 Wiliizrm G. Star Director
Fax (905) 629-5008
Jeveo Insurance Company David H. Atkins Director William G. Star President & C.E.0.
2021 Union Avenue, Suite 1150 Thamezs A. Di Giacomo Director W. Shaun Jackson Executive Vice President & C.F.0.
Montreal, Quebec Canada H3A 259 W. Sham Jackson Director Jacques Muir Vice President & General Manager
Jean Larivigre Director Jean-Guy Leclerc Secretary/Treasurer
Tel. (514) 284-9350 Jacquss Muir Director Ralph Golberg Vice President
Fax (514) 289-9257 J. Brizs Raave Director
Willizzm G, Star Director
Kingsway Reinsurance Corporation Nichaizs Crichiow Director Kirk Cyrus President
Whitepark House, P.0.Box 1274 Kirk Cyrus Director Corporate Managers
Bridgetown, Barbados West Indies W. Stz Jackson Director (Barbados) Ltd. Secretary
Davic ¥+ Director
Tel. (245) 436-9928 Willizw: G. Star Director
Fax (246) 436-9932
Kingsway Reinsurance (Bermuda) Ltd. Charies Collis Director Andre J. Dil Secretary
Victoria Hall, 11 Victoria Street W. Stz Jackson Director Catharine Lymbery Assistant Secretary
P.0. HM 1826 Hamilton, Frederick Lemoine Director
HM HX, Bermuda Heathar Qzkley Director
Willizm G. Star Director
Tel. (441) 298-6640 Lisa Marshal Alt. Director
Fax (441) 2021563 Clayton Price Alt. Director
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KINGSWAY FINANCIAL-SERVICES INC.

U.S. Operations Directory

Kingsway America Inc. W. Shaun Jackson Director Brian Williamson Vice President & C.F.0
150 Northwest Point Bivd., 6th Figor Witfiam G. Star Director * W. Shaun Jackson Vice President & Secretary
Elk Grove Village, linois 60007 Brian Witliamson Director Peggy Kiein Sr. Vige President & C.1.O.
Shelly Gobin Assistant Secretary
Tel. (847) 871-6400 Susan King Assistant Secretary
Fax (847) 264-2700 g
Universal Casualty Company W. Shaun Jackson Director Marshall Romanz President & C.E.O.
150 Northwest Point Blvd., 2nd Floor Marc Romanz Director Mare Roimianz Chief Operating Officer & Secretary
Elk Grove Viliage, Hlinois 60007 Marshall Romanz Director Brian Germain Vice President, Claims
William G. Star Qirector Kent Lang Vice President, Underwriting
Tel. (847) 700-9100 Brian Williamson Director Charles LaMantia Treasurer
Fax (847) 228-8500
American Service Insurance Company, JohnT. Clark Director John T. Clark President & C.E.0.
Inc. W. Shaun Jackson Director Tom Ossmann Sr. Vice President, Secretary & COO0
150 Northwest Point Bivd., 5th Floor William G. Star Director Jim Durkin’ Sr. Vice President, Claims
EIk Grove Village, Hlinois 60007 Brian Williamson Directar Michael W. Suerth Sr. Vice President - Finance,
: B. Howard Zirn Director Treasurer, CFO
Tel. (847) 472-6700 Robert B. Fattore Vice President - Marketing
Fax (847) 4398-4630 Susan B. Hughes Vice President - Underwriting
Kevin W. Schutte Vice President - Human Resources
Robert B. Fattore Vice President - Marketing
Hamilton Risk Management Company Roberto Espin, Jr. Director Roberto Espin, Jr. President
U.S. Security Insurance Gompany W. Shaun Jacksen Director Kevin Walton Executive Vice President & G.M.,
Appco-Finance Corporation Witliam G. Star Director Alperto Naon Vice President, Ins. Operations
3915 Biscayne Boulevard, 4th Floor Kevin Walton Director Rachael Aldulaimi Secretary/Treasurer
Miami, Florida USA 35137 Brian Williamson Director
Tel. (305) 576-1115
Fax (305) 576-4595
Southern United Fire Insurance Company W. Shaun Jackson Director Richard Murray President & C.E.O.
One Southern Way Chartes.D. Jordan Director Richard Bird Vice President, & Secretary
Mobile, Alabama USA 36619 Richard Murray Director Carrie Harper Treasurer
William G. Star Director
Tel. (251) 661-8008 Brian Williamson Director
Fax (251) 662-6562
Lincoln General Insurance Company Gary Bhojwani Director Gary Bhojwani President & C.E.0
3350 Whiteford Road, P.0. Box 3849 W. Shaun Jackson Director Gary J. Omdorff Executive Vice President
York, Pennsylvania USA 17402-0138 Tim Kirk Director & CFO Finance
Gary J. Omndorff Director Tim Kirk Vice President, Claims
Tel. (717) 757-0000 J. Brian Reeve Director Mike Andrzejewski Treasurer
Fax (717} 751-0185 William G. Star Director Scott Butler Vice President - Personal Lines
’ Brian Williamson Director Will Brauer Vice President - Marketing
: : - Shannon Smith Vice President - Underwriting
Jerry Anastasio Vice President - Human Resources
Jay Edenfield Vice President - Surety
American Country Insurance Company  Daniel R, Deleo Director Roger Beck President & CEO
500 W. Madison Street, Suite 600 Roger Beck Director Daniel R. Deleo Executive Vice President
Chicago, illinois USA 60661-4544 W. Shaun Jackson Director Michael Francis Vice President, Claims
William G. Star Director Joan Friedberger Vice President, Underwriting
Tel. (312) 373-4400 Brian Williamson Director Christine Gennett Vice President, Actuary
Fax (312) 312-4434 Ronald Gold Secretary
Paul Romano Vice President & Chief
Financial Officer/Treasurer
Avalon Risk Management, inc. ‘Gary Bhojwani Director Scott Wollney President
150 Northwest Point Bivd., 4th Flgor W. Shaun Jackson Director W. Shaun Jackson Treasurer
Elk Grove Village, linois 60007 William G. Star Director Denise Lee Hruby Secretary

Tel. {888) 700-8100
Fax (847) 700-8119
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KINGSWAY FINANCIAL SERVICES ING.

Glossary of Selected Insurance Terms

A
Agent

An intermediary appointed by an insurer to procure applications for insurance,
receiving a commission from the insurer for policies written.

Assume

To accept from the primary insurer or reinsurer all or a portion
of the liability underwritten by such primary insurer or reinsurer.

Automobile liability insurance

Insurance which is primarily concerned with the losses related to bodily injury

or property damage caused by an automobile and the resulting legal liability
imposed on the insured.

B

Broker

An intermediary who negotiates policies of insurance with insurers on behalf of
the insured, receiving a commission from the insurer for placement and other
services rendered.

C

Casualty insurance

Generally used to describe an area of insurance not particularly or directly
concerned with life insurance or property insurance. It is insurance which is
primarily concerned with the losses caused by injuries to third persons (in other

words, persons other than the policyholder) and the resulting legal liability

imposed on the insured.

Catastrophe reinsurance

A form of excess of loss reinsurance that, subject to a specified limit,
indemnifies the ceding company for the amount of loss in excess of a specified
retention with respect to an accumulation of losses resulting from a covered
catastrophe, such as a hurricane or hailstorm.

Cede; cedant; ceding company

When a party reinsures its lability with another, it “cedes” business and is
referred to as the “‘cedant™ or "'ceding company”.

Claim

The amount demanded under a policy of insurance or reinsurance arising from
the loss refating to an insured event. A claim is also referred to as a loss.

Claim expenses

The expenses of settling claims, including legal and other fees and the portion
of general expenses allocated to claim settiement costs. Claim expenses are
also referred to as loss adjustment expenses.

Claims incurred

The aggregate of ail claims paid during an accounting period adjusted by the
change in claims reserve for that accounting period together with the related
claim expenses. Claims incurred are also referred {o as losses incurred.

Claims ratio

Claims incurred, nat of reinsurance, expressed as a percentage of net
premiums earned. Clzims ratio is also referred to as loss ratio.

Combined ratio

A combination of the claims ratio and the expense ratio, determined in
accordance with either statuiory accounting principles (SAP) or Canadian
GAAP. A combined ratio below 100% generally indicates profitable
underwriting prior to the consideration of investment income. A combined -

‘ratio over 100% genarally indicates unprofitable underwriting prior to the

consideration of invastment income.

E

Expense ratio

The commission expanse, premium tax expense and all general and
administrative expensas incurred in operating the business expressed as a
percentage of net eamad premiums.

G

General liability insurance

Insurance which is primarily concerned with losses caused by negligent
acts and/or omissions resuliing in bodily injury and/or property damage
on the premises of a businass, injury resulting from the use of a product
manufactured or disiributed by a business, or injury occurring in the general
operation of a businzss.

Gross premiums written or gross premiums

The total premiums, nzt of credits and canceltations, on insurance underwritten
by an insurer or reinsurer during a specified period, before deduction of
reinsurance premiums ceded.

IBNR reserve

Reserves for estimated claims that have been incurred by insureds but not
yet reported to the insurer including unknown future developments on claims
which are known to the insurer.

Independent agent or independent producer

A person or firm who produces applications for insurance for an insurer either
directly or through an MGA, but is not legally affiliated to the company or the
MGA, except to the extant of the agency contract.

L

Liability insurance

Insurance which serves to protact the insured from the financial consequences
of damages claimed by third parties.

M
Managing General Agent (MGA)

A person or firm authorized by an insurer to transact insurance business who
may have authority to bind the insurer, issue policies, appoint producers, adjust
claims and provide administrative support for the types of insurance coverage
pursuant to an agency agreemsnt.




KINGSWAY FINANCIAL SERVICES INC.

N

S

Net premiums earned

The net premiums written of an insurer relating to that portion of the term of
its insurance policies which fall within a given period.

Net premiums written or net premiums

The total gross premiums written by an insurer for a given period less
premiums ceded to reinsurers during such period.

Non-standard automobile insurance

Insurance provided to individuals who do not qualify for standard automobile
insurance coverage because of their payment history, driving record, place of
residence, age, vehicle type or other factors, including market conditions.

P

Premium tax

A tax paid by insurance companies to state or provincial governments
calculated as a percentage of gross premiums written.

Producer

A broker or agent from whom an insurer receives applications for insurance
coverages.

Property insurance

Insurance which provides coverage to a person with an insurable interest in
tangible property for that person’s property 10ss, damage or loss of use.

Provisions for unpaid claims

Provisions or reserves established by insurers and reinsurers to reflect the
estimated cost of claims payments and the related expenses that the insurer
or reinsurer will ultimately be required to pay in respect of insurance or
reinsurance it has written. Provisions are established for claims and for claim
adjustment expenses. Provisions for unpaid claims are also referred to as claim
or loss reserves.

R

Reinsurance

An arrangement in which an insurance company, the reinsurer, agrees to
indemnify another insurance or reinsurance company, the ceding company,

against all or a portion of the insurance or reinsurance risk underwritten by the

ceding company under one or more policies.

Risk excess of loss reinsurance

A form of excess of loss reinsurance that covers a loss of the reinsured on a
single “risk’* in excess of its retention level of the type reinsured, rather than
to aggregate losses for all covered risks, as does catastrophe excess of loss
reinsurance. A “‘risk” in this context might mean the insurance coverage on
one building or a group of buildings or the insurance coverage under a single
policy, which the reinsured treats as a single risk.

Statufory accounting principles (SAP)

Recording transactions and preparing financial statements in accordance with
the rules and procedures prescribed nr permitted by insurance regulatory
authorities including the NAIC, which in general reflect a liquidating, rather
than going concern, concept of accounting.

Surplus as regards to policyholders

The amount remaining after all Habilities, including loss reserves, are
subtracted from all admitted assets as determined in accordance with SAP.
Admitted assets of an insurer are assets permitted by a jurisdiction o be
taken into account in determining the insurer's financial condition for statutory
purposes. Surplus as regards to policyholders is also referred to as statutory
surplus.

I

Treaty reinsurance

The reinsurance of a specified type or category of risks defined in a
reinsurance agreement (a “treaty”) between a primary insurer or other
reinsured and a reinsurer. Typically, in treaty reinsurance, the primary insurer
or reinsured is obligated to offer and the reinsurer is obligated to accept a
specified portion of all such type or category of risks originally writien by the
primary insurer or reinsured.

U

Underwriting

The insurer’s or reinsurer’s process of reviewing applications submitted for
insurance coverage, deciding whether to insure all or part of the coverage
requested and determining the applicable premiums.

Underwriting capacity

The maximurn amount that an insurance company can underwrite. The limit
is generally determined by the company's retained earnings and investment
capital. Reinsurance serves to increase a company's underwriting capacity by
reducing its exposure from particular fisks.

Underwriting expenses

The aggregate of policy acquisition costs, including commissions, and
the portion of administrative, general and other expenses attributable to
underwriting operations.

Underwriting profit

The difference between net premiums earned and the sum of claim expenses
and underwriting expenses. Because underwriting profit excludes investment
income, it is a commonly used method of evaluating the performance of a
property and casualty insurance company.

Unearned premiums
The net premiums written of an insurer relating to that portion of the term of its

insurance policies which fall within subsequent periods and which is deferred
to such subsequent periods.
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Directors and Officers

Directors

William G. Star 3
Chairman

F. Michael Walsh'? ¢
Lead Director

David H. Atking '
Senior Advisor,
Lang Michener

John L, Beamish?

President, J. Llewellyn
Beamish & Assaciates Inc.

Thomas A. Di Glacomo 123
President, Tadico Limited

Bernard Gluckstein?
Principal, Gluckstein & Associates

J. Brian Reeve*
Partner, Cassels Brock & Blackwell LLP

1 Member of the Audit Committee

2 Member of the Compensation Committes
3 Member the Investment Committee

4 Member of the Nominating Committee

Officers

William G. Star
President & Chief Executive Officer

W, Shaun Jackson
Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer

Frank Amodeo
Vice President

Siman Argent

Vice President, Risk Management

Dennis Fielding
Vice President

Shelly Gobin
Vice President & Treasurer

Dennis Cloutier
Chief Actuary

Michaet S. Slan
Secretary

Barrister & Solicitor
Fogler, Rubinoff LLP

Shareholider Information

Head Office

5310 Explorer Drive, Suite 200
Mississauga, Ontario L4W 5H8
Tel. (305) 629-7888

Fax {305) 623-5008

Transfer Agent & Registrar
Computershare Trust Company of Canada
100 University Avenue, 8th Floor

Toronto, Ontario M5J 2Y1

Stock Exchange Listing

The Toronto Stock Exchange and
The New York Stock Exchange
Trading Symbo! "KFS'

General Counsel
Fogler, Rubinoff LLP

Auditors
KPMG tLp, Toronto

Appointed Actuary
Claudette Cantin
KPMG LLP, Toronto

Investor Relations

W. Shaun Jackson
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

Internet Address
Website: wyaw kingsway-financial.com
E-mail: info@kingsway-financial.com

Common Shares Outstanding
55,829,794 as at December 31, 2003
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Annual Meeting

The annual meeting of shareholders
wi'H bhe hield on Thursday, May G, 2004
at 4:00 p.m. at the Design Exchange
234 Bay Street, Toronto, Ontario
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